
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Friday, 28 March 2014 
11.30 am 
 
 
 
 
 

Milbank Room 
8th Floor 
Local Government House 
Smith Square 
London 

SW1P 3HZ 
 
 



 

 

Guidance notes for visitors 

Local Government House, Smith Square, London SW1P 3HZ 

 
Welcome! 

Please read these notes for your own safety and that of all visitors, staff and tenants. 

 

Security 

All visitors (who do not already have an LGA ID badge), are requested to report to the Reception 

desk where they will be asked to sign in and will be handed a visitor’s badge to be worn at all times 

whilst in the building. 

 

Fire instructions 

In the event of the fire alarm sounding, vacate the building immediately following the green Fire Exit 

signs. Go straight to the assembly point in Tufton Street via Dean Trench Street (off Smith Square). 

 

DO NOT USE THE LIFTS. 

DO NOT STOP TO COLLECT PERSONAL BELONGINGS. 

DO NOT RE-ENTER BUILDING UNTIL AUTHORISED TO DO SO. 

 

Open Council 

“Open Council”, on the 1st floor of LG House, provides informal  

meeting and business facilities with refreshments, for local authority members/ 

officers who are in London.  

 

Toilets  

Toilets for people with disabilities are situated on the Basement, Ground, 2nd, 4th, 6th and 7th floors. 

Female toilets are situated on the basement, ground, 1st, 3rd, 5th and 7th floors. Male toilets are 

available on the basement, ground, 2nd, 4th, 6th and 8th floors.   

 

Accessibility 

Every effort has been made to make the building as accessible as possible for people with 

disabilities. Induction loop systems have been installed in all the larger meeting rooms and at the 

main reception. There is a parking space for blue badge holders outside the Smith Square entrance 

and two more blue badge holders’ spaces in Dean Stanley Street to the side of the building. There is 

also a wheelchair lift at the main entrance. For further information please contact the Facilities 

Management Helpdesk on 020 7664 3015. 

 

Further help 

Please speak either to staff at the main reception on the ground floor, if you require any further help 

or information. You can find the LGA website at www.local.gov.uk 

 

Please don’t forget to sign out at reception and return your badge when you depart. 

 



 

 

 
 
Finance Panel 
28 March 2014 

 
There will be a meeting of the Finance Panel at: 
 
11.30 am on Friday, 28 March 2014 in Millbank Room, 8th Floor, Local Government House, 
Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ. 
 
A sandwich lunch will be available at 1:30pm.  
 
Attendance Sheet 
Please ensure that you sign the attendance register, which will be available in the meeting room.  It 
is the only record of your presence at the meeting. 
 
Apologies 
Please notify your political group office (see contact telephone numbers below) if you are 
unable to attend this meeting, so that a substitute can be arranged and catering numbers adjusted, 
if necessary.   
 
Labour:  Aicha Less:    020 7664 3263 email: aicha.less@local.gov.uk 
Conservative: Luke Taylor:   020 7664 3264 email: luke.taylor@local.gov.uk    
Liberal Democrat: Group Office: 020 7664 3235 email: libdem@local.gov.uk 
Independent:  Group Office: 020 7664 3224 email: independent.group@local.gov.uk   
 
Location 
A map showing the location of Local Government House is printed on the back cover.   
 
LGA Contact 
Frances Marshall: 0207 664 3220 / Frances.Marshall@local.gov.uk 
 
Guest WiFi in Local Government House  
This is available in Local Government House for visitors. It can be accessed by enabling “Wireless 
Network Connection” on your computer and connecting to LGH-guest, the password is 
Welcome2010LG. 
 
Carers’ Allowance  
As part of the LGA Members’ Allowances Scheme a Carer’s Allowance of up to £6.31 per hour is 
available to cover the cost of dependants (i.e. children, elderly people or people with disabilities) 
incurred as a result of attending this meeting. 
 
 



 

 

 
 
 

 

 

Finance Panel - Membership 2013/2014 

Councillor Authority 

  

Conservative (4)  

Melvyn Caplan [Vice Chair] Westminster City 

Nigel Ashton North Somerset Council 

John Fuller South Norfolk DC 

David Finch Essex CC 

  

Substitutes  

Martin Hill Lincolnshire CC 

Simon Hoare West Oxfordshire DC 

Alan Jarrett Medway Council 

  

Labour (3)  

Sharon Taylor OBE [Chair] Stevenage BC 

Catherine West Islington LB 

Sir Steve Houghton CBE Barnsley MBC 

  

Substitute  

Norman Keats Knowsley MBC 

  

Liberal Democrat (1)  

Barbara Janke [Deputy-Chair] Bristol City Council 

  

Substitute  

Paul Tilsley MBE  Birmingham City Council 

  

Independent (1)  

Councilman Matthew Richardson 

[Deputy-Chair] 

City of London Corporation 

  

Substitute  

Marianne Overton MBE Lincolnshire County Council 

Adrian Naylor                     Bradford DC 

Robert Bucke                    Tendring DC 

 

  



 

 

 
 
 

 

 

Finance Panel - Attendance 2013/2014 

 
 

Councillors 27.09.13 29.11.13 31.01.14 

Conservative Group    

Melvyn Caplan Yes Yes Yes 

Nigel Ashton Yes Yes Yes 

John Fuller Yes Yes Yes 

David Finch Yes Yes Yes 

    

Labour Group    

Sharon Taylor OBE Yes No Yes 

Catherine West Yes No Yes 

Sir Stephen Houghton CBE No No Yes 

    

Lib Dem Group    

Barbara Janke Yes Yes Yes 

    

Independent    

Matthew Richardson No Yes Yes 

    

Substitutes    

Marianne Overton MBE Yes   

Norman Keates Yes Yes  

Alan Jarrett Yes  Yes 

 



 

 



 

 

 

Agenda 
 

Finance Panel 
 
Friday 28 March 2014 
 
11.30 am 
 
Milbank Room, 8th Floor, Local Government House, Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ 
 

 

 FOR DISCUSSION  Page  

1.  2014 Budget 1 - 4 

a) Appendix A: LGA On the Day Budget Briefing 
 

5 - 14 

2.  LGA's Proposals on the Future of Devolved Funding 
- Confidential 

15 - 18 

a) Appendix A: Devolved matters: the end of the 
Barnett formula 

 

19 - 38 

3.  LGA Review of Council Financial Strategies 39 - 42 

a) Appendix A: Under pressure: how councils are 
planning for future cuts 

 

43 - 60 

4.  Municipal Bonds Agency 61 - 72 

a) Appendix A: Summary of Business Case Review 73 - 76 

b) Appendix B: Business Case 
 

77 - 176 

5.  Welfare Reform Update 
 

177 - 196 

6.  Single Fraud Investigation Service 
 

197 - 224 

 FOR INFORMATION  Page  

    

7.  Funding of the Flooding Relief Effort 225 - 230 

a) Appendix A: Summary of Flooding Relief Funding 
Announcements 

 

231 - 232 

8.  Business Rates Appeal Consultation 233 - 236 

a) Appendix A: LGA Response: Checking and 
Challenging your Rateable Value Consultation 

 

237 - 242 

9.  Note of the last meeting – Confidential  
 
Date and Time of next meeting: Friday 30 May 2014, 
11.30am, Local Government House, London  

243 - 251 



 

 

  
 

  

 



 
 

Finance Panel  

28 March 2014  

 

 

 

     

The Budget 2014 
 
 
Purpose of report 
 
A copy of the LGA’s on the day Budget briefing is attached at Appendix A. It assesses the 
implications of the Budget announcements for local government, leading on the housing 
measures. 
 
Summary 
 
The Budget included a number of measures that councils will find helpful, for example the 
additional money for potholes and to repair damaged flood defences, and the freeze on 
landfill tax in 2015-16. There was further progress on city deals, with the announcement of 
the Greater Cambridge City Deal and a change to the VAT treatment of combined 
authorities.  It did not however change the overall financial position of councils, the risk to 
public services in the next few years, or the ability of councils to make major inroads to the 
housing shortage.  
 

 
Recommendation 
 
Members are invited to discuss the LGA’s response.  
 
Action 
 
Officers to act on any comments members have. 
 

 
 
 
Contact officer:  
 

Phillip Mind   

Position:  Senior Adviser 
 

Phone no:  0207 664 3243 
 

E-mail:  Philip.mind@local.gov.uk 

Agenda Item 1

Page 1



 
 

Finance Panel  

28 March 2014  

 

 

 

     

The Budget 2014 
 

 
Background  

 
1. The 2014 Budget was announced on 19 March 2014. The Chancellor called it ‘a budget 
for makers, doers and savers’ and the main announcements, and much of the media 
coverage, dealt with tax changes largely aimed to benefit pensioners and savers.   
 

2. The LGA’s briefing was issued the same day and is attached at Appendix A. It deals 
with the main announcements affecting local authorities under the following categories;   

 
Housing     Youth employment 
Transport    Flooding 
Landfill tax   Welfare reform 
Pensions    Childcare and the pupil premium 
Troubled families  Planning 
City deals    VAT refunds for combined authorities 
Wales devolution  Gambling 
Social care 

 
3. The Government has taken some measures, particularly on housing and youth 
employment that have been welcomed by the LGA although the briefing calls for 
Government to go further.  Some additional money for pot holes and to repair damaged 
flood defences and the freeze on landfill tax in 2015-16. There was further progress on 
City Deals, with the announcement of the Greater Cambridge City Deal and a change to 
the VAT treatment of combined authorities. 

 
4. As in the Autumn Statement, there were no further cuts announced for local government, 
but this is against the background of figures in June’s Spending Round that confirm two 
further hard years of funding cuts for Councils.  Provisional figures for 2016/17 and 
2017/18 indicate further funding reductions but Councils are no worse off after the Budget 
than they were after the Autumn Statement.  

 
5. The Government has announced the welfare benefit cap initially at £119 billion in 
2015/16 and a conversation with Government will be needed on how this will apply to 
benefits currently administered by local authorities. 
 

6. Among the announcements that were not included in the briefing as not being of 
immediate significance to member authorities in general were:  
 

6.1. The extension of business rates discounts in Enterprise Zones for a further three 
years.  
 

6.2. The development of proposals for housing developments in Barking Riverside and 
Brent Cross, and a £150 million estate regeneration fund which makes special 
mention of estates in Barnet, Southwark and Tower Hamlets.  The Government has 
been working with the GLA on these schemes.  

Agenda Item 1

Page 2



 
 

Finance Panel  

28 March 2014  

 

 

 

     

6.3. An announcement that the Treasury will run a series of public sector reform seminars 
on unemployment, vulnerable children, mental health and criminal justice to which 
Councils will be invited.  

Agenda Item 1

Page 3



Page 4



 

B
ri

e
fi

n
g

 
L

o
c
a
l 
G

o
v
e

rn
m

e
n

t 
H

o
u

s
e

, 
S

m
it
h

 S
q
u

a
re

, 
L

o
n
d

o
n

 S
W

1
P

 3
H

Z
 

D
X

 1
1
9

4
5
0

 C
le

rk
e
n

w
e

ll 
3

  
E

m
a

il 
in

fo
@

lo
c
a
l.
g
o
v
.u

k
 

T
e

l 
0

2
0

 7
6
6

4
 3

0
0

0
  
F

a
x
 0

2
0

 7
6
6

4
 3

0
3
0

 

In
fo

rm
a
ti

o
n

 c
e

n
tr

e
 0

2
0
 7

6
6
4

 3
1

3
1

 w
w

w
.l

o
c

a
l.

g
o

v
.u

k
 

 

 

In today’s Budget the Chancellor set out the position on the economy and 
public finances and measures to encourage growth and promote fairness. 
 
The full set of documents is available on the Treasury website  
 
Key Messages 
 

· The national housing shortage and lack of jobs for young people are two of 
the most pressing issues facing the country today. The Chancellor is right to 
treat these issues in this year’s Budget and extra support announced for home 
buyers and small builders along with additional funding for apprenticeships are 
positive steps.  
 

· More urgency is needed however if the Government is going to fully unlock 
the potential of councils to support the building of affordable housing, deliver 
economic growth and tackle youth unemployment. This means further lifting 
the Housing Borrowing Cap, providing comprehensive funding for repairing 
potholes and devolving tax and spending powers to English local authorities, 
in the same way that these powers are being given to Wales and Scotland. 

 

· While this Budget has not brought further cuts to local government, it does not 
change the fact that the next two years will be the toughest yet for people who 
use and rely upon the services which councils provide. Amongst other issues, 
more funding is needed to improve our transport network and to remove any 
uncertainty around the support for the much needed reforms to the adult 
social care system.  
 

· By next year, central government funding for councils will have been cut by 40 
per cent during this parliament. As the economy improves people will 
increasingly start to question why councils are having to reduce and withdraw 
from providing the services that underpin people’s daily lives. 

 

· If we are to avoid an upturn in the economy coinciding with a decline in public 
services, we need nothing less than a fundamental reform of the way the 
public sector works and an honest reappraisal of how public services are 
provided and paid for in post-austerity Britain. 

 
This briefing covers: 
 

· Housing  

· Youth employment 

· Transport 

· Flooding 

· Landfill tax  

· Welfare reform 

· Pensions  

· Childcare and the pupil premium 

· Troubled families   

· Planning 

Budget 2014 
On the day briefing 
19 March 2014 

 

Agenda Item 1a

Page 5



 

· City deals 

· VAT refunds for combined authorities 

· Wales devolution 

· Gambling  

· Social care 
 

Housing 
 
The Chancellor announced: 
  

· The extension of the Help to Buy equity loan scheme to the end of the 
decade. 

 
LGA view 
 

· The extension of the Help to Buy equity loan scheme will help those that are 
struggling to access mortgage finance. Equally, reforms to the stamp duty 
threshold will reduce buying costs for a proportion of the market. However, we 
are not building enough homes. It is critical that the Government balances 
these measures to stimulate demand with wider efforts to increase the overall 
supply of housing across all tenures. Local authorities are playing their part 
and are saying ‘yes’ to development through the planning system. We now 
need to ensure that sites with planning permission are completed.  
 

· The Autumn Statement provided councils with an additional £300 million 
borrowing capacity to build new homes over 2015-17. However, the 
Government has today missed a chance to go the necessary extra step to lift 
the Treasury borrowing cap and untie the hands of local authorities to build 
new affordable housing which millions on housing waiting lists desperately 
need. The LGA estimates that complete removal of the cap could double the 
amount of new homes councils could provide to families that need them. 

 
The Chancellor announced: 
 

· The establishment of an Urban Development Corporation (UDC) to take 
forward a garden city in Ebbsfleet. 

 
LGA view  
 

· We support the Government in its aim to build more homes. It is crucial that 
large scale development is led by democratically accountable councils, 
working together and with their LEP, not by a separate remote quango.  

 

· Residents will be concerned that such a body, unelected and unaccountable 
to them could have the power to make important local decisions about 
planning development and transport infrastructure. Any financial benefits from 
the additional growth should remain in the local area to benefit local people 
and businesses. The UDC should be accountable to councils, with their 
residents, local enterprise partnerships and other partners, and not to 
Whitehall.  
 

The Chancellor announced that: 
 

· Government will consult on a ‘Right to Build’ which will give custom builders 
the right to a plot from public sector land and a £150 million repayable fund to 
help provide up to 10,000 serviced plots for custom build. 

 
LGA view 

Agenda Item 1a

Page 6



 

 

· Councils strongly support self-build and are helping custom builders to get 
plots and build their own homes. This includes the provision of public sector 
land where it is locally appropriate and planned for development. It is 
completely unclear how the government can promise self-builders a right to a 
plot of land though. We will be seeking further information from government on 
this proposal, which needs further elaboration before it is clear it is workable.  

 
The Chancellor announced: 
 

· A £500 million Builders’ Finance Fund, which will provide loans to developers 
to unlock 15,000 housing units stalled due to difficulty in accessing finance. 

 
LGA view 
 

· This will support the positive efforts of local authorities to unlock stalled sites 
at the local level. Local authorities are key partners in the successful delivery 
of sites and should be engaged fully through this process.  

 
More details on the housing measures can be found in the Budget Report page 
39, paragraphs 1.140 to 1.145 
 
The Chancellor announced that: 
 

· The Government Property Unit’s Strategic Land and Property Review has 
identified scope to generate £5 billion of receipts from government land and 
property.  By the Autumn Statement 2014 the government will look to quantify 
its housing and growth ambitions for this new surplus land programme. 

 
LGA view 
 

· For all authorities, using public land effectively can increase the viability of 
development and attract private investment in housing. Councils are already 
making strides to release land for housing development and it is helpful that 
the government is increasing efforts relating to its own landholdings. Central 
government departments and agencies should work closely with councils to 
pool land assets and where necessary transfer assets to councils in order to 
allow simpler decision making so that development can be brought forward 
more quickly.  

 
More details can be found in the Budget Report page 25, paragraph 1.74 
 
Youth employment 
 

The Chancellor confirmed that: 
 

· The Apprenticeship Grants for Employers (AGE) scheme will be extended, 
providing £85 million in both 2014-15 and 2015-16 for over 100,000 grants to 
employers, and £20 million for post-graduate apprenticeships. 
 

LGA view 
 

· Extending subsidies to create youth apprenticeships is welcome as the 
number of teenagers in apprenticeships has fallen in the last few years. Local 
authorities could add value if involved in targeting subsidies, as they best 
understand the local economy and have statutory duties to support 16 to 18 
year olds into learning. Overall, although we welcome the measure, it will not 
resolve the structural issue facing young people, which require ambitious 

Agenda Item 1a

Page 7



 

reform bringing skills and employment services together around local labour 
markets. Despite small falls in youth unemployment, our new research shows 
2.5 million young people are either not working, want more hours, or are not 
working to their potential, and growth is only likely to reduce this to 2.12 million 
by 2018. 

 
More detail in the Budget Report, page 38, paragraph 1.129 

 
Transport 

The Chancellor announced: 

· £200 million across the UK to set up a pot holes challenge fund. 

LGA view 

· We are pleased that Government has responded to our calls for extra funding 
to tackle pot holes. However we are facing a 42 per cent increase in traffic on 
local roads by 2040 and there is a £10.5 billion backlog of road repairs. The 
situation is getting worse every year because of a £500 million annual funding 
shortfall.  While we welcome more money to tackle potholes, this does not go 
anywhere near far enough. Potholes are a danger to road users in all parts of 
the country.  We therefore urge government to provide a full and 
comprehensive funding package to repair the nation’s roads.   

 

More detail can be found in the Budget Report, page 39, paragraph 1.134 

Flooding  
 
The Chancellor announced: 
 

· £140 million additional funding to repair and restore the condition of flood 
defences that have suffered damage. 
 

LGA view  
 

· The Government has responded to LGA calls for additional investment in 
desperately needed flood defences to help communities recover from damage 
caused by recent floods and coastal storms.  The total costs of repairing the 
damage from floods will take some time to establish and it will be important to 
ensure sufficient funding to cover the final bill of repairs to flood defences, 
roads and infrastructure.   

 
More detail can be found in the Budget Report page 38, paragraph 1.133 
 
Landfill tax 
 
The Chancellor announced that: 

 

· The landfill tax for 2015-16 will be effectively frozen for one year with only an 
increase in inflation from the 2014-15 rate. A consultation will be held later in 
2014 to determine eligibility and the standard and lower rates from 2016-17 
onwards.  
 

LGA view  
 

· The LGA has long called for a freeze in landfill tax and supports the 

Agenda Item 1a

Page 8



 

announcement for 2015. This will save householders nearly £60 million that 
they would have paid had the rate not been frozen, which rewards their and 
councils’ efforts to reduce landfill by nearly 40 per cent over the last five years. 
 

More details can be found in the Budget Report page 78, paragraph 2.170 
 

Welfare reform 
 
The Chancellor announced: 
 

· A welfare spending cap for the years 2015-16 to 2018-19 at the level of the 
Office for Budget Responsibility’s forecast. The level of the cap is set at 
£119.5 billion for 2015-16. A forecast margin of 2 per cent above this level will 
ensure that action is not triggered by small fluctuations in the forecast. The 
cap will apply to all welfare spending in Annually Managed Expenditure, with 
the exception of the state pension and the automatic stabilisers. 

 
LGA view 
 

· The overall cap on welfare spending will inevitably necessitate tighter 

discipline on housing costs. The Government acknowledges that the 

reductions to Housing Benefit that have already been introduced under the 

welfare reforms to date have not driven down rents.  Bringing down spending 

on benefits through a welfare cap will only be truly effective when government 

also frees councils to build more social housing. 
 

· The work that councils and local partners are doing to develop and deliver the 
support offer to Universal Credit claimants will also be vital.  The 
announcement of the additional help with the costs of childcare for Universal 
Credit claimants is very welcome. We would urge the Government to do more 
to allow councils and their partners to develop skills and routes into 
sustainable employment. 

 
More detail can be found in the Budget Report page 26, paragraph 1.76 
 
Pensions 

The Chancellor announced:  

· Greater flexibility for defined contribution pension savers when deciding how 
to take their accumulated pension pot from March 27th. 

· Legislation to simplify or remove the remaining restrictions on taking pensions 
as lump sums rather than annuity by April 2015. 

· A consultation on the impact of these measures on defined benefit schemes 
(with a closing date of 11th June 2014). 

· Legislation to remove the right to transfer benefits from defined benefit public 
service schemes to private sector defined contribution schemes by April 2015. 

LGA view 

· Although at first glance the Local Government Pension Scheme and Teachers 
Pension Scheme appears to be ring fenced from these changes the LGA will 
consider how best to respond to the consultation in order to ensure both 
schemes provide for secure pensions in retirement and  the effective long 
term investment of LGPS assets. 

Agenda Item 1a

Page 9



 

More detail can be found in the Budget Report page 44 paragraphs 1.161 to 163 
and in the document published alongside the Budget entitled Freedom and 
Choice in Pensions. 

 
Childcare and the pupil premium 
 
The Chancellor confirmed that: 
 

· From September 2015 for households where both parents work will benefit 
from an extension to the tax free childcare scheme worth up to £2,000 (up 
from £1,200) for children up to age 12 (brought forward from 2020). 

LGA view 

· Childcare costs can still be far too high for many, with significant numbers of 
parents receiving no support if they choose to return to work.  Any support to 
help make these costs more affordable is welcome.  All eligible parents with 
children under 12 - and disabled children under the age of 17 - will be able to 
receive support within the first year of the scheme’s operation and we 
welcome the extended definition of parents treated as being in work, for 
example, to cover those on unpaid statutory maternity, paternity and adoption 
leave and those in receipt of ‘credits only’ Employment and Support 
Allowance. 

 

The Chancellor announced: 

· £50 million in 2015 to 2016 to extend the pupil premium to disadvantaged 3 
and 4 year olds. 

LGA view 

· We welcome the £50 million in 2015 to 2016 to extend the pupil premium to 
disadvantaged 3 and 4 year olds and we are keen to work with the 
Government who will be consulting shortly on the details of how it will work.   
There is currently funding to help disadvantaged primary and secondary 
school pupils, and extending to the early years should help prepare children 
for school and encourage providers to increase childcare provision.  Councils 
want to make sure that young children get a good early education and secure 
high quality affordable childcare to support mums and dads to return to work.   
  

· We also welcome the additional support for working parents on the lowest 
incomes through Universal Credit. The amount of childcare costs working 
parents on tax credits or Universal Credit are eligible to receive will increase 
from 70 per cent to 85 per cent. 

 

Troubled Families 

The Chancellor announced that: 
 

· Up to 40,000 more families could get support in 2014-15, a year earlier than 
planned, through the Troubled Families programme.  
 

LGA view 
 

· The announcement of an acceleration of the Troubled Families programme is 
a vote of confidence in councils’ abilities to bring together the work of the 

Agenda Item 1a

Page 10



 

whole public sector in their area. Councils have already helped tens of 
thousands of those families who need it most and today’s announcement is a 
welcome endorsement of the community budget approach to public service 
delivery. We will work with Government to ensure bureaucracy is kept to a 
minimum and councils play a leading role in determining how this additional 
support to families is implemented.  

 

More detail can be found in the Budget Report page 25, paragraph 1.75 

Planning 
 
The Chancellor announced that: 
 

· Government will review the General Permitted Development Order.  The 
refreshed approach is based on a three-tier system to decide the appropriate 
level of permission, using permitted development rights for small-scale 
changes, prior approval rights for development requiring consideration of 
specific issues, and planning permission for the largest scale development. 

 
LGA view 
 

· Blanket national policies on permitted development are unnecessary and fail 
to take account of significant local differences and will have unintended 
consequences for communities. Councils already approve the vast majority of 
applications for change of use after ensuring that material planning issues 
(such as the impact on local economies, transport and the character of local 
areas) are considered and dealt with.  

 
More detail can be found in the Budget Report page 85, paragraph 1.147 
 
The Chancellor announced that: 
 

· The Government will launch a new Planning Court on 6 April 2014 to fast-
track disputes, including construction projects. 

 
LGA view 
 

· There are a large number of applications for judicial review of planning 
decisions. The current system is slow in determining such challenges 
which can sometimes drag on for years. This causes delays to crucial 
infrastructure projects, and uncertainty for all parties.  
 

· We therefore support the proposals to speed up the system for dealing 
with such challenges. Government should also proceed with proposals to 
introduce a tighter test to reduce the number of judicial reviews whilst 
protecting the rights of those with a genuine interest and justified case to 
be heard. 

 
More detail can be found in the Budget Report page 86, paragraph 2.251 
 
City Deals  
 
The government announced: 
 

· A commitment of £100 million to a City Deal for Greater Cambridge aimed at 
unlocking £1 billion of additional funding for infrastructure to support local 
growth. Under the terms of the deal a payment by results mechanism called 

Agenda Item 1a

Page 11



 

Gain Share will enable a larger proportion of the proceeds of economic growth 
generated in, and around, the city of Cambridge to be retained by the local 
area. Following the announcement in the Autumn Statement 2013, 
discussions are also continuing about a City Deal for Glasgow, the first 
outside of England. 

 
LGA view 
 

· The announcement of the Greater Cambridge City Deal reflects the 
Government's increasing recognition that local areas are best placed to drive 
economic growth. It is particularly encouraging that the Gain Share element of 
the Cambridge Deal will ensure that a greater the proceeds of growth can be 
retained locally to drive further economic development.   

 

· The Growth Deal negotiations that are about to kick off with every Local 
Enterprise Partnership (LEP) present an opportunity for Government to 
accelerate the pace and scale of devolution.  Whitehall needs to challenge 
itself to go much further to pool and devolve growth-related funding so that 
more investment decisions are taken by local civic and business leaders who 
know best what their economies need to grow.  

 
More detail can be found in the Budget Report page 41, paragraphs 1.150 and 
1.151 
 
VAT refunds for combined authorities 
 
The Chancellor announced: 
 

· Legislation to include combined authorities under Section 33 VAT Refund 
Scheme. 

 
LGA view 
 

· This is a measure which councils and the LGA have been calling for. 
 
More detail can be found in the Budget Report page 79, paragraph 2.179 
 
Wales devolution 
 
The government announced that: 
 

· It will shortly take forward a Wales Bill that will devolve new tax and borrowing 
powers to Wales, enabling the Welsh government to raise more of the money 
it spends and providing it with further tools to support growth in the Welsh 
economy. In advance of implementing these new powers, the government has 
also agreed that the Welsh government can use existing borrowing powers to 
begin investing in improvements to the M4. 

 
LGA view 
 

· In taking steps to devolve more powers to Wales, the Government has clearly 
recognised the economic, administrative and cultural benefits of shifting power 
out of Whitehall and handing it to local communities. This is a policy which 
should not stop at the borders but spread out across the UK. 

· This has huge implications for English communities on the borders of Wales, 
which now face the prospect of an unfair, two-speed tax regime and an uphill 
battle to retain and attract businesses and jobs. English sub-regional 

Agenda Item 1a

Page 12



 

economies are in danger of becoming the poor cousins in the union as 
devolution hands Scotland and Wales an unfair competitive advantage. 

· Many places in England have distinct economic and cultural identities as 
strong as those in Wales and a shift in power away from Whitehall would help 
them deliver more jobs, faster economic growth and better public services 

 
More detail can be found in the Budget Report page 40, paragraph 1.149 
 
Gambling 
 
The Chancellor announced: 
 

· A new higher rate at 25 per cent for fixed odds betting terminals to bring their 
duty into line with other gaming machines on the High Street.   

 
LGA view 
 

· Current levels of Fixed Odds Betting Terminals harm our communities and 
exploit those who can ill-afford to lose thousands of pounds on these 
machines. The betting industry receives more than £1, 340 million at a time 
when they are already taxed at 20 per cent. An increase in duty to 25 per cent 
is therefore little incentive to reduce numbers of these machines or more 
effectively help those who are at risk of becoming addicted. However, 
regardless of the success of the measure, the money raised by the Treasury 
through this tax should be given to local councils to fund the public services 
that support the vulnerable members of society. 

 

· A more effective approach would be to reduce the stakes and prizes in line 
with those offered by every other type of gambling machine, but even this 
approach fails to tackle the major problem associated with betting shops – the 
clustering of shops which drains the diversity and life from our high streets. 
Government should grant councils powers to manage this clustering, in line 
with proposals put forward by the LGA and key betting shop chains.   

 
More detail can be found in the Budget Report page 50, paragraph 1.190 
 
Social care 
 
The Chancellor did not make any announcements on the costs of the Care Bill. 

 
LGA view 
 

· We are disappointed that there is no mention of funding for adult social care 
and support, despite growing concerns around the adequacy of funding for the 
Care Bill reforms and the system itself.  This point came up time and again 
from across the sector during the Care Bill’s passage through Parliament and 
we are concerned that inadequate funding will jeopardise the Bill’s good 
intentions.  We broadly support the reforms to care and support but they need 
to be fully costed and funded as new burdens. This is particularly important 
given the links between social care and the future sustainability of local 
government funding as a whole. 

 
Further Information: for further information on this briefing paper please contact 
Lee Bruce, Public Affairs and Campaigns Adviser, on either 020 7664 3097 or 
lee.bruce@local.gov.uk  

Agenda Item 1a

Page 13



Page 14



Agenda Item 2

Page 15

Document is Restricted



Agenda Item 2

Page 18



Agenda Item 2a

Page 19

Document is Restricted



Agenda Item 2a

Page 38



                  
 

Finance Panel  

28 March 2014  

 
 

     

LGA Review of Council Financial Strategies 

 

Purpose of report 

 

For approval. 

 

Summary 

 

In late 2013, the LGA undertook a call for evidence from council chief executives on their 
councils’ plans to tackle financial challenges in 2015-16 and their plans for using reserves.    
 
The report called Under pressure: how councils are planning for future cuts (attached at 
Appendix A) is presented to Finance Panel for approval. It summarises the results of the 
analysis of responses to the call for evidence, providing an overview of the actions councils 
are considering to meet the funding challenge. It finds that about 60 per cent of respondents 
considering reducing at least some service provision, implying that the scope for efficiency 
savings is diminishing.  

  

 

Recommendation 

 

The Finance Panel is asked to discuss the report and approve its publication.  

 

Action 

 

LGA Officers to proceed as directed. 

 

 

Contact officer:   Alan Finch 

Position: Interim Head of Programmes – Local Government Finance 

Phone no: 020 7664 3085 

E-mail: alan.finch@local.gov.uk    

 

Agenda Item 3

Page 39



                  
 

Finance Panel  

28 March 2014  

 
 

     

LGA Review of Council Financial Strategies 

Our call for evidence 
 
1. In November 2013, the LGA undertook a call for evidence, asking councils to provide 
details on their provisional financial strategy to tackle the budget gap in 2015/16. 73 
responses were received, covering about 21 per cent of all English councils. 
 

2. The replies took the form of unstructured responses to two general questions about: 

 
2.1. The councils’ financial strategy towards the 2015/16 challenge, including the 

perceived scope for tackling it through efficiency savings. 
 

2.2. The councils’ plans for using their revenue reserves to manage the reductions in 
their funding. 
 

3. Responses were provided in confidence. 
 

4. The ‘Under pressure’ report summarises our analysis of the responses received, 
providing a short discussion of the most often-mentioned approaches and considerations. 

 
Results of the analysis 
 
5. The work was undertaken partly to test the synopsis that for many authorities, 2015/16 
would be ‘the crunch year’. Overall, the content of the responses implied that about 60 
per cent of all respondents were considering a reduction in services in 2015/16  as part of 
their budget strategy, implying that they believed efficiency savings alone will not be 
enough to meet the challenge in that year. 
 

6. However, 19 per cent of all respondents had a more optimistic outlook, stating that they 
believed further efficiencies would be sufficient to balance the budget in 2015/16. This 
means that while 2015/16 may be the crunch year for some, the picture is varied, and the 
timing of the greatest challenges is different for different authorities. 

 
7. Outside of the main argument about efficiency savings and service cuts, councils also set 
out a number of approaches they are looking at to help meet the gap. The most 
mentioned approaches were: 

 
7.1. Commercialisation of services, such as increasing income from fees and charges 

or investing in income-generating assets; 
 

7.2. Using reserves to delay the need to reduce the budgets; and 
 
7.3. Increasing the local tax base and new homes bonus receipts. 
 

8. Authorities were also asked to indicate how they were planning to use their reserves in 
2015/16. The most mentioned planned uses of reserves were: 

Agenda Item 3

Page 40



                  
 

Finance Panel  

28 March 2014  

 
 

     

 
8.1. To smooth the impact of cuts (48%); 
8.2. To guard against general and specific risks (41%); and 
8.3. To be invested in invest-to-save and invest-to-earn projects (38%).  

 
9. The revealing finding here is that around half of all authorities are actively managing their 
budgets so as to spread the impact of cuts or savings by the use of reserves. This is 
good budget management in the circumstances. 

 
10. Overall, the analysis indicates that although 2015/16 could be ‘crunch year’ for many 
authorities, for local government as a whole, the picture is more nuanced and it makes 
more sense to think of a slowly developing situation with a long critical period, perhaps 
over lasting over several years.  

 
Nature of the survey and findings 

 
11. A 21 per cent return rate is not sufficient for the results to be statistically representative of 
the whole sector. However, the indications these results provide are robust. 
 

12. The nature of the call for evidence meant that councils were asked for their thoughts in a 
loose form as opposed to a ‘tickbox’-style questionnaire. Our analysis logged the various 
themes mentioned in responses in an attempt to classify the responses in a more 
structured way.  As a result, only those items that were explicitly mentioned by 
respondents formed part of the analysis.  

 
13. The timing of the survey, during the budget setting process for 2014/15, also meant that 
authorities will have been focused primarily on the year ahead. Authorities will be giving 
more consideration to their budgets for 2015/16 in the light of new information in the local 
government settlement and other developments and some may change their plans.  

 
14. Regardless of this, the results are a revealing snapshot of the main strands of financial 
strategies that councils considered as at late last year. They help refresh and revalidate 
our case, as well as provide us with an evidence base on what councils are planning that 
we can refer to at a later time. 

 
Stakeholder consultation 
 

15. The report has been sent to the LGA Chief Executive and political group offices for 
comment before being laid in front of the Panel.  
 

Next steps  
 
16. This report would be published in early April 2014, before the purdah period for the May 
Council elections starts. At the same time, this timing closely matches the start of a new 
financial year in order to coincide with the start of a new financial year. 

 
17. A further update could be brought to Finance Panel to review the reception of our 
messages following publication of the report. 

Agenda Item 3

Page 41



Page 42



_________________________________________ 

March 2014 
 

Under pressure: how councils 
are planning for future cuts 

 

Agenda Item 3a

Page 43



_________________________________________ 

 

 

Page 2 of 17 

 

Contents 

 

 

1. Introduction ..................................................................................................... 3 

 

2. The scale of the challenge .............................................................................. 3 

 

3. The end of efficiencies .................................................................................... 6 

 

4. Other remedies ............................................................................................... 9 

 

5. Use of reserves ............................................................................................. 13 

 

6. Conclusions .................................................................................................. 16 

 

 
  

Agenda Item 3a

Page 44



_________________________________________ 

 

 

Page 3 of 17 

1. Introduction 

Councils are currently half way through a scheduled 40 per cent cut in funding from central government. 

Having delivered £10 billion of savings in the three years from 2011/12, local authorities have to find the 

same savings again in the next two years. As a result of these cuts councils in many areas will not have 

enough money to meet all their statutory responsibilities. 

 

These cuts, combined with the growing demand for adult social services being caused by our ageing 

population, mean that the amount of money available to deliver some of the most popular local services 

is predicted to shrink by 66 per cent by the end of the decade. This is likely to mean much less money to 

spend on things like filling potholes, providing youth services and funding leisure facilities like pools, 

gyms and parks. It will also mean less money to spend on libraries and museums, and a significant 

reduction in the help that councils can provide to local businesses. 

Councils across England are preparing strategies for continuing to tackle the challenge. Local 

circumstances dictate the options available for quick cost savings or income generation, and the nature 

of difficult decisions that need to be made to achieve a sustainable financial position. 

We asked councils to share with us some details about their financial planning for the rest of the 

Parliament. 73 councils, or about 20 per cent of the English authorities in total, responded to our call for 

evidence on their financial situation in late 2013. This level of response means that the results should 

strictly be taken as a snapshot of the views of this particular group of respondents. However, this was a 

large number of responses for such a qualitative analysis and it therefore indicates well the range of 

pressures being felt and strategies being developed by the sector to deal with the financial situation in 

councils.   

The responses were unstructured and free-form answers to general questions about the financial 

strategy in 2015/16 and planned use of reserves. As a result, we were only able to take into account 

those approaches mentioned in the responses. The percentages of councils considering one approach 

or another might be higher than reported; however, explicit mentions in freeform answers mean that 

councils regard these elements as central to their.financial stability. It is also worth bearing in mind that 

the responses were submitted before the local government finance settlement was announced in late 

December 2013 and that may have changed the councils’ approach.Section 3 discusses the overall 

thoughts of councils on the question over whether reduction in services provided will be needed to deal 

with the challenge in 2015/16. 

Section 4 deals with other elements of the councils’ financial strategies. 

Section 5 looks at council plans on using reserves in more detail. 

Overall, the results provide a clear snapshot of the financial health of the local government sector. The 

variety of pressures felt and strategies being developed shows that while the situation each council faces 

is unique there is a pattern and emerging evidence of the most preferred solutions. 

 

2. The scale of the challenge 

Agenda Item 3a

Page 45



_________________________________________ 

 

 

Page 4 of 17 

2015/16 is shaping up to be a year where many councils will have to make very difficult choices about 

which services to prioritise.  Some services may be cut altogether.  There is no single reason why 

2015/16 should be such a difficult year (although nationally the cut in government support to local 

authorities will be the largest since 2012/13), but rather the squeeze is a result of an accumulation of 

reductions in funding, expenditure pressures which have been building to over a number of years, and a 

series of other risks.  Figure 1 below illustrates a selection of contributing factors under these three 

headings. 

Figure 1. Pressures facing local government 

 

 

The picture is not universal across all councils, and the impact on each council will vary depending on 

how exposed it is to each of these factors.  Some may not feel the crunch until later. However, our 

analysis shows that 2015/16 is the year in which 60 per cent of councils say they are considering some 

degree of reduction in services provided to help meet the budget gap.. It is also important to note that the 

Local 

government 

OTHER PRESSURES: business rate appeals; welfare reform, including 

the benefit cap, social sector size criteria and Universal Credit; potential 

changes to interest rates  

Agenda Item 3a

Page 46



_________________________________________ 

 

 

Page 5 of 17 

funding allocations for 2015/16 have only been illustrative, which means that they are subject to change 

and only adds to the uncertainty. 

Overall, the financial strategies in response to these pressures can be split into three distinct but closely 

interrelated aspects.  

• Councils have to realistically assess their ability to provide the same services as before by finding 

all required savings through becoming more efficient. If this is no longer viable, councils have to 

start considering cutting services altogether. 

• Councils also have to consider other potential ways to alleviate the pain, from income generation 

to changes in local taxation.  

• The financial strategy will involve considering the utilisation of reserves in various ways – from 

using them to temporarily postpone some financial pressures arising as a result of cuts to 

funding, to investing in schemes that allow services to be delivered cheaper. The use of reserves 

always has to be considered in the context of risks facing the authority. 

The review of council responses looked to cover each of these three aspects, and they are addressed in 

turn in this report. 

  

Agenda Item 3a

Page 47



_________________________________________ 

 

 

Page 6 of 17 

3. The end of efficiencies 

One main aspect of council financial strategies is whether they are able to continue to absorb reductions 

in funding, and all the other pressures, through increasingly efficient ways of working. True efficiency 

means configuring services so that they provide the same outcomes at a reduced cost.  

For example, at least 95 per cent of all English councils have now engaged in some form of shared 

service delivery1, with most of the focus on back office functions – although initiatives to share front lines 

services are popular as well. Shared service delivery spans across more than one sector, as councils 

seek to share buildings with other public service providers, such as the police. 

So far, these initiatives have been largely successful. This is being acknowledged by local residents as 

well – a recent poll found that 6 out of 10 residents felt local services were either improved or 

maintained2.  However, the majority of respondent councils said that at least to some extent continued 

efficiency savings will not be enough to tackle the challenge that 2015/16 represents. 

Our work shows that only one in five councils have made the decision (and believe they have the 

capacity) to avoid service cuts through continued efficiencies in 2015/16. Almost a third of councils 

mentioned that they believe the efficiency well has dried up and that service cuts are the only viable 

strategy, while another third believes that while the scope for further efficiency is still available, it is not 

enough to avoid any consideration of reducing the services offered to local residents. 

As figure 2 shows, 21 per cent of councils are still considering their broad approach for 2015/16. Our 

analysis of council responses shows that 36 per cent of councils still have at least some unclear aspects 

about their strategy. In many cases this will be a result of difficulties assessing the risks councils will 

encounter in 2015/16. 

In total, 60 per cent of authorities say that they will not be able to cover their budget gap with future 

efficiencies alone in 2015/16, while for a further 21 per cent this remains a possibility. 

Figure 2. The scope for using efficiencies to tackle the 2015/16 challenge 

 

                                        
1
 For more details, please see the LGA shared services map  

2
 BBC. ‘Public service cuts: did we notice?’ http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-24454006  

No scope for 

efficiencies, 

30%

Efficiencies 

are available 

but not 

enough, 30%

Efficiencies 

enough to 

deal with the 

challenge, 

19%

Strategy 

unclear, 21%

Agenda Item 3a

Page 48



_________________________________________ 

 

 

Page 7 of 17 

However, even where a decision is made to reduce service provision, it is not a guaranteed way to 

achieve savings. For example, there has been an increasing number of applications for judicial reviews 

against councils reducing provision of services such as libraries3. This means that for some councils that 

have to resort to scaling back their offer there is a chance even these painful might not stop them from 

going overboard. 

 

                                        
3
 See, for example, this article from the Local Government Lawyer  

Here is a selection of councils’ comments on the potential for further efficiencies: 

 

“Our current budget models (even after allowing for some integration transformation funding from 

health) suggests that we will have a budget gap of £35m in 2015/16 rising to £80m to £90m by 

2018/19, if no action is taken. The reality is that we will be decommissioning or spending less on 

many services in the future and because we are working on an already significantly reduced budget 

then there will be an impact on the front-line.” 

-------- 

 

“We haven't yet identified anything that we need to switch off entirely but we don't expect it to be long 

before we do.” 

 

------- 

 

“We are already part way through a thorough review of all services which challenges whether our 

service standards can be reduced or non-statutory items ceased completely as it is very clear to us 

that, given the efficiencies we have already achieved in recent years, there will inevitably be 

significant service cuts required.” 

 

----------- 

 

“In this revenue budget process we have sought to make further reductions in spending without 

stopping any services.  Some front line services will be altered or reduced, but there is an inevitable 

consequence that we will be asking already hard pressed staff to do even more to seek to deliver the 

quality of services that we think our public deserve.” 

 

------------ 

 

“We have delivered all savings <...> except for delivering some shared service savings in conjunction 

with our two partner councils.  We have received a CLG cash transformation award and will be putting 

in place a transformation programme to deliver these savings.  <7> No services have to be switched 

off.” 

 

Agenda Item 3a

Page 49



_________________________________________ 

 

 

Page 8 of 17 

  

Agenda Item 3a

Page 50



_________________________________________ 

 

 

Page 9 of 17 

4. Other options 

Alongside the core argument about efficiencies or cuts in frontline service provision, councils are 

considering a range of other strategic directions, ranging from more commercial to more traditional 

options. Figure 3 identifies the most common strategies and the rest of this section will address the top 

five in turn. 

It is worth noting that all councils will have gone through, or are going through, a process of evaluating 

each of these options and the effectiveness they could bring in their local areas. Just because a strategy 

is less common does not mean that it was not considered on its own merits by respondent councils. Not 

all approaches will be suitable to every area and authorities themselves, in consultation with their 

residents, are in the best position to evaluate local factors. Authorities are not limited to using one 

approach, and many are adopting a combination of these. 

Figure 3. The most common council strategies to tackle the 2015/16 challenge 

 

  

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50%

Maximising the income from investment, fees

and charges

Using reserves to support the revenue budget

Increasing the local tax base and new homes

bonus receipts

Increasing council tax

Reviewing how assets can be used more

effectively

Changes to council tax support

Agenda Item 3a

Page 51



_________________________________________ 

 

 

Page 10 of 17 

 

For many councils, raising more income seems to be a preferred strategy. Some are looking for ways to 

make sure their investments generate the maximum possible income, while others are looking at their 

fee charging structure to ensure that, while remaining equitable, service charges move closer to 

recovering the full costs of providing those services. Local authorities cannot charge users of many core 

services, such as street lighting. However, authorities can charge up to the full cost of provision of 

discretionary services, such as leisure centres. When it comes to such non-mandatory services, 

increased charges might be the only option available to make sure they can continue to be provided. 

 

The issue of reserves will be covered in this report slightly later, but in summary, a majority of councils is 

planning to rely on the use of reserves either to delay the impact of cuts or to buy themselves time to see 

financial benefits of implementing money-saving schemes. For more than a third of councils, 2015/16 is 

definitely the time this will happen. Local authorities recognise that reliance on reserves is not a 

sustainable strategy – reserves are one-off pots of money which, when used once, are gone forever. 

One per cent of respondent councils does not have any reserves available to be used in this way. In 

addition, authorities need to retain appropriate levels of reserves to deal with emergencies, such as 

flooding4. 

 

Local authorities are looking at ways to increase their local tax base, mainly through encouraging more 

house building. This has a double financial effect of providing council tax revenue from additional 

occupied homes and new homes bonus funding from the government. Similarly, encouraging the growth 

of the local economy can potentially lead to more locally retained business rate income, and reduced 

welfare costs. However, our recent research5 has shown that many authorities fear that the risks arising 

from business rates appeals may outweigh any potential reward from retained growth and published 

business rate income forecasts for 2014/15 suggest there are indeed a number of authorities in this 

position. 

However, aspects of economic and housing growth are outside of local authority control, which makes 

relying on these strategies to balance the budget difficult. Indeed, many councils have chosen to use 

                                        
4
 For an example of this happening in a council, please see this story about flooding in Canterbury. 

5
 See ‘The story so far: business rate retention’ 

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

1. Maximising income from investment, fees and charges (39%)

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

2. Using reserves to support the revenue budget (37%)

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

3. Increasing the local tax base and new homes bonus funding (18%)

Agenda Item 3a

Page 52



_________________________________________ 

 

 

Page 11 of 17 

new homes bonus to fund specific projects rather than as part of their recurring annual budgets because 

of the uncertainty of how this income stream will develop in the future. 

 

One of the continued suggestions from central to local government has been to review the assets owned 

by councils with a view of developing strategies to maximise income or minimise costs. For example, the 

government announced that, subject to conditions and limits, receipts of sales of capital assets will be 

allowed to be used to fund one-off costs of service transformation.  

Councils have been reviewing their use of assets as a result to see if any financial gains can be reaped. 

However, only 11 per cent of our respondents have found that this is a strategy worth pursuing – it may 

be that the benefits in many cases are marginal. 

 

Seen by many councils as a last resort, increasing council tax is an option that is always available for 

local authorities, although this is subject to a referendum above a limit set by the government. The scope 

for using council tax increases has also been limited by central government’s council tax freeze policy of 

recent years. For 2014/15, the referendum limit was set at 2 per cent, which was a very late 

announcement following hints of a potential departure from the 2 per cent limit the government indicated 

in June 2013. This means that even if councils decide to increase council tax, the limits mean that it is 

not enough to offset the cuts in full or even – in many cases – significantly. 

Overall, this is a small percentage in comparison to the indication that about a third of councils have 

decided to opt for an increase in council tax in 2014/15.6 This might be because of the timing of the 

survey which meant that it was possible many councils had not yet begun discussions about council tax 

in 2015/16.  

Given the freeform style of the survey, another explanation would be that councils may have thought that 

the impact of an increase in council tax on their total funding would be too small to make much of a 

difference, especially given the referendum limits. 

 

 

                                        
6
 Official statistics not available yet. The indication is based on a survey by the Local Government Chronicle. Link 

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

4. Reviewing how the assets can be used more effectively (11%)

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

5. Increasing council tax (11%)

Agenda Item 3a

Page 53



_________________________________________ 

 

 

Page 12 of 17 

 

  

Here is a selection of councils’ comments on the top three strategies: 

 

Maximising income from investment, fees and charges 

 

“We have focused on increasing income in a number of services especially our garden waste 

collection and leisure centres.  We have focused on the non-statutory services but not areas such as 

car parking, where we offer the first hour free and then only charge a minimal sum to ensure the 

maintenance of the car park, as we recognise the part they play in maintaining the viability of our 

market towns.” 

-------- 

 

“We are for example actively pursuing options to develop business units to help with economic growth 

and also assist our own income.” 

 

Using reserves to support the revenue budget 

 

“We will very likely need at least £5m to balance the 2015/16 revenue budget although this is not 

formally in our plans yet. So, far from sitting on reserves unnecessarily, we have been prudent in 

planning for a highly uncertain future, in no small part caused by the volatility of the local government 

settlement from government. This is just as well, since we are highly likely to need to use these in 

2015/16 and we would have been dangerously close (or below) our auditor’s recommended level of 

reserves. 

 

----------- 

 

“Reserves will be used to balance the budget in 2015/16, and make a further contribution to the 

budget in 2016/17, by which time we will be down to a minimum working reserves balance.” 

 

Increasing the local tax base and new homes bonus 

 

“We have also commissioned a review of our empty properties within the District to maximise the New 

Homes Bonus that we receive.” 

 

---------- 

 

“We are working with the Local Enterprise Partnership to enable growth in local businesses, over and 

above the assumptions used in the strategy, and thereby increase yield from retained business rates 

and the pool.” 

 

Agenda Item 3a

Page 54



_________________________________________ 

 

 

Page 13 of 17 

5. Use of reserves 

In recent times, the government has increasingly paid attention to the levels of financial reserves local 

authorities hold, calling them ‘the Fort Knox’7 and ‘secret stockpiles’8 in order to push councils to release 

the cash that they have accumulated. The truth is that councils report the level of reserves they hold 

each year in their financial accounts and statistical reports, both of which are available for public to 

access whenever they would like to. Councils generally hold reserves for a number of reasons: 

- To use them at a later date to support investment projects, including those designed to save 

money; 

- To temporarily roll over unused portions of grants that can legally be used at a later date; 

- To insure themselves against major unexpected events (such as flooding); and 

- To guard against general risk (i.e. saving up for unexpected events). This can then also be used 

to smooth the impact of cuts. 

 

In our survey, we asked councils about their plans for the reserves they hold. The vast majority of 

respondent councils is planning to use reserves over the next two years, and figure 4 illustrates the 

relative popularity of various reserves strategies. The overall conclusion is that prevailing reserves 

strategies are to buy time in implementing efficiency savings, to guard against various risks and to invest 

in projects intended to save or earn money.   

The ‘other’ category encompasses those councils which have said that they are not planning to use any 

reserves in the next two years – this shows that for most local authorities, ‘stockpiling’ reserves was 

never the reality, or even an option. 

As with the previous analysis, it is worth noting that all councils will have gone through, or are going 

through, a process of evaluating each of these options and the effectiveness they could bring in their 

local areas. Just because a reserves strategy is less ‘popular’ does not mean that it was not considered 

on its own merits by respondent councils. Any council may have chosen a combination of these options. 

Figure 4. The most prevalent uses of reserves by councils to tackle the 2015/16 challenge 

 

The rest of this section will briefly address the top three responses. 

                                        
7
 ‘Eric Pickles attacks councils for “stashing away billions”’ , Telegraph  

8
 ‘Councils amassing secret stockpiles of taxpayer money says Local Government Secretary’ , DCLG 

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60%

Smoothing the impact of cuts

Guarding against general or specific risk

Invest to save/earn

Specific and general capital projects

Specific revenue projects

Other

Agenda Item 3a

Page 55



_________________________________________ 

 

 

Page 14 of 17 

 

Almost half of all respondent local authorities felt that the next two years, 2015/16 in particular, will see 

the start of reliance on reserves to buy councils time. Local authorities might believe that the pain of the 

cuts should be spread over a number years; others might think that the ambitious savings plans will need 

more time to provide all the expected results. This is especially the case with preventative and early 

intervention strategies, which are costly to start undertaking, and the savings from reduced reliance on 

care services are unlocked only several years later. 

Reserves accumulated over the past several years, either through deliberate strategy or early delivery of 

ambitious efficiency savings, are likely to be used in 2015/16. Local government has fixed the roof while 

the sun was shining and this will help buy it time to deal with this unprecedented challenge. 

 

Regardless of the financial challenges, more than two out of every five councils explicitly mention that 

part of their reserves will continue to be held to guard against general or specific risks. The latter include 

such potential costs as equal pay claims, business rate appeals (the success of which can negatively 

impact councils from April 2013) and the impact of social care reforms. Another example could be the 

prolonged uncertainty over the council tax referendum threshold which affected financial planning of 

many councils adversely. 

Councils also tend to insure against any other unexpected risks through a small general risk reserve – 

this feature of council finance is expected to continue unchanged. Use of reserves to guard against 

uncertainty and risk is also supported by the independent Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 

Accounting9. 

 

In their responses, more than a third of councils mentioned that part of their reserves will be used to fund 

projects that will either save them money through smarter service delivery or earn them money through 

income arising from investment. The range of initiatives is very wide, ranging from upgrading the IT 

systems to owning a property and business portfolio in the local area, including the high street, with 

rental and other income supplementing the council budgets.  

                                        
9
 Please see this press release from CIPFA. 

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

1. Smoothing the impact of cuts (48%)

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

2. Guarding against general  or specific risk (41%)

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

3. Investing to save or earn (38%)

Agenda Item 3a

Page 56



_________________________________________ 

 

 

Page 15 of 17 

There is only a 10 per cent difference between the most and the third most popular reserves strategies. 

‘Invest to save or earn’ being part of the top answers reflects the shifting focus from efficient service 

delivery to commercialisation of services. 

  

Here is a selection of councils’ comments on their reserves strategies: 

 

“Programmes of change bring their own delivery risks, so we are planning to use £4m of reserves in 

2014/15 in order to allow time for those programmes to gain traction.  They will deliver their full, 

sustainable benefits in 2015/16.” 

 

-------- 

 

“With the outlook for 2016/17 and beyond being very tough, and the scale and risk of achieving cost 

reduction being high, the Council’s policy on reserves is clear: to invest to save; to smooth the curve 

of cost reduction in the light of timescales needed to drive costs out; or to protect urgent priority 

spending on a non-recurrent basis.” 

 

---------- 

 

“Our reserves have steadily increased over the last few years, taking advantage of in-year savings 

against the budget and also some windfall income such as VAT refunds. These have been 

maintained as we have known that addressing financial pressures will require some up-front costs.” 

 

----------- 

 

“The Council’s policy on reserves makes it clear that reserves should not be significantly reduced until 

it is clear that the Council has a balanced budget for the foreseeable future.” 

 

---------- 

 

“A year ago we decided that with a view to the long term it is desirable for local authorities to become 

as financially independent as possible the Council would invest significant reserves in to property 

development.  Firstly by developing on land it already owns but also investing with a partner in 

strategic developments such as the Research Park.” 

 

---------- 

 

“Our current financial planning allows for the use of reserves primarily to facilitate the changes 

required through the principle of ‘invest to save’. Our current plans do not allow for the new homes 

bonus within the base budget and any reserve created from this source of funding is envisaged to be 

used to support the delivery of the councils’ priorities.” 

Agenda Item 3a

Page 57



_________________________________________ 

 

 

Page 16 of 17 

6. Conclusions 

Responses to our survey provided us with a snapshot of how local government is planning to tackle the 

financial challenges ahead, especially those over the next two financial years.  

Our conclusions are: 

1. Local government is approaching the end of the road of tackling financial pressures through 

increasingly efficient ways of producing services. 60 per cent of authorities say that they will not 

be able to cover their budget gap with future efficiencies alone in 2015/16, while a further 21 per 

cent identify this as a possibility. Only 2 out of every 10 councils felt that they can deal with the 

cuts over the life of the Parliament without avoiding cuts to services. 

 

2. In relation to this, about half of all respondent councils said that they are planning to use some of 

their reserves to smooth the impact of funding reductions and buy themselves time for savings 

targets to bed in. This suggests that a significant number of authorities is facing making cuts after 

2015/16 once reserves have run down, even if there are no further cuts in government funding.  

 

3. In addition, every 2 out of 5 councils are looking to use reserves to support investment in cost 

saving or income generating activities over the next two years. All authorities report the level of 

reserves they hold each year, as part of their financial accounts and national statistical releases. 

This dispels the perpetuated myth that councils are needlessly sitting on a ‘secret stockpile’ or 

‘Fort Knox’ of cash. 

 

4. In a post-efficiency world, councils are looking into the commercialisation of activities by planning 

to adjust their charging and fees structures to recover costs incurred while providing discretionary 

services, such as leisure centres. In addition, maximising investment income is seen as a key 

priority in tackling the 2015/16 funding challenge – indeed, there are anecdotes of councils that 

are relying on a portfolio of real estate to provide them with continuous rental income. 

 

The government must recognise that local government is fast approaching a state where continued 

efficiency savings is no longer a viable option to tackle funding cuts for the majority of councils.  

Even the so called ‘secret stockpile’ of reserves does not provide a sustainable solution, only a welcome 

temporary respite against the rising pressure that councils can afford because they prepared for the 

challenges in advance of the rest of the public sector. 

 

 

  

Agenda Item 3a

Page 58



_________________________________________ 

 

 

Page 17 of 17 

For more information please contact:  

Mike Heiser 

Senior Adviser – Local Government Finance 

Local Government Association 

 

Local Government House 

Smith Square 

London SW1P 3HZ  

 

Email: lgfinance@local.gov.uk  

Telephone:  020 7664 3265 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Contact the Local Government Association 

Telephone: 020 7664 3000 

Email: info@lga.gov.uk 

Website: www.local.gov.uk 

 

© Local Government Association, October 2013 

 

For a copy in Braille, larger print or audio, please contact us on 020 7664 3000. 

We consider all requests on an individual basis.  

Agenda Item 3a

Page 59



Page 60



 

Finance Panel 

28 March 2014 

 

 
 

     

Municipal Bonds Agency 

 
Purpose  
 
For information and discussion. 
 
Summary 
 
At its meeting on the 20 March 2014, the Executive agreed the revised Municipal Bonds 
Agency Business Case and next steps.  The report that was submitted to the Executive, 
along with the revised business case, is attached.  Officers will provide the Panel with an oral 
update on the project and on the discussion at Executive.  
 

 
Recommendation 
 
That the Panel note the update provided by officers and continue to promote both the 
investment and borrowing opportunities the Agency gives to councils. 
 
Action 
 
Officers to be cognisant of Members comments. 
 

 
 
 

Contact officer:  John Wright 

Position: Senior Adviser 

Phone no: 020 7664 3146 

Email: john.wright@local.gov.uk  

 
 
 

Agenda Item 4

Page 61



Page 62



 

Finance Panel  

28 March 2014 

 

 

     

Municipal Bonds Agency: Report to 20 March Executive 

 
Purpose  
 
For decision. 
 
Summary 
 
The Executive commissioned in November a review of the January 2012 Outline Business 
Case for a Municipal Bond Agency. The business case review produced by our expert 
advisers confirms that there is a strong public interest and economic case for establishing a 
Municipal Bonds Agency. The review also introduces revisions to the business case and sets 
out proposals on how it could be operationalised. The most significant revisions are: 
 

(i) a proposal that borrowers from the Agency should enter into a joint and several 
guarantee of its borrowings; 
 

(ii) a revised and simplified model for the Agency’s capital structure based on 
councils and the LGA taking conventional equity shareholdings; and  

 
(iii) as part of the latter, a significantly higher operating capital requirement than 

previously suggested.  
 
The report recommends that the Executive now authorise a move into a mobilisation phase, 
which will require a budget of up to £1 million provided by potential shareholders, including 
the LGA, and which would lead into the launch of the Agency in the autumn of this year.  
Further approval for the LGA to proceed into the launch stage would be sought at the end of 
mobilisation.  The LGA would continue to lead the project through mobilisation and would 
establish a formal project board subject to the Leadership Board’s oversight to manage that 
progress. 
 

 
Recommendations 
 
That the Executive: 
 

1. Endorse the findings in the revised business case and approve its publication. 
(paragraph 8) 
 

2. Authorise a move into the mobilisation phase of the project. (paragraph 13) 
 

3. Approve an LGA financial contribution to the mobilisation phase, capped at 
£500,000. (paragraph 20) 

 
4. Agree that the conditions for that contribution are:  

a. that £400,000 should be equally matched by contributions from councils; 
b. that it should be reflected in an equity stake in the Agency; and 
c. that the equity stake should have a value that could be reflected as an asset 

maintaining the LGA’s net balance sheet position (paragraph 20). 

Agenda Item 4

Page 63



 

Finance Panel  

28 March 2014 

 

 

     

 
5. Agree that if matching contributions from councils are not forthcoming by July, the 

decision to proceed will expire and the project will not proceed further. (paragraph 
20) 
 

6. Agree to the LGA constitution being amended at July’s General Assembly to put 
beyond doubt the LGA’s ability to invest in shares on behalf of its members in this 
way. (paragraph 22-24) 

 
7. Delegate authority to the Project Board to direct the project and make the decisions 

set out at paragraph 14, and delegate to the Leadership Board authority to make 
decisions on matters brought to it by the Project Sponsor/Senior Responsible Officer. 
(paragraph 16) 

 
Action 
 
Officers to implement the decisions of the Board. 
 

 

Contact officer:  John Wright 

Position: MBA Project Manager 

Phone no: 020 7664 3146 

Email: john.wright@local.gov.uk    

 
  

Agenda Item 4

Page 64



 

Finance Panel  

28 March 2014 

 

  
 

     

Municipal Bonds Agency: Report to 20 March Executive 
 
 
Background 
 
1. Members will recall that the Executive of January 2012 endorsed the publication of an 

outline business case for a Municipal Bond Agency (MBA). The Executive took the 
project into a new phase in the summer of 2013 with the publication of Rewiring Public 
Services which included a pledge to boost investment in infrastructure by re-creating the 
thriving market in municipal bonds which England once had and most other countries still 
have. At last July’s Conference, the Chairman invited councils interested in the project to 
confirm their support as a first precondition of making further progress. Nearly 40 councils 
expressed support, 18 of them publicly. 
 

2. The November 2013 Executive therefore approved a move to phase two of the project, 
which was planned to focus on a review of the outline business case (OBC).  In 
December Aidan Brady, a chartered accountant and senior executive from the banking 
sector was appointed as Lead Adviser to the project, supported by two strategic advisers; 
Francis Breedon,  Professor of Economics and Finance at Queen Mary College, 
University of London; and Lars Andersson, the founder and first Chief Executive of 
Kommuninvest, the Swedish Agency. The expert team has been supported by LGA 
officers and by an expert finance officer kindly loaned to us by a member council, and 
has commissioned further advice including from law firms and leading counsel. It has 
also been supported by a working group of council finance directors and a political-level 
steering group consisting of council leaders. 

 
3. The Advisory Team’s two-month review, under Aidan Brady’s leadership, has: 

 
3.1. refreshed and further developed the public interest case for setting up an Agency; 
3.2. engaged with councils, along the way identifying a borrowing requirement over the 

next three years of £4.9 billion from 40 councils alone; 
3.3. held discussions with the six leading banks engaged in the handling of bonds; 
3.4. held discussions with three principal ratings agencies;  
3.5. sought legal advice on the operation of a joint and several guarantee in the event 

of a default and vires issues; and 
3.6. discussed governance and capital structure at both officer and political level. 

 
This has resulted in the development of the revised business case attached at Appendix 
B. A short summary of the report is attached at Appendix A. 
 

What the revised business case confirms and what it changes 
 
4. The revised business case confirms: 

 
4.1. that a MBA could deliver savings on councils borrowing costs compared to 

alternatives; 
4.2. that there are a range of other potential benefits to councils as borrowers from an 

agency; and 
4.3. that it is feasible and within council vires to set an agency up in the short term. 

 

Agenda Item 4

Page 65



 

Finance Panel  

28 March 2014 

 

  
 

     

5. The revised business case also develops the analysis in the OBC. In particular, it sets out 
a market entry and development strategy for the Agency and a target bond issuance 
profile for the early years. It envisages the Agency developing its functionality over time 
and describes how it might do that (the original OBC set out a full range of services and 
an accompanying cost base which would neither be wanted nor feasible on Day One). It 
also models the Agency’s profit and loss account over the first few years of operations. 
The revised business case also gives much more detail on the considerations which are 
likely to drive the pricing of the Agency’s bonds, and draws conclusions from that about 
its structures and operations.  

 
6. Building on that more developed analysis, the revised business case also proposes a 

number of revisions to the original OBC. The most significant are: 
 
6.1. a proposal that the Agency’s operating capital should be in the form of 

conventional equity, which would mean councils and the LGA, if it were an 
investor, being shareholders; 

6.2. a significant upward revision, to £8-10 million, of the operating capital 
requirements needed to set the Agency up and get it to break-even point; 

6.3. a proposal that the Agency should, initially at least, contract out its operations 
rather than buying IT and employing a lot of staff; 

6.4. a revised and much cheaper model for holding risk capital against the risk of 
default on the Agency’s bonds (by holding back capital against individual bond 
issues at the time they happen); and  

6.5. a revision of the OBC’s judgement against using a joint and several guarantee 
among borrowers to secure the Agency debt; this is based both on clearer and 
very robust legal advice about guarantees, and on the significant interest savings 
this model would make possible.  The advice made clear that such guarantees 
were within the vires of English councils under the General Power of Competence, 
but not other UK councils or authorities, such as Fire and Rescue or National 
Parks Authorities. 

  
7. The revised business case implies that if half of the outstanding debt with the Public 

Works Loans Board were to be transferred over time to the Agency, the net present value 
of potential saving to borrowers as a whole from establishing the Agency on this basis 
could be between £1.2 billion and £1.45 billion over 30 years. 

 
8. We recommend that the Executive endorse the report and agree that it be published. 

 
Timeline 

 
9. The revised business case recommends that the Agency issues its first bond in 

March/April 2015 in order to satisfy councils’ demand for borrowing at that time of the 
year.  To attract the best pricing the bond would need to be for a minimum of £250 million 
to £300 million.  The route to issuing the first bond will be via a six month mobilisation 
phase (March - September 2014) followed by a six month launch phase (September 
2014 – March 2015).  
 

10. There will be further decision gateways within and at the end of the Mobilisation phase, 
as well as before launching the first bond. The revised business case sets out the start-
up investment at risk at each gateway point. 

Agenda Item 4

Page 66



 

Finance Panel  

28 March 2014 

 

  
 

     

 
Mobilisation 

 
11. The mobilisation phase of the project described in section 11.2 of the revised business 

case will entail the following work: 
 
11.1. Drawing up a shareholder agreement, recruiting shareholders and raising the £8 

million - £10 million needed to launch and operate the Agency in the early years. 
11.2. Promoting the Agency and recruiting the first borrowers. 
11.3. Designing key policies and procedures. 
11.4. Establishing the corporate structure. 
11.5. Drafting articles of association 
11.6. Preparation of documents eg loan documentation. 
11.7. Recruiting and establishing the initial board of directors and recruiting key 

personnel e.g. Chef Executive Officer, Chief Risk Officer and Chief 
Finance/Accounting Officer. 
 

12. Undertaking this work would require the recruitment in the short term of a small team (3-
4) of experienced contractors. 

 
13. This paper seeks approval to move into the mobilisation phase. 
 
Governance 
 
14. Mobilisation.  Early in the mobilisation phase it is proposed to set up a project board 

selected by the LGA, consisting of no more than 5 to 7 members, including LGA 
executives, the project sponsor and council treasurers. It may include future members of 
the initial board of directors.  The Project Board would be constituted with appropriate 
terms of reference and meet at least every other week during mobilisation.  The Board 
would be responsible for: 
 
14.1. Overseeing execution of the project to go live. 
14.2. In conjunction with the LGA, selecting the initial board of directors. 
14.3. Determining, in consultation with the board of directors when appointed, the point 

at which the project would move into the launch phase. 
 

15. As the project moves towards launch the board of directors may increasingly act as a 
shadow board and would be consulted on major decisions.  Regular meetings would 
continue to be held with the Leaders or their representatives and senior finance officers 
of interested councils.  These meetings would be used to consult on and discuss 
proposals and to keep shareholders and potential shareholders informed of progress.  
The advisory role of these groups will continue to be instrumental in moving the project 
forward.  It is envisaged that the LGA would retain control at this stage. 
 

16. In accordance with conventional project management practice the Project 
Sponsor/Senior Responsible Officer will act as the interface between the Project Board 
and the LGA’s decision making frameworks.  In order to enable speedy decision making 
and ensure that the project remains on track the Project Board should receive delegated 
authority to take decisions in order to fulfil the functions at paragraph 11 above.  It is also 
recommended that the Executive delegate to the Leadership Board authority to make 

Agenda Item 4

Page 67



 

Finance Panel  

28 March 2014 

 

  
 

     

decisions referred to it by the Project Sponsor.  Regular progress reports will be made to 
the Leadership Board throughout the mobilisation phase. We recommend that the 
Executive endorse this approach. 
 

17. Launch.  At launch, voting rights would adjust to individual shareholding in accordance 
with the voting rights structure set out in the Shareholder Agreement, and governance of 
the Agency would be normalised with the Board of Directors taking control of the Agency.  
It is anticipated that the Board would consist of seven non-executive directors: 
 
17.1. Three elected by shareholders and include the chair. 
17.2. A technical expert in the debt capital market. 
17.3. A technical expert in risk management. 
17.4. Two council finance directors or equivalent. 
17.5. The CEO may also be a director. 

 
18. A nominations committee would make nominations of experts to the board; the three 

elected board members will be elected by a ballot of shareholders. While all members of 
the board require shareholder approval, it is for consideration that the LGA may reserve 
swamping rights in the election of certain board members; and also in changes to articles 
of association; and over changes in control (ie pre-approval of transfer of shares). 
 

Risk 
   

19. There are three overriding risks to the project: 
 
19.1. It may not be possible to raise the required operating capital.  This can be 

mitigated by continued promotion of the investment opportunity the Agency 
presents to councils and by the LGA’s own overt in kind support for the Agency. 
 

19.2. Council demand for borrowing from the Agency may not materialise in sufficient 

volume.  Continued promotion to councils will also be important for mitigating this 

risk, as will promoting the bonds in the capital markets. Demand may also be 

affected by wider political sentiment toward the Agency and it will remain 

important therefore that elected members continue to promote the Agency 

through their own political channels.  

 

19.3. Unattractive market pricing for bond issuance.  This could be caused by market 
movements outside the control of the Agency or by the Agency being unable to 
achieve appropriate credibility in the market place. Not being able to attract 
personnel of a suitable calibre to the Agency could also harm the chances of 
achieving the desired credit rating and so recruiting the right high calibre 
personnel to the Agency will be vital.  Although the idea of a Municipal Bonds 
Agency has been well received in the City, with banks being confident of a 
positive market for municipal bonds, it will nonetheless be important to promote 
the Agency as we move towards the first bond issue to build credibility with the 
market makers. 
 

 
 
 

Agenda Item 4

Page 68



 

Finance Panel  

28 March 2014 

 

  
 

     

Future role of the LGA 
 

20. Further financial contribution.  Since the project was re-launched last summer the LGA 
has committed £150,000 of programme budget in this financial year.  It is estimated that 
the mobilisation phase will require a further investment of £800,000 to £1 million: we 
suggest the LGA should be willing to fund half of that.  To date councils and related 
bodies have not been asked to make a financial contribution to the setting up of the 
Agency, and the development of shareholder agreements is a planned activity for the 
mobilisation phase.  This means that for the momentum of the project to be sustained, 
further LGA investment will be required.  Subject to the Executive agreeing that the 
project should proceed therefore, it is recommended that the LGA commit a further 
£500,000 to enable the mobilisation phase to get underway without delay.  It is further 
recommended that this investment be subject to: 
 
20.1. £400,000 of the investment being equally matched with contributions from 

councils and related bodies. 
20.2. It being reflected in an equity stake in the Agency that recognises the risk taken 

by the LGA in investing in the agency at this early stage.  This stake would be 
subject to negotiation with other shareholders. 

20.3. The equity stake having a value that could be reflected as an asset on the LGA’s 
books, so as not to worsen our net reserve position. 

 
21. So as not to delay the start of the mobilisation phase and to sustain the momentum of the 

project, it is proposed that the first £100,000 of the investment should not be conditional 
on matched funding having already been committed.  If matched funding fails to 
materialise by mid-July, the project will not proceed.  
 

22. LGA shareholding.  In return for its investment in the establishment of the Agency, the 
LGA would be issued shares not only reflecting its financial commitment, but also its 
financial risk from being the initial investor.  It is envisaged that these shares would be a 
tradable asset enabling the investment to be redeemed in due course.   As mentioned 
above, it is for consideration that the LGA would hold certain swamping rights, which 
would need to be agreed during the mobilisation phase, with the risks to the LGA, if any, 
of holding these rights identified for later consideration by the Board. 
 

23. In holding these shares, it will be important for the LGA to avoid any conflict of interest 
that might arise from having a commercial interest in the Agency, while at the same time 
having the right to control a number of Board appointments and other issues.  In addition, 
in certain circumstances, it may be in the interests of the LGA, from a commercial 
perspective, to liquidate its holdings, whereas it may not be in the interests of the Agency 
itself for that to happen.  Accordingly, the LGA will need to satisfy itself that appropriate 
controls and ring fences can be implemented.  

 
24. Currently the LGA’s Constitution, and its status as an unincorporated association, means 

that there are questions about our ability to hold shares in this way as an investment. To 
put this beyond doubt, we have been advised that the Constitution of the LGA will need to 
be amended to include such powers, and appropriate delegations and indemnities will 
need to be put in place to facilitate this.  We recommend that such a change be 
accomplished at the July General Assembly.   

 

Agenda Item 4

Page 69



 

Finance Panel  

28 March 2014 

 

  
 

     

25. LGA risks.  There are financial and reputational risks for the LGA from continuing to 
participate in this programme.  They are derived from the project risks outlined above. 

 
25.1. Financial.   

25.1.1. The LGA would lose its investment if insufficient operating capital was 
raised, preventing the launch of the Agency.  By the end of mobilisation, 
this could total £650,000.  An early decision to stop the project if this was 
becoming a reality could reduce the LGA’s overall exposure. 

25.1.2. If the PWLB lowered its interest rates to make the Agency unattractive, or if 
for any other reason councils decided not to borrow from the Agency and it 
became unviable, the LGA would also lose its investment. 
 

25.2. Reputational. 
25.2.1. The LGA has a significant reputational stake in the Agency, not least 

through Rewiring Public Services.  If the Agency fails to get off the ground, 
there is a risk that the press and the government, and possibly some 
member councils, could question the prudence of investing over half a 
million pounds into such a project, when the PWLB, it could be argued, 
already offers a reliable and cost effective source of capital borrowing.  The 
public interest case in the revised business case makes a strong case for 
establishing the Agency and would be a source of rebuttal to such 
accusations. 
 

26. While the level of council support for the Agency remains steady, councils have yet to be 
asked to make a financial commitment.  At present it is difficult to assess the likelihood of 
councils being able and willing to invest sufficient capital to cover launch and early years 
operating costs.  As an illustration, it would need 200 councils to invest £50,000 each, or 
40 to invest £250,000.  In the event, it is extremely probable that many councils will want 
to contribute less than £50,000, with others happy to invest a larger sum.  To mitigate the 
risk, the LGA will do all it can to promote the benefits of the Agency based on the positive 
revised business case.  It could also set an example by, as recommended, extending its 
investment in the start-up.  As mentioned above, if at any point it became apparent that 
risks were becoming unsustainable, it would be possible to halt expenditure and return to 
the Board for a further decision. 
 

27. The full £8 million to £10 million of operating capital will not be required at the beginning 
of the project and therefore in theory the Agency could be launched without the full 
amount identified or committed.  Continuing investment would then be sought based on 
the Agency’s predicted cash flow up to the break-even point.  The risk with this strategy is 
that if the required capital is not forthcoming the Agency may have to cease trading.  In 
the worst case, this might not arise until after the Agency had burnt through perhaps 
three years of capital, leading to shareholders losing their investments.  There would be a 
reputational issue for the sector if this was to occur.  The risk from taking this approach is 
considered too large and it is therefore not recommended. 

 
Next steps 
 
28. Further early work will be undertaken to promote the Agency and to raise the investment 

needed to proceed with implementation, in the first instance seeking the funding to match 
the LGA’s contribution to mobilisation. 

Agenda Item 4

Page 70



 

Finance Panel  

28 March 2014 

 

  
 

     

 
29. Recruitment of an interim project team of three to four people to undertake the 

mobilisation work pending the recruitment of permanent Agency staff.  
 

30. Drawing up the shareholder agreements and negotiating with other shareholders the 
LGA’s shareholding and ongoing role in the Agency. 

 

31. Commence the mobilisation phase summarised above and described in more detail in 
the revised business case. 

 
Financial Implications 

32. It is intended to set up a special projects line in the budget for next year, which amongst 
other things would cover the approved expenditure on the Agency. 

Agenda Item 4

Page 71



Page 72



 
 

 

Finance Panel  

28 March 2014 

 

 
 

Municipal Bonds Agency - Summary of Business Case Review 
 
Public interest case 
 
1. Councils source 75 per cent of their borrowing from the Public Works Loans Board (PWLB). 

That leaves councils vulnerable to interest rates set to deliver the government’s public borrowing 
plans.  The Municipal Bonds Agency would give councils greater control of interest rates and 
introduce competition and diversity to the marketplace.  The Agency could also offer lower 
penalties for early repayment of loans.  
 

2. Nordic experience has shown that an agency’s credit processes, with the incentive of lower 
borrowing costs and the oversight of peers, has strengthened the overall credit worthiness of 
local authorities. 

 
3. The experience of the Nordic Agencies has also shown that the Agency could pass onto 

councils the benefit of its research into public sector financing.  From this expertise it would be 
possible to develop advisory and tailored lending services and potentially facilitate intra authority 
lending. 

 
Local Authority and investor demand 
 
4. Councils will have new borrowing requirements for their capital programmes.   Our survey 

identified a borrowing requirement of £5 billion over the next three years from just 46 councils, 
with 43 expressing an interest in using the Agency. The outstanding stock of PWLB debt 
matures at £1.7 billion a year. Much of that will require refinancing. Borrowing from banks is 
forecast to become increasingly expensive.  It is estimated that annual local authority borrowing 
over the next three years will be between £3billion and £5 billion.  
 

5. Banks have indicated a likely significant investor demand for the Agency’s bonds. At the same 
price as Transport for London (TfL)’s double-A rated bonds, council borrowers would save 
around five basis points (bps) against the PWLB certainty rate (80bps). To achieve better bond 
pricing, the Agency would need an AAA/sovereign like rating.  That could be achievable by 
holding risk capital between three and five per cent; holding adequate liquidity; providing a joint 
and several guarantee from borrowers; and ensuring a diverse portfolio of borrowers. An 
AAA/sovereign like rating combined with a joint and several guarantee should deliver significant 
savings to borrowers. 
 

6. Because the Agency will be new to the market, it is likely to need to pay a new issue premium in 
the first one to two years.  This will affect the level of savings available to early borrowers.  The 
savings in the previous paragraph will also depend on being able to issue bonds in benchmark 
sizes of between £250 million to £300 million; otherwise investors will demand a premium for 
illiquidity. 

 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 4a

Page 73



 
 

 

Finance Panel  

28 March 2014 

 

 
 
Joint and several guarantee 
 
7. A joint and several guarantee creates the prospect of much cheaper borrowing. It will also 

enable the bonds to be listed on the London Stock Exchange.  Overall a joint and several 
guarantee could expect to reduce the Agency’s borrowing costs by 20 to 25 bps, saving £6.2 
million to £7.5 million over the life of a 30 year £100million loan. The risks of offering a joint and 
several guarantee are mitigated by: 
 

• Security over borrowing and the High court process 

• Proportionality/right of recourse 

• The risk capital and liquidity of the Agency 

• The Agency’s credit processes 

• Statutory and budgetary controls in councils 

• The prudential code and minimum revenue provision 

• The statutory responsibilities of Finance Directors (section 151 officers) 

• Access to the PWLB 

• Government reserve powers. 
 
Operating model and capital structure 
 
8. The Agency should issue two bonds in its first year with approximately 30 to 40 borrowers. For 

the initial issues, council borrowing will need to match the bonds’ maturity profiles.  Agency 
staffing will start small and grow as the volume of transactions does. Most functions will be 
outsourced. The Agency is expected to break even by year three after around £2 billion of bond 
issuance.  It is estimated £8 million to £10 million of operating capital will be needed to cover 
launch and early operating costs and provide a buffer against risks.  

 
9. The Agency’s operating capital should be raised from councils or related bodies as common 

equity.  An equity structure would allow the trading of shares and give the Agency a decision 
making framework over profit retention and dividends.  The shareholding structure would have 
limits on individual level of control and give a fair return to initial shareholders for risk taking.  
Voting and economic rights should be de-coupled. 

 
10. Risk Capital will be required to support the first loss protection in the event of a borrower default 

and should be equivalent to three to five per cent of the loans made to councils. It will be raised 
through a proportion of a loan taken out by a borrower being retained by the Agency. 

 
Timeline 
 
11. The Agency should aim to issue its first bond to match the March/April 2015 peak in council 

borrowing.  A mobilisation phase should start once the decision to proceed is made and last six 
months. The mobilisation phase will cost approximately £0.8 million and would establish the 
corporate structure; hire of key personnel; establish the Board; identify the initial list of borrowers 
and investors in the Agency; design key policies and processes. 
 

 
 

Agenda Item 4a

Page 74



 
 

 

Finance Panel  

28 March 2014 

 

 
 
Governance 
 
12. Control should rest with the LGA as the project sponsors in mobilisation phase. A project board 

should oversee execution, with CFO and political groups retaining an advisory role. Once 
appointed the Board of Directors (BoD) may operate in a shadow capacity until launch.  The 
project board in consultation with the BoD will determine the point at which the project moves 
into launch.  
 

13. At launch, the BoD will formally take control of the Agency.  The BoD will consist of: three 
members elected by shareholders, one of whom will be the Chair; a debt capital markets expert; 
a risk management expert; two council finance directors or equivalent.  The CEO may be a 
Director.  The initial board will be appointed by the LGA in conjunction with the project board and 
in consultation with the shareholders.  

 
Risk 
 
14. There are five key risks at this stage the most significant being that it may not be possible to 

raise the operating capital from councils or related bodies, despite it being an attractive 
investment. Other risks relate to council demand; market pricing; PWLB lowering its interest 
rates; and attracting the right calibre of personnel.   

Agenda Item 4a

Page 75



Page 76



 

1 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The UK Municipal Bonds Agency 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Establishment of a Local Government Collective Agency for the issue of Local 
Authority Bonds 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Report to the Executive Board of the Local Government Association: 
 

 
Review of Outline Business Case and Recommendations for Next Steps 

 
 
 
 

March 2014 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Authors: 
 
Aidan Brady   Lars Andersson  Francis Breedon 
Lead Advisor  Strategic Adviser    Strategic Adviser 
  

Agenda Item 4b

Page 77



 

2 

 

Contents 
 
 
Section Contents        Page 

 

1  Executive Summary          3 

2  Public Interest Case       13  

3  Local Authority Demand      23 

4  Investor Demand, Potential Bond Pricing   34 

5  Market Entry Strategy      44 

6  Joint & Several Guarantee: Business case   45 

7  Joint & Several Guarantee: Protection for guarantors  46 

8  Pricing Strategy       53 

9  Operating Model and Timeline     55 

10  Financial Risks and Mitigants     62 

11  Capital Structure       65 

12  Governance Structure      67 

13  Board of Directors       69 

 
 

Appendices  
 
1  The journey taken by other agencies    71 
 
2  The broader benefits of a municipal bonds agency  78 
  
3 Outstanding amounts of Local Authority        87 

borrowing and investments 
 
4 Additional market background     88 
 
5 Biographies of authors      94 
 
 
 
 Glossary        96 
 
 

 

Agenda Item 4b

Page 78



 

3 

 

 

1 Executive Summary 
 
1.1  Background 
 
1.1.1 Local Authority borrowing in the UK, as of 31 March 2013, amounted to £84.5 

billion, of which £63.4 billion was from the Public Work Loans Board, 
(“PWLB”).  

 
1.1.2 On 20 October 2010, the PWLB began charging a margin over Gilts of 100 

basis points on all loans. 
 

1.1.3 In response, in January 2012, the Local Government Association (“LGA”), in 
partnership with Local Partnerships and the Welsh Local Government 
Association, published the Outline Business Case for establishing a local 
government collective agency for issuing Local Authority bonds. 

 
1.1.4 The report identified that such an agency could reduce the funding costs of 

Local Authorities to 70 to 80 basis points above Gilts vs the PWLB rate of 100 
basis points above Gilts. 

 
1.1.5 Subsequently, from 1 November 2012, the PWLB reduced its rate to 80 basis 

points above Gilts, the Certainty Rate, for those Local Authorities, which could 
supply details of funding requirements in advance. Approximately 98% of 
subsequent advances from the PWLB have been at the Certainty Rate.  

 
1.1.6 From 1 November 2013 rates were reduced to 60 basis points for lending in 

respect of an infrastructure project nominated by a Local Enterprise 
Partnership (the Project Rate). 

 
1.1.7 In Q4 2013, the Local Government Association re-established the project to 

review the viability of a local government collective agency, now known as the 
Municipal Bonds Agency (“the Agency”).  In January 2014, the authors of this 
report were appointed as lead and strategic advisers to perform a review of 
the original Outline Business Case. 

 
  

Agenda Item 4b

Page 79



 

4 

 

1.2 Scope of Review 
 
1.2.1 The scope of the review was to reassess the original Outline Business Case, 

conclude on whether there was a business case for establishing the Agency 
and make recommendations for strengthening the original model. 
 

1.2.2 The key questions to be answered as part of the review included: 
 

- The Public Interest Case: Is establishing the Agency in the public interest? 
 

- Local Authority Demand: Is there a demand amongst Local Authorities for 
the Agency and is it in sufficient volume? 
 

- Investor Demand: Is there sufficient investor demand for Agency bonds, 
and at what price? By how much will ratings impact pricing? 

 
- Market entry strategy: What is the appropriate market entry strategy, for 

the Agency? 
 

- Timeline and build out: What is an appropriate timeline for the build-out of 
the Agency and how should it be phased? 

 
1.2.3 The following questions should be considered in more detail in later stages of 

the Agency’s development: 
- Regulatory status: the initial review concluded that the Agency was not 

carrying on a regulated activity. It would be prudent to meet with the 
financial regulators once the detailed structure has been finalised.  

- In addition, it will be necessary to assess in due course the regulatory 
treatment of the bonds issued and their Bank of England repo eligibility. 

- Detailed corporate structure, including tax status: The Agency will require 
a very simple structure, and there is no reason to adjust the guidance from 
the Outline Business Case. Further analysis of detailed choices may be 
necessary as part of the implementation process. 
 

  

Agenda Item 4b

Page 80



 

5 

 

1.3 High level conclusions arising from the review 
 
1.3.1 Public Interest Case 

 
1.3.2 The primary reason put forward for the Agency has typically been to ‘beat the 

PWLB’ rate. 
 
1.3.3 Whilst this should be achievable, with an appropriate structure, the Agency 

should aspire to delivering a broader set of benefits, which may prove 
significantly more material over time. 

 
1.3.4 Estimates of savings versus the PWLB vary and will develop as the Agency 

matures and volumes expand. 
 
1.3.5 If the Agency achieves the same pricing as Transport for London (“TfL”), the 

nearest market comparable, then savings should be approximately 5 basis 
points, and it may be able to achieve an additional ~5 basis points, with a 
sufficiently compelling relative value proposition. 

 
1.3.6 However, the Agency, has the opportunity to structure itself in such a way as 

to achieve AAA / Sovereign like ratings, in which case, conservative estimates 
would put savings at between 5 and 10 basis points on top of the base case. 

 
1.3.7 As the Agency matures, it should expect, with an AAA / Sovereign like rating 

to achieve pricing closer to Manchester or Cambridge University, delivering 
savings of 20 to 25 basis points. 

 
1.3.8 Accessing savings at the higher levels is likely to require a Joint & Several 

Guarantee. 
 
1.3.9 Nevertheless, an obsessive focus on ‘beating the PWLB’ materially undersells 

the broader benefits the Agency could deliver. 
 
1.3.9.1 Increased competition / diversification of lending sources: Currently, Local 

Authorities source 75% of their term borrowings from the PWLB, a source 
which carries significant political risk; an Agency would materially mitigate 
this risk and introduce competition to the market for Local Authority 
borrowing. 

 
1.3.9.2 Increased Transparency and Monitoring: The PWLB’s process, whilst very 

efficient, does not carry the normal level of scrutiny lending large sums of 
money would entail. Experience in other countries has shown that an 
Agency’s credit processes, aligned with the incentive of lower borrowing 
costs and the oversight of peers, has strengthened the overall credit 
worthiness of Local Authorities, much more so than Governments could 
achieve on their own. 

 
1.3.9.3 Centre of Expertise: The Agency will be required to build skills at the 

intersection between capital markets and Local Authority finance. This 
expertise has been used by other Agencies to facilitate knowledge 
transfer, conduct research into public sector financing and consider 

Agenda Item 4b

Page 81



 

6 

 

economic factors which will impact Local Authority finances, and therefore 
their provision of services. 

 
1.3.9.4 Tailored flexibility: Tailored flexibility will evolve from developing a Centre 

of Expertise. The most striking thing about Local Authority finances is the 
volume of predominantly short dated assets (£37 billion) and long dated 
liabilities (£84 billion), see Appendix 3, with consequent embedded 
maturity risk and costs.  

 
1.3.9.5 These assets and liabilities are not evenly spread, i.e. some Authorities 

will have assets whilst others will have debt, nevertheless, approximately 
£26 billion of assets are held by individual Local Authorities with offsetting 
long dated liabilities  

 
1.3.9.6 Whilst not directly part of the Agency’s mandate, nor this review, there 

exists the opportunity to help reduce these volumes.  
 
1.3.9.7 Initially this may take the form of advisory services, but in due course 

could be expected to include facilitating increased intra-Local Authority 
lending, potentially leveraging Bond programmes, and introducing tailored 
flexibility to lending programmes.  

 
1.4 Local Authority demand 
 
1.4.1 As part of this exercise, we reviewed Local Authority demand by reference 

to PWLB refinancing, bank lending refinancing and new lending. 
 
1.4.1.1 PWLB refinancing: PWLB lending of £63 billion to Local Authorities 

matures at the rate (conservatively) of £1.7 billion each year, much of 
which will require refinancing. 

 
1.4.1.2 Bank financing: Bank financing, of over £7 billion, predominantly in the 

form of Lender Option Borrower Option loans, is likely to become more 
expensive as margin pressures on banks increase. 

 
1.4.1.3 New Lending: Local Authorities will come under increasing pressure for 

capital spending as the need for overdue expenditure on highways and 
infrastructure becomes pressing and to deal with trends in population 
demographics. 

 
1.4.1.4 These macro indicators would suggest that there is a significant ongoing 

demand for Local Authority Borrowing. 
 
1.4.2 Nevertheless, we conducted our own survey of 132 English councils. 
 
1.4.2.1 We received over 50 responses, with 4 having no borrowing requirements 

in the next 3 years. 
 
1.4.2.2 On the remaining responses, all but 4 i.e. >90%, with borrowing 

requirements of ~£5 billion in the next 3 years would consider using the 
Agency, with no significant impediments to so doing. 

Agenda Item 4b

Page 82



 

7 

 

 
1.4.2.3 Clearly, this survey is indicative, with issues of flexibility and pricing 

requiring resolution.  Nonetheless, it is a strong indicator of pent up 
demand for an alternative to the PWLB. 

 
1.5        Investor demand and likely bond pricing 
 
1.5.1 We met with 6 of the top 10 leading Sterling syndicate banks. 
 
1.5.2 The general sense was that there was likely to be significant demand for the 

Agency’s bonds. 
 
1.5.3 Pricing of the bonds is likely to be primarily driven by market pricing of 

comparable bonds, the most comparable being TfL.  At TfL’s pricing, the 
Agency could deliver savings to Local Authority borrowers of approximately 
5 basis points. 

 
1.5.4 If the Agency wants to achieve better than TfL pricing, it will need to 

demonstrate a significant relative value comparison. 
 
1.5.5 The way to achieve this is through a better credit rating that is achieved in an 

appropriate manner, i.e. significant and observable credit enhancement, and 
to match the quality of execution. 

 
1.5.6 TfL is one notch off a Sovereign rating; accordingly the Agency should aim 

for AAA / Sovereign like rating. The challenge in achieving an AAA / 
Sovereign like rating is not to be underestimated and will require significant 
credit enhancement. 

 
1.5.7 The risk of not achieving AAA / Sovereign like rating will be materially 

mitigated with significant first loss / risk capital, (between 3 and 5%, which 
can be used for liquidity purposes), adequate liquidity, a Joint and Several 
Guarantee from borrowers and a suitably diversified portfolio of borrowers, 
which meet the requirements of a rigorous credit process. 

 
1.5.8 Achieving AAA / Sovereign like credit ratings, with a Joint & Several 

Guarantee should enable the Agency to deliver significant savings to 
borrowers. Estimates vary between 5 to 10 basis points, (conservative), to 
20+ basis points over that achievable by TfL pricing.  

 
1.5.9 In any event, a number of other factors will influence pricing. The Agency is 

likely to suffer a new issue premium and a liquidity premium, reflecting the 
fact that the Agency will be a new issuer to the market and will not have 
covered the maturity profile / built a yield curve. 

 
1.5.10 These premiums should evaporate within 1 to 2 years, but will impact the 

level of savings available to early borrowers. 
 
1.5.11 Another key concern will be the ability to issue bonds in benchmark sizes, 

i.e. £250 to £300 million. Failure to do so will add up to 20 basis points to the 
bond pricing, and eliminate any potential savings for early issuances. 

Agenda Item 4b

Page 83



 

8 

 

 
1.5.12 An additional point for consideration is the level of complexity in the bond 

structure. Investors have limited resources for reviewing new bond 
issuances, so complexity becomes a deciding factor. 

 
1.5.13 With a Joint and Several Guarantee, the level of complexity reduces. Bonds 

can be listed on the London Stock Exchange, taking advantage of the listing 
exemptions for Local Authorities, otherwise overseas exchanges may need 
to be considered. 

 
1.6 Market entry strategy 

 
1.6.1 The foregoing should inform any market entry strategy. 

 
1.6.2 Initial bonds will price higher, so there is a natural incentive to manage the 

bond programme accordingly. Nonetheless, the Agency should aim to deliver 
savings to early stage borrowers, so they should still see benefits. 

 
1.6.3 The Agency should develop its profile over a one to 2 year period, issuing 

bonds in benchmark sizes, whose timing corresponds to peaks in Local 
Authority borrowing. 

 
1.6.4 Timing peaks in March / April, so the Agency should target a first bond in 

March / April 2015. The next peak occurs in September / October, which, 
accordingly, should be the anticipate timing of the next bond. 

 
1.6.5 In subsequent issuances, the Agency should aim to cover more of the 

maturity profile, and accordingly, target £500 million plus of issuance in March 
/ April 2016, in appropriate maturities. 

 
1.6.6 Two factors will influence the choices for the maturity of the first bond: Market 

preference and Local Authority demand. During the lead up to the first Bond 
issuance, these factors would need to be reconciled. 

 
1.6.7 Notwithstanding the demand identified as part of the survey, the Agency 

would need to have visibility on issuing approximately £750 million per annum 
in the early years. We would estimate that this represents approximately 25% 
market share of Local Authority borrowing. 

 
1.7      Joint & Several Guarantee: Business Case 
 
1.7.1 With a Joint and Several Guarantee, Local Authorities should have a 

reasonable expectation that they could reduce their borrowing costs by 20 to 
25 basis points, versus the PWLB. 

 
1.7.2 On a £100m loan, this equates to savings of £200 to £250 thousand, per 

annum, or £6.0 to £7.5 million over the life of a 30 year loan. 
     
1.8     Joint & Several Guarantee: Protection for Local Authorities 
 
1.8.1 Local Authorities will have concerns over issuing a Joint & Several Guarantee. 

Agenda Item 4b

Page 84



 

9 

 

 
1.8.2 There are significant protections within the statutory framework, which 

governs Local Authority finances e.g. the Prudential Code, implied 
Government support, which is somewhat evidenced by the operations of the 
PWLB, etc. 
 

1.8.3 English law contains a number of protections, such as a right of indemnity, 
that help ensure that guarantors can recover payments they make under the 
guarantee. 

 
1.8.4 Nevertheless, it would be appropriate to underpin a Joint and Several 

Guarantee with a Right of Recourse, or equivalent, which ensure that in the 
event of any loss, the amount in default is distributed proportionately amongst 
those providing the Guarantee (i.e. the borrowers from the Agency). 

 
1.8.5 Even in the event a Guarantee is called, it should be noted that creditors will 

still have access to the High Court process, that enables a High Court 
appointed administrator to ‘take control’ of certain aspects of a Local 
Authority’s finances, which in this scenario would be done under the auspices 
of the Agency. 

 
1.8.6 We have sought legal advice from leading counsel, which is unequivocal that 

such a Joint & Several Guarantee would be within vires, for English councils, 
available under the General Power of Competence created by the Localism 
Act. 

 
1.9      Pricing strategy 
 
1.9.1 The model proposed envisages a simple and transparent pricing mechanism 

is implemented, with 10 basis points added to the interest margin for 
borrowers to cover the Agency’s costs. Variable pricing, based on borrower 
creditworthiness, was reviewed and not considered appropriate 

 
1.9.2 The Board of the Agency should review the Agency’s pricing and pricing 

strategy on a regular basis 
  

1.10 Operating Capital, Model and Timeline 
 
1.10.1 The Agency and its sponsors should endeavour to maintain momentum and 

issue an initial bond in March / April 2015, i.e. in 12 Months. 
 
1.10.2 To achieve this timeline the Agency will require a mobilisation phase, to start 

immediately after the decision to proceed. 
 
1.10.3 The objectives of the mobilisation phase include: establishing the corporate 

structure and capitalisation, hiring key permanent staff, developing the 
policies, procedures and process necessary to run the Agency, identifying 
outsource partners and other 3rd party providers and locking down on the 
initial set of borrowers. 

 

Agenda Item 4b

Page 85



 

10 

 

1.10.4 It is estimated the mobilisation phase will cost £800k, of which approximately 
half will be related to the corporate entity, including structuring. 

 
1.10.5 The Agency, itself, should anticipate a phased development, which reflects 

upon the likely volume of transactions, e.g. in Year 1, the Agency should aim 
to issue 2 bonds with approximately 30 to 40 borrowers. 

 
1.10.6 The Agency will operate on a matched funding basis in the early years, i.e. 

Local Authority lending will match bond maturity, interest and repayment 
profiles. 

 
1.10.7 Accordingly, headcount should be built out cautiously, with no more than 6 

staff required in the first year of operations. The forecast assumes incremental 
headcount to deal with volume increases. 

 
1.10.8 Nonetheless, the Agency is likely to have to absorb significant cost in the early 

years, e.g. the set up legal costs for a Euro Medium Term Note (‘EMTN’) 
programme. The Agency is not anticipated to break even until it has reached 
~£2 billion in bond issuance, which is not likely to happen until year 3, post 
launch. 

 
1.10.9 Accordingly, the Agency is expected to spend between £3.5 and £4 million of 

its capital prior to breakeven. As the Agency moves into profit, this expense 
would effectively be recovered 

 
1.10.10 Once breakeven is achieved, the platform should be scalable, without 

commensurate increases in costs, and with long term visibility over revenues. 
 
1.10.11 Some cost estimates have been included in the financials to deal with 

possible business development, particularly a Commercial Paper Programme 
 
1.10.12 Any business development should be subject to an appropriate 

business case at that point in time, so any estimates should be viewed as 
indicative. 

 
1.11 Key Risks and Related Mitigants 
 
1.11.1 There are 5 key risks identified in the model: 

o It may not be possible to raise the required level of operating capital, 
o Local Authority demand for the Agency may not materialise, 
o Market pricing, for any bond issuance, may not be attractive, 
o The PWLB may reduce the margin over Gilts sufficiently to render the 

Agency an unattractive choice for Local Authority borrowing, and 
o The Agency may not be able to attract personnel of sufficient calibre on a 

timely basis 
 
1.11.2 Each of these is dealt with in more detail in Section 9, nevertheless, it worth 

sizing the resources at risk in the executive summary. (Resource at risk 
excludes sunk costs.) 

 

Agenda Item 4b

Page 86



 

11 

 

1.11.3 The ability to raise operating capital will become clear during the mobilisation 
phase. If it is not possible to raise a sufficient equity, the corporate structuring 
related costs are not required, so the resource at risk is £400 thousand or 
less. 

 
1.11.4 The level of Local Authority demand should be kept under constant review, 

particularly in the mobilisation phase. If the level of demand isn’t sufficient, 
during the mobilisation phase, then the project should consider aborting. 
Nevertheless, resources at risk, up to January 2016 are estimated between 
£400 thousand, if abort happens before the corporate structure established, to 
£2 million, being mobilisation costs plus one year’s operating expense.  

 
1.11.5 If market pricing proves unattractive, it is likely that this will evolve through the 

syndicate process and, therefore, that legal and ratings fees will have to be 
added to the preceding, as the EMTN programme will have been set up, 
ratings sought etc., so the resource at risk moves to ~£3.0 million.  

 
1.11.6 The PWLB may reduce its rates, rendering any bond issuance unattractive. 

Given the impossibility of predicting when that may happen, it is difficult to 
estimate the level of resource put at risk, other than where it might match the 
above in terms of timing. (If it occurs after a bond has been issued, trail fees 
on the bond, aligned with cost reduction, may mitigate the risk.) 

 
1.11.7 The Agency may not be able to attract staff: On balance, this is viewed as 

unlikely and availability of interim staff may mitigate. Nevertheless, this may 
be a risk to the cost estimates 

 
1.12 Capital Structure 
 
1.12.1 Operating Capital is required to meet on-going expenses: It is recommended 

that the Agency raise £8 to 10 million in common equity.  
 
1.12.1.1 The number, of £8 to £10 million is based on the estimated net costs to 

break even, of £3.5 to £4 million, with a conservative buffer added to cover 
cost overruns / timing delays. 

 
1.12.1.2 To the extent that such capital may not be required prior to breakeven, it 

may be used for business development purposes, subject to business 
case approval. 

 
1.12.1.3 In order to compensate early shareholders, it is further recommended that 

a dividend policy be implemented, providing an economic level of return. 
This should be reviewed in detail as part of the capital raising process  

 
1.12.2 Risk Capital is required to provide first loss protection in the event of a 

borrower default. It is recommended that the Agency structure risk capital, in 
the amount of 3 to 5%, as holdbacks from Local Authority borrows. 

 
1.12.2.1 Such an approach should add 3 basis points, or less, to the cost of loans, 

and is materially cheaper than raising subordinated risk capital separately.  
 

Agenda Item 4b

Page 87



 

12 

 

1.12.2.2 In addition, it removes the risk of mismatch between the level of capital 
required, based on Local Authority loans, and subordinated Capital 
available, which is raised independently. 

 
1.13 Governance structure 
 
1.13.1 During the mobilisation phase, control of the project is paramount. 
 
1.13.2 Accordingly, it recommended that the project sponsors, the LGA, retain 

control of the project. 
 
1.13.3 The project should be lead by a Project Board, with 5 to 7 representatives, 

including Local Authority Finance Directors, or their equivalent, and LGA 
executives. 

 
1.13.4 The existing CFO and Political Leaders groups should retain their current 

advisory roles, which have proved very helpful. 
 
1.13.5 Whilst the Board of the Agency (“Board”) shall be appointed during the 

mobilisation phase, it shall not become established until formal launch. This 
Board may act as a shadow Board during mobilisation and should expect to 
be consulted accordingly. 

 
1.13.6 Post launch, the Board should take control of the Agency. (Launch is defined 

as the point in time, which the Agency begins making commitments, for 
example appointing ratings agencies or syndicate banks, and should be 
decided by the Project Board in consultation with the Board of Directors.) 

 
1.13.7 The Board itself should consist of up to 7 Non-Executives, including 3 

elected Local Authority representatives, 2 Local Authority Finance Directors 
and 2 ‘experts’, one each from capital markets and risk backgrounds. 

 
1.13.8 Candidates for the Board should be vetted by a Nominations Committee, 

with candidates for election undergoing a screening process, and Finance 
Directors / Experts being recommended by the Nominations Committee. 

 
1.13.9 During the mobilisation phase, consideration needs to be given to 

appropriate safeguards, to ensure that the Agency stays true to its original 
mandate. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Agenda Item 4b

Page 88



 

13 

 

2 Public Interest Case 
 
2.1 The key conclusions emerging from a review of the Public Interest Case are    

as follows: 
 
2.1.1 Potential savings to Local Authorities 

- The Agency should be able to reduce the cost of borrowing for fixed term 
loans. The level of savings will depend upon ratings / structure. 

- Savings should increase as the bond issuance programme matures and 
Agency costs are spread over a larger volume of loans. 

- Potential additional savings from a Commercial Paper Programme. 
- Early repayment penalties should be lower than the PWLB’s. 

 
2.1.2 Increased competition and diversity of funding sources 

- Local Authorities rely on the PWLB for 75% of term borrowing. 
- Other sources are unlikely to displace the PWLB’s position. 
- The risk exists that the PWLB may change lending practices / pricing. 
- The establishment of an Agency will materially mitigate the risk, inherent in 

over-reliance on a single funding source and introduce increased 
competition. 
 

2.1.3 Increased transparency and monitoring 
- An Agency would place increased scrutiny on Local Authority finances, 

both by peers and the financial markets. 
- Peer pressure has proven most effective, in other countries, in raising 

Local Authority creditworthiness. 
- The Agency would incentivise Local Authorities to improve their credit 

worthiness in order to access funding at lower cost. 
 
2.1.4 Centre of Expertise 

- The Agency will be a centre of expertise, intersecting between capital 
markets and Local Authority financing. 

- The Agency will have the opportunities to: 
o Support research in Local Government financing questions. 
o Transfer knowledge via regular publications and seminars. 
o Consider issues of primary economic and financial importance to 

Local Authorities. 
 

2.1.5 Tailored flexibility – a natural progression from a Centre of Expertise 
- Local Authorities have £84 billion in Long Dated Liabilities and £37 billion 

in short dated assets, (£26 billion of which is in Authorities with offsetting 
assets and liabilities). 

- Local Authorities bear the risks, and financing costs, inherent in this 
maturity mismatch. 

- Over time, the Agency could develop, advisory and tailored lending 
services, and potentially facilitate intra-Local Authority lending. 

- Such arrangements could enable a reduction in the volume of maturity 
mismatch, currently managed within individual Local Authorities. 

 
  

Agenda Item 4b

Page 89



 

14 

 

2.2 General Background 
 
2.2.1 Currently the vast majority of Local Authority finance, approximately 75%, 

comes directly from Central Government through the PWLB.  
 
2.2.2 Given the objectives and expertise of Central Government, this results in 

lending to authorities being guided by macroeconomic considerations (such 
as the overall level of Local Authority borrowing and its overall cost of capital) 
rather than microeconomic ones, (creditworthiness of individual borrowers, 
economic value of individual projects etc.).  

 
2.2.3 This framework is in stark contrast to private sector lending where loans and 

borrowers are assessed on an individual basis first and foremost. It is also 
problematic for two key reasons.  

 
2.2.3.1 Individual Local Authority borrowing is subject to significant regulatory risk 

where the amounts available and the terms under which it is available vary 
for macroeconomic policy reasons that are largely unpredictable and 
outside Local Authority control. 

  
2.2.3.2 There is little oversight by the lender of individual loans so there are few 

controls in place to identify weak credits or poor financial management and 
processes. 

  
2.2.4 Given the relationship between Central and Local Government and the 

importance of localism, it is hard to think of changes to the current PWLB 
arrangements that would create adequate oversight without creating, or being 
seen to create, Central Government interference in local affairs.  

 
2.2.5 Thus this report proposes arrangements where regulatory risk is mitigated 

and individual oversight is improved by allowing Local Authorities to borrow 
from financial markets through their own debt agency.  

 
2.2.6 In particular it proposes frameworks where Local Authorities are financially 

exposed to one another – to some degree. This creates strong incentives for 
the financial expertise that exists in this sector to be used to monitor and 
improve the performance of weaker borrowers.  

 
2.2.7 This report also propose that the Agency helps to co-ordinate this expertise 

and improve both debt and treasury management of Local Authorities to the 
benefit of the wider economy.  

 
2.3 Potential savings to Local Authorities 

 
2.3.1 Term Lending 
 
2.3.1.1 The original public interest case was largely founded on the premise that 

issuing bonds through a collective agency could reduce funding costs to 
local authorities.  

 

Agenda Item 4b

Page 90



 

15 

 

2.3.1.2 The price at which Bonds can be issued, and by default the interest rates 
at which loans can be granted to Local Authorities, will be driven by market 
pricing at the time of issue. 

 
2.3.1.3 Nevertheless, there now exists increased market evidence, which can help 

guide considerations in this respect. The more interesting to note are 
Transport for London (TfL) and Manchester and Cambridge Universities 
and Network Rail. 

 
- TfL, rated Aa2 / AA+ / AA, has been running a very successful Bond 

programme since July 2012. Their first bonds issued at 98 basis points 
over Gilts, which reduced to 58 basis points over Gilts in September 
20131. 

- Manchester University Aa1 and Cambridge University, rated AAA, have 
both issued Bonds at 60 basis points over Gilts.  

- Secondary market trading has seen TfL priced at 50 basis points over 
Gilts and Manchester and Cambridge Universities trading as low as 37 
to 45 basis points over Gilts. 

- Network Rail, which benefits from an explicit Government guarantee, 
issues and prices around 30 basis points above Gilts. 

 
2.3.1.4 It is important to note that the first issue of the Agency is likely to price 

higher than it should expect once it has established track record. (This 
‘new issue premium’ is somewhat mitigated, at this stage, as other 
European agencies have established municipal bond agencies as an asset 
class.)  

 
2.3.1.5 In addition, any bonds will be penalised, in terms of pricing, based on 

complexity, failure to issue benchmark sizes i.e. £250m to £300m and 
rating. Section 4 on Investor Demand contains detail on more 
comparators. 

 
2.3.1.6 In effect, though, these prices effectively set the boundaries of where the 

Agency is likely to price, i.e. somewhere between 58 and 30 basis points 
over Gilts, once pricing has become normalised and the Agency 
overcomes the new issuer effect. 

 
2.3.1.7 Where the Agency’s bonds ultimately price will be determined by its 

relative attractiveness versus other issuers and market pricing. 
 
2.3.1.8 Prima facie, the most comparable issuer currently in the market is TfL, 

which priced at 58 basis points over Gilts1.  At 58 basis points over Gilts, 
the Agency will be able to deliver savings of approximately 5 basis points. 

 
2.3.1.9 With appropriate credit enhancements and a sufficiently robust structure, 

however, the Agency should aim to attract a higher rating than TfL. These 
credit enhancements are discussed in more detail in Section 4. 
Nevertheless, options considered include the following: 

                                                        

1
 On 7

th
 March 2014, TfL reportedly issued a 50-year, £370 million bond at 55 basis points over the reference Gilt. 

Agenda Item 4b

Page 91



 

16 

 

- An appropriate credit and liquidity risk process 
- Risk Capital 
- A Joint and Several Guarantee 
- Diversification of exposures 
Taken in combination and appropriately executed, these enhancements 
should enable the Agency to target an AAA / Sovereign like rating. 

 
2.3.1.10 Were the Agency to attract such a rating and with an appropriate structure 

and execution, it could expect, over time, better pricing than TfL. 
Discussions with banks have placed estimates of the resultant savings 
varying from 5 to 10 basis points at the low end to Network Rail like pricing 
at the high end i.e. 20+ basis points below TfL. 

  
2.3.1.11 Accordingly, the potential savings from the Agency to Local Authority 

borrowers could increase to approximately 20 to 25 basis points.  
 
2.3.1.12 These numbers increase as the Agency matures and is able to spread its 

operating costs over a larger volume of loans. The starting assumption is 
that operating costs will add 10 basis points to loan cost in the early years 
as the portfolio of lending is built up. It should be possible to reduce this in 
later years. 

 
2.3.2 Commercial Paper Programme 
 
2.3.2.1 Local Authorities currently lend £2.9 billion to each other, on a short-term 

basis. Much of this will be through brokers, who will charge a fee. Other 
than intra-Local Authority lending, volumes of short-term borrowings 
appear to be quite modest, at £0.5 billion.  

 
2.3.2.2 In addition to supplying term financing to Local Authorities, the Agency 

should consider, in due course, implementing a Commercial Paper 
Programme. Such a programme would deal with short term borrowing 
requirements, typically in maturities of 3 months to 1 year. Individual 
authorities, which have implemented such programmes, have seen their 
short dated funding costs reduce below base rates, to 40 basis points, or 
less. 

 
2.3.2.3 Incremental products and services should be subjected to appropriate 

analysis and a separate business case developed for approval, at the 
appropriate time. 

 
2.3.3 Early repayment penalties 
 
2.3.3.1 Early repayment penalties are of significant concern to Local Authorities. 

  
2.3.3.2 The PWLB Circular 155 on Lending Arrangements notes: The terms for 

accepting an early repayment are designed to protect the National Loans 
Fund. The total amount payable in order to redeem a debt is the present 
value (PV) of the remaining payments of principal and interest, calculated 
on normal actuarial principles. PWLB Technical Note, issued December 
2012, notes: For early repayment rates the minimum par yield for each 

Agenda Item 4b

Page 92



 

17 

 

average life band is calculated. Next, a margin is subtracted. For PWLB 
and NLF loans this margin is currently 11 basis points at all maturities.  

 
2.3.3.3 The Agency would be required to adopt a similar principle to the PWLB, 

with respect to protecting the Agency. However, the Agency’s application 
of that principle should result in lower penalties. 

 
2.3.3.4 In the event of early repayment, the Agency would have to either: 

- Retire the debt; repurchase bonds issued in the secondary market,  
- Replace the asset; purchase sufficient Gilts of an equivalent maturity to 

the loan being repaid, in order to fund the repayment of the related 
bond. 

 
2.3.3.5 The main variable, which would impact repayment penalties, is the 

movement in Gilt yields, from the point in time at which the loan was made 
to the point in time in which it is repaid. On this variable, there should be 
no difference between the PWLB and the Agency. 

 
2.3.3.6 However, the Agency’s repayment rates should be lower, simply because 

it will charge a lower margin over Gilts for Local Authority lending, and, 
therefore, the volume of future repayments of principal and interest will be 
lower. 

 
2.3.3.7 In addition, it will not adjust discount rates and rely purely on market 

pricing to determine repayment penalties. The margin subtracted by the 
PWLB from the discount rate, will have the effect of increasing the amount 
repayable. 

 
2.3.3.8 Nevertheless, potentially offsetting these will be the secondary market 

performance of any bonds issued, which may make retiring the debt either 
more or less expensive, depending upon whether the bond’s margin over 
Gilts has narrowed or widened. (The margin over Gilts is expected to 
narrow, making retiring the debt more expensive.) In addition, it may prove 
difficult to repurchase bonds in the desired quantities or at a price, which is 
attractive. This should not impact the cost of replacing the asset i.e. buying 
Gilts. 

 
2.3.3.9 As the Agency will have to use market pricing in order to calculate early 

repayment penalties, Local Authority borrowers who wish to repay early 
will not be able to have the amount of the repayment penalty 
communicated immediately, as they can with the PWLB. In addition, there 
may be a degree of risk in the amount until the required underlying 
transactions have been executed. Nevertheless, this process should 
deliver savings to Local Authorities. 

 
2.3.3.10 Whereas the PWLB will only allow transfer of loans in the event of Local 

Government reorganisation, the Agency should be relaxed about the 
transfer of loans, subject to the transferee meeting the Agency’s credit 
requirements, introducing the opportunity to reduce costs further. 

Agenda Item 4b

Page 93



 

18 

 

2.4 Increased competition amongst / diversification of funding sources 
 

2.4.1 A high level breakdown of Long Term UK Local Authority Borrowing, as of 
March 2013, is as follows: 

 
- PWLB       £63.4 billion 75% 
- Banks and other financial institutions   £11.4 billion 13% 
- Public Markets, Securities Issued   £  4.4 billion   5% 
- Other       £  4.8 billion   7%  
(In addition, Local Authorities lend each other approximately £0.9 billion, long 
term.) 

 
2.4.2 Its relatively competitive pricing and flexibility i.e. the ability to draw down 

loans at very short notice, in varying maturities, drive the PWLB’s dominant 
market share in Local Authority lending. Nevertheless, it does carry all of the 
risks of a monopoly supplier. 

 
2.4.3 Local Authorities do have other borrowing options available, but, realistically, 

none of them remotely threaten the PWLB’s dominant position. 
- Bond issuance: the ability to issue regularly in benchmark sizes is only 

available to a handful of authorities.  
- Only the Greater London Authority and TfL have issued Bonds in the last 

few years, no councils. 
- Bank lending:  Likely to come under increasing pricing pressure as CRD IV 

is implemented. 
- Other sources may become opportunistically available to Local Authorities, 

such as borrowing from the EIB. 
 
2.4.4 Should Local Government be concerned by the PWLB’s dominant market 

position?  
 

2.4.5 Over-reliance on the PWLB carries significant regulatory risk, insofar as the 
rate charged will be influenced by political considerations. The PWLB has a 
long history of changing the amount, accepted counterparties, and the rate at 
which it lends to Local authorities. For example, in 1955 the PWLB suddenly 
switched from an open access policy to become only a lender of last resort 
requiring a rapid and costly change in local authority borrowing practices. 

 
2.4.6 Generally, observers suggest that most of these changes have taken place as 

means of controlling overall Local Authority borrowing in line with Central 
Government objectives, rather than an underlying wish to alter the operation 
of the PWLB2.   

 
2.4.7 These sudden and largely unexpected changes in PWLB lending policy have 

imposed significant costs on Local Authorities and has, for example, required 
them to keep open other borrowing channels at some cost to themselves in 
order to protect themselves from sudden funding shortages.  

 

                                                        

2
 See for example “Local Authority Borrowing” H Page  1985 

Agenda Item 4b

Page 94



 

19 

 

2.4.8 This is illustrated by the following brief history of PWLB lending policy 
 

Period PWLB Policy Suggested reason for 
Policy 

1919-
1939 

Loans only to smaller authorities (rateable 
value less than £200 thousand)   

Restricted funds available to 
PWLB 

1945-
1952 

Open access to PWLB, but authorities 
prohibited from borrowing from other 
sources 

To control overall borrowing 
in a period of large capital 
demand 

1952-
1955 

Open access to PWLB and other sources  

1955-
1963 

PWLB lender of last resort only  Large-scale PWLB 
borrowing seen as interfering 
with government monetary 
and credit policy 

1964-
1982 

Access to a quota of longer term (10 year) 
loans in return for a significant cut in short 
term borrowing (LOLR still available at a 
higher interest rate) 

Concern over high level of 
short term market borrowing 
by Local Authorities 

1982- Quota raised to point where effectively all 
borrowing could be undertaken through 
PWLB quota. Minimum maturity reduced to 
3 years 

Central government concern 
over reduced capital 
expenditure during period of 
revenue restrictions 

 
2.4.9 As noted in each Circular, published by the PWLB, detailed lending 

arrangements, “HM Treasury reserves the right to alter formulae, margins and 
or other parameters used in the calculation of the rates for PWLB fixed loans 
and variable rate loans, exceptionally without notice.” 

 
2.4.10 Local Authorities in the UK, should collectively and individually, take a view on 

whether these risks are acceptable, as part of their determination of whether 
or not to establish an Agency.  

 
2.4.11 A successfully established agency, with a significant footprint amongst Local 

Authorities and Investors, would significantly mitigate the risks.  
 
2.5 Increased transparency and monitoring  
 
2.5.1 Whilst the PWLB is generally a quick and efficient source of finance for Local 

Authorities, it is opaque and is undertaken without the normal level of scrutiny 
that such lending would attract.  
 

2.5.2 In contrast, the Agency would require a rigorous and transparent credit 
process. Such a credit process would both underpin the Agency’s credit rating 
and support the ability of Local Authorities to give Joint and Several 
Guarantees. 

 
2.5.3 The Prudential Code and statutory underpinnings of Local Authority finances, 

provide a high level of comfort about their overall state. Nevertheless, it would 
be wrong to be complacent. There is a level of inherent risk, which the Agency 
could help mitigate. 

Agenda Item 4b

Page 95



 

20 

 

 
2.5.4 In an interview in 2012, Lars Andersen, who founded Kommuninvest, the 

Swedish Local Government Agency, noted the following:  
 

“A collective agency for the local public sector, owned by the local public 
sector, puts a great responsibility on that sectorR to improve and maintain a 
good creditworthiness. This can be done by only accepting local authorities 
with good financial order into the agency and to survey the situation of the 
existing members in the agency. This puts a substantial peer pressure on 
local authorities, which has proven to be more effective than central 
government supervision. It will create a situation where the non-members can 
see that members are getting a stable access to cost-efficient borrowing and 
hence the non-members will strive to improve their financial situation so that 
they can be members.”  
 

2.5.5 Accordingly, the creation of the Agency would significantly increase the 
transparency of Local authority borrowing and create greater scrutiny of the 
borrowing both by Local authorities of each other and by financial markets. 
(Since the structure of the Agency will result in the borrowing costs of each 
authority being related to the performance of all the other authorities that use 
the Agency, there will be greater peer scrutiny.)  
 

2.5.6 In the UK, there are over 400 entities, including, Councils, Fire Authorities and 
Police Authorities, whose levels of borrowing and investments are tracked by 
CLG. Credit hurdles would, initially, prevent some from being able to access 
borrowing from the Agency. Nevertheless, the establishment of the Agency 
would begin to set benchmarks for credit strength, and implement significant 
incentives for the weaker Local Authorities to rise to the standards of the 
highest. 

 
2.5.7 Local Authorities, themselves, would welcome greater transparency and 

scrutiny of their borrowings as a means of ensuring best practice and best 
value for money for Council Tax payers. 

 
2.6 Centre of Expertise 
 
2.6.1 In addition to Loans of £84 billion, the UK Local Government sector also has 

£37 billion in Investments, (including £1.6 billion in Gilts), of which £26 billion 
of investments, is held in Local Authorities with offsetting liabilities 
 

2.6.2 Whilst the focus of this exercise is predominantly on the 80 basis points 
margin over Gilts, charged by the PWLB, Local Authority gross financing 
costs, and net after investment income, are clearly more material. Whilst 
beyond the scope of this review, the numbers involved are likely to be 
substantial, with gross estimated financing costs in the region of £3 to £4 
billion and investment income, somewhat less, at around £0.5 billion. 

 
2.6.3 Collectively, Local Authorities would have a similar profile to a relatively 

complex financial institution, in terms of the risks being managed, ranging 
from credit risk, investment risk, maturity risk, interest rate risk etc.  

 

Agenda Item 4b

Page 96



 

21 

 

2.6.4 To help manage these risks, individual local authorities employ professional 
finance and treasury teams, in addition to being able to hire consultants who 
specialise in this sector. 

 
2.6.5 Nevertheless, there are potentially significant benefits to the sector from being 

able to leverage a centre of expertise, whose primary raison d’etre was to 
help manage financing risk, and mitigate its costs, for Local Authorities.  

 
2.6.6 Some initiatives are already in place in this regard, for example collective 

investment vehicles for council pension funds. 
 
2.6.7 It is worth noting what Kommuninvest does in this regard: 
 

- Research: Kommuninvest supports research in matters related to local 
government financing and related questions.  Universities and other research 
institutions can once a year apply for grants to specific projects. The result of 
the supported research is communicated to Swedish local authorities.  

 
- Transfer of Knowledge: Kommuninvest has taken on a role to inform the 

local authorities and to “teach” them about financial markets, financial 
instruments and risk management. To support this activity, Kommuninvest 
publishes magazines and newsletters, in addition to running seminars. 

 
- Governance Structure: Kommuninvest’s Credit Research & Financial 

Committee: 
o Considers issues of primary economic and financial importance to the 

municipal sector. 
o Deals with issues regarding future assessments relating to the financial 

position of the municipal sector, and national economic developments 
 

2.6.8 Whilst, one could argue that a plethora of initiatives and organisations already 
occupy this space, it is not clear that a single independent organisation has a 
mandate to specifically address its challenges. 

 
2.6.9 The Agency will have to build the relevant expertise to support its core 

activities, in any event. The ability to, at a minimum, add an authoritative voice 
to the debate and build appropriate solutions in due course, could potentially 
add significant value. 

 
2.7 Tailored flexibility, a natural progression from Centre of Expertise 

 
2.7.1 A memorandum, in 2009, from the PWLB to the Communities and Local 

Government Select Committee noted “The Board's function is to provide 
capital finance to local authorities, not to be an active treasury management 
counterparty.” 
 

2.7.2 Whilst the memo was in response to the introduction of early repayment 
penalties, this sentence neatly encapsulates what should be a fundamental 
philosophical difference between a Local Authority controlled Municipal Bonds 
Agency and the PWLB. 

 

Agenda Item 4b

Page 97



 

22 

 

2.7.3 The PWLB provides a very efficient service to UK Local Authorities, but its 
role should be viewed as that of a third party service provider, with its own 
mandate and priorities. 

 
2.7.4 In contrast, the Agency could over time adopt the role of “active treasury 

management counterparty”. 
 
2.7.5 What does this actually mean?  
 
2.7.6 What is striking about Local Authority Balance Sheets Is the mismatch 

between the predominantly long dated liabilities and, equally, predominantly 
short dated liquid assets. Some of those assets will be earmarked for 
repayment of long dated liabilities, yet the respective interest rates are likely 
to bear no comparison.  

 
2.7.7 In effect, the risks arising from maturity mismatches sit entirely within Local 

Authorities and their mitigation will depend upon the effectiveness of their 
treasury and finance functions.  

 
2.7.8 The Agency should be in a position to provide advisory support to treasuries 

and should aim to help intermediate longer-term intra Local Authority lending, 
potentially leveraging bond programmes. 

 
2.7.9 As the Agency develops, it will want, and Local Authorities will demand, that it 

put in place more flexible borrowing arrangements, for example, to allow for 
loans with an annual repayment profile or a repayment profile linked with 
expected income flows. (The Agency is unlikely ever to be able to compete, 
and nor should it want to, with the PWLB, in terms of being able to provide 
loans at 48 hours’ notice at varying maturities, volumes etc.) 

 
2.7.10 The impact of this on the Agency is that it will, in due course. need more 

sophisticated hedging strategies and, potentially, implement sinking funds 
where there are mismatches between bond and loan maturities. 

 
2.7.11 This will require a significant upgrade in both IT and personnel, as the Agency 

develops appropriate treasury management practices. This only becomes 
possible when the Agency has covered more of the maturity profile and 
developed a broader client base, i.e. to justify the underlying investment and 
to reduce individual transaction costs, the Agency would need a flow of 
transactions. 

 
2.7.12 This would be a natural progression for the Agency and one, which other 

Agencies have already undergone. 
 
2.7.13 However, over time, the potential for Local Authority financing becomes 

transformative as management of maturity mismatches can increasingly be 
absorbed within the Agency.  

Agenda Item 4b

Page 98



 

23 

 

3 Local Authority Demand 
 
5.1 The key conclusions emerging from a review of Local Authority Demand are 

as follows: 
 

3.1.1 Level and sources of debt 
- The PWLB is the lender of choice for most Local Authorities, with 75% of 

total lending, but there are also significant levels of Bank Financing, at 
14%, including Lender Option, Borrower Option (LOBO) type loans. 

- Local Authorities can only borrow for capital programmes, and are 
generally financially strong. 

- A review of high level statistics on levels of Local Authority borrowing 
versus assets, would suggest that a significant number could borrow from 
the Agency. 

- As Agency pricing should be lower than the PWLB, for term lending, it is 
likely that a significant number of Local Authorities would find it attractive. 
 

3.1.2 Future Appetite for the Agency 
- Refinancing PWLB Debt 

o The PWLB loan maturity profile, would suggest that up to £1.7 billion of 
borrowing would need to be repaid or refinanced annually. 

o Some Local Authorities are choosing to repay debt, but pressures on 
finances would suggest that significant volumes of refinancing are 
required. 

- Refinancing Bank Debt 
o Bank lending may be refinanced, particularly if Bank margins increase.  
o (LOBOs account for over £7Bio of Local Authority borrowing and may 

be subject to interest rate rises as rates go up.) 
- New Debt 

o New debt is likely to be required for 
o Highways and infrastructure projects, and 
o House building and as a result of Demographic trends. 

 
3.1.3 Immediate demand for the Agency 

- The LGA surveyed 132 English councils via email to ascertain their 
borrowing requirements.  The headline details are: 

o 50 responses identifying requirements for ~£5 billion of refinancing 
and borrowing over the coming three years. 

o Only three had “no interest” and four had no borrowing needs. 
o No potential borrowers have a significant barrier to using the 

Agency, other than amending treasury strategies. 
 
3.1.4 Estimates of aggregate demand 

- Estimates of aggregate demand are not generally available, nevertheless, 
based upon a review of the above, it is likely that annual Local Authority 
borrowing over the next 3 years will be in the range of £3 to 5 billion 
annually.  

- The business case is based upon achieving a 25% market share of the 
lower estimate of annual borrowing requirement. 

Agenda Item 4b

Page 99



 

24 

 

3.2 Level and Sources of Debt 

3.2.1 Local Authorities’ debt totals £84.2 billion, of which £83.7 billion is “long term”.  
As set out in the chart below, 75 per cent is owed to the PWLB, 14 per cent to 
banks and financial institutions and only 5 per cent to the capital markets. 
“Other sources” comprise a wide variety of lenders such as the Government, 
other local authorities, households and companies.3  

 

 
 
3.2.2 Despite changes to the PWLB rates, discussed elsewhere in this report, most 

authorities have continued to treat the PWLB as the lender of first resort 
because obtaining a loan from the PWLB is so easy and the maturity of the 
loans on offer is so flexible.  
 

3.2.3 However, the changes prompted some authorities to make greater use of 
bank loans.  As can be seen, the relatively high costs of undertaking a capital 
markets transaction and the fact that few local authorities have sufficient 
borrowing needs to justify those costs has severely limited funding via the 
capital markets. 

 
3.2.4 There is wide variation in the levels of local authority indebtedness.  As local 

authorities can only borrow for capital purposes, a crude measure is the ratio 
of borrowing to assets as shown in 3.2.5.  Many district councils have 
transferred their housing stock to other providers and therefore have limited 
capital investment needs and low levels of debt. 

 

                                                        

3
 Source: CLG statistical datasets https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/live-tables-on-local-

government-finance 

75%

14%

5%

6%

Sources of Local Authority Long Term Borrowing

Public Works Loan Board

Banks and Financial Institutions

Bonds and Securities

Other sources

Agenda Item 4b

Page 100



 

25 

 

3.2.5 Long Term Borrowing as a Proportion of Assets4 
 

 
 
3.2.6 Although the Agency’s internal credit processes and market discipline are 

likely to curtail access to the Agency where a local authority has high debt 
levels, it is clear that there would remain a significant number of local 
authorities that could be eligible to borrow via the Agency. 

 

3.2.7 Furthermore, the reliance on the PWLB demonstrates that there should be a 
significant opportunity for the Agency to diversify local authority sources of 
funding given that that the PWLB should prove more expensive than the 
Agency once the Agency is established. 

 

                                                        

4
 Source: CLG, derived from statutory data returns supplied by local authorities. 

London 

Boroughs

Metropolitan 

Boroughs

Unitary 

Authorities

County 

Councils

District 

Councils

Other 

Authorities

No debt 2 0 1 0 61 14

0-5 1 1 1 0 21 5

05-10 2 0 2 0 13 7

10-20 9 2 12 50 17 16

20-30 12 16 16 10 19 9

30-40 6 4 4 8 28 13

40 and above 1 3 13 4 42 27

Type of Authority (number)

L
o

n
g

 T
e
rm

 

B
o

rr
o

w
in

g
 a

s
 a

 

P
ro

p
o

rt
io

n
 o

f 

A
s
s
e
ts

 (
%

)

Agenda Item 4b

Page 101



 

26 

 

3.3 Future Appetite for the Agency 

3.3.1 Refinancing PWLB Debt 

3.3.1.1 As it matures, debt has to be either repaid or refinanced.  Analysis of 
recent PWLB loans suggests that the average maturity of loans is 

approximately 19 years.
5
  Even if a conservative view of the maturity 

profile is adopted, the minimum level of maturing PWLB debt each year 
would be at least £1.7 billion.  In itself, even if only 50 per cent refinanced 
each year via the Agency, this would be sufficient to enable the Agency to 
become self-sufficient within three years. 

3.3.1.2 PWLB data shows that the amount of debt maturing each year is greater 
than £1.7 billion.  As shown below, setting aside 2011-12 when HRA self-
financing increased local authority debt by around £8.9 billion, even in the 
face of the economic downturn and severe cuts to funding, Local 
Authorities increased PWLB debt by £3.7 billion over the past six years.  
The decision by some authorities to repay debt does not appear to have 
had a significant effect on the overall level of borrowing. 

3.3.1.3 2007-8 to 2012-13 Local Authority PWLB Advances and Repayments 
 

 
 
3.3.1.4 It is increasingly unlikely that many authorities will choose to pay down 

debt rather than refinance, given the pressures they face.  A key area 
where it had been assumed that debt would be paid down is the Housing 
Revenue Account (HRA). 
 

  

                                                        

5
 Source: PWLB monthly loan reports. 

2012-13 2011-12 2010-11 2009-10 2008-09 2007-08

Advances:

English principal authorities (inc GLA) 2,406                   14,838                 3,779                   2,837                   3,862                   7,204                   

Welsh principal authorities 93                         46                         60                         44                         191                       624                       

Scottish principal authorities 560                       775                       943                       1,124                   920                       1,072                   

Others 70                         452                       473                       1,075                   1,387                   1,100                   

Total advances 3,129                   16,111                 5,255                   5,080                   6,360                   10,000                 

Repayments

English principal authorities (inc GLA) 1,074                   6,399                   2,808                   3,411                   4,610                   5,382                   

Welsh principal authorities 44                         45                         170                       168                       453                       572                       

Scottish principal authorities 265                       309                       206                       898                       980                       998                       

Others 161                       577                       153                       236                       209                       212                       

Total repayments 1,544                   7,330                   3,337                   4,713                   6,252                   7,164                   

Total net new borrowing (repayments) 1,585                   8,781                   1,918                   367                       108                       2,836                   

Of which:

Net New Borrowing by Local Authorities 1,676                   8,906                   1,598                   472-                       1,070-                   1,948                   

Agenda Item 4b

Page 102



 

27 

 

3.3.1.5 Government material published in support of HRA self-financing 
suggested that the settlement would allow Local Authorities to pay off debt 
over time.  However, this is increasingly unlikely: 

 
- Most local authorities are facing a housing shortage and temporary 

accommodation is costly to provide and a drain on the Council Tax.6  
Many are seeking to build new homes, which will utilise funds that 
could be used to pay down debt. 

 
- HRA business plans show many authorities will use projected 

surpluses to regenerate and renovate the existing housing stock rather 
than pay down debt. 
 

- The Government has subsequently limited the rent increases that the 
self-financing model assumed would facilitate repayment of debt.  It is 
less likely that surpluses will be sufficient to facilitate significant 
repayment of debt. 

3.3.2 Refinancing Bank Debt 

 

3.3.2.1 The most common loan taken out by local authorities has been “Lender 

Option, Borrower Option” (LOBO) loans.
7
 

 

3.3.2.2 The key feature of a LOBO is that the lender has the option to change the 
interest rate at regular intervals, usually between six months and five 
years, and the borrower has the option to reject and to repay the loan.  
This presents a significant opportunity for the Agency. 

 

3.3.2.3 The attractiveness of LOBOs to borrowers is predicated on stable interest 
rates.  When interest rates increase, the interest rate charged on the 
LOBO will increase because the interest rate is not permanently fixed. 

 

3.3.2.4 Furthermore, many LOBOs were taken out with embedded swaps that 
fixed the interest rates between resets: discussions with banks have 
indicated that most of the swaps have been removed and therefore the 
banks may be losing money on the loans due to the relatively low initial 
interest rates. 

 

3.3.2.5 It is possible that the banks may incentivise repayment of the LOBOs by 
seeking above market interest rates when the option to change the interest 
rate can be exercised, or at the very least, raise rates significantly to 
reflect the banks’ own cost of capital. 

 

                                                        

6
 Temporary Accommodation falls to the General Fund and not the HRA. 

7
 Source: CIPFA Capital and Treasury Statistics, supplied by CIPFA’s Statistical Information Service. 

Agenda Item 4b

Page 103



 

28 

 

3.3.2.6 The Agency is likely to offer lending rates well below those of banks and 
interest rates are expected to rise from 2015.  Therefore, it should be well-
placed refinance LOBOs, as the banks reset interest rates and those rates 
are rejected by Local Authorities. 

 
3.3.2.7 Local Authorities who have taken out LOBOs worth £8.3 billion have been 

identified as set out by type below.
8
  The largest identified borrower has 

total LOBOs greater than £560 million and a second more than £400 
million.  Not all authorities who have taken out a LOBO have been 
identified. 

3.3.2.8 LOBO Borrowing by Type of Authority
9
 

 

 
(Please Note: Authorities that have not been identified as having taken out a LOBO are not included in the table.) 

 

                                                        

8
 Source: CIPFA Capital and Treasury Statistics, supplied by CIPFA’s Statistical Information Service. 

9
 Source: CIPFA Capital and Treasury Statistics, supplied by CIPFA’s Statistical Information Service.  Does not 

include Scottish authorities because CIPFA does not cover Scotland. 

Type of Authority Total Debt

Long Term Debt 

Excluding 

PWLB Total LOBOs

Average 

Proportion of 

Total Long 

Term Debt

Average 

Proportion of 

Non PWLB Debt

County Councils 8,729,529          1,988,450          1,857,455          21% 95%

Crime and Police Authorities 247,959             48,833               48,818               29% 100%

District Councils 972,116             195,194             156,900             30% 87%

Fire Authorities 60,216               4,000                 4,000                 52% 100%

London Boroughs 5,416,029          1,721,220          1,712,887          32% 99%

Metropolitan Boroughs 7,081,301          2,193,792          1,861,125          31% 86%

Unitary Authorities 6,233,354          1,716,332          1,573,461          30% 95%

Welsh Authorities 2,145,565          461,561             415,855             22% 93%

Grand Total 30,886,070         8,329,382          7,630,501          28% 93%

Agenda Item 4b

Page 104



 

29 

 

 

3.3.3 New Debt 
 

3.3.3.1 As discussed elsewhere, Local Authorities can only borrow for capital 
purposes, not to fund revenue expenditure.  Therefore, cuts to Government 
funding cannot directly lead to higher borrowing by Local Authorities seeking 
to close a funding gap. 
  

3.3.3.2 However, there are a number of factors that suggest that Local Authorities 
may issue new debt in the future.  There are two key factors that suggest 
local authorities may increase their borrowing: 

- Highways and Infrastructure 
- House building and as a result of Demographic trends 

 
3.3.3.3 Highways maintenance backlogs are significant and growing.  For example, 

two Councils have publically identified repairs and maintenance backlogs of 
£322 million and over £300 million respectively.  

 
3.3.3.4 Implicit Government funding for highways has been reduced and is likely to 

be cut further in the future; to remedy the backlog it is likely that expenditure 
will have to be capitalised and funded from capital resources such as 
borrowing.   

 
3.3.3.5 Furthermore, many authorities require new highways and infrastructure to 

serve expanding population centres, to tackle congestion, aid regeneration 
and support the economy. 

 
3.3.3.6 The Office of National Statistics has predicted that the country’s population 

will rise.  Furthermore, the birth rate is increasing and the life expectancy of 
older people is increasing.1  This is putting significant pressure on services, 
much of which can only be alleviated with new facilities such as extra-care 
accommodation, new schools and new housing. 

 
3.3.3.7 Given revenue budgets are under pressure, it is unlikely that most 

authorities can finance such expenditure from revenue and thus it is likely 
that some expenditure will need to be capitalised and borrowing will be 
needed to fund at least some of the works. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                        

1
 Source: ONS population estimated and projections. 

Agenda Item 4b

Page 105



 

30 

 

 

 
 
3.4 Immediate Demand for the Agency 

 
3.4.1 This section focuses on the demand amongst English Local Authorities 
 

3.4.2 As set out below, English Local Authorities have debts in excess of £62 billion, 
of which £59 billion is long term. 

3.4.3 Borrowing by English Local Authorities
1
 

 

 
 
 
3.4.4 However, ascertaining current debt levels does not indicate the level of future 

borrowing and refinancing.   
 
3.4.5 To gauge demand for borrowing, the LGA surveyed 132 English councils via a 

short email to ascertain their borrowing requirements.  The headline details are: 
- 50 responded identifying requirements for ~£5 billion of refinancing and 

borrowing over the coming three years. 
- Only three had “no interest” and four had no borrowing needs. 
- None of the potential borrowers have a significant barrier to using the 

Agency.  Most authorities noted that their Treasury Strategies would need to 
be amended to borrow via the Agency. 

 
3.4.6 An attempt has been made to estimate the level of interest exhibited by each 

authority responding to the survey, based on active participation in the LGA’s 
officer working group and content of the response to the survey.   

 
3.4.7 Many authorities within the working group have yet to specify their borrowing 

needs, but even so, 15 authorities with borrowing requirements totalling £3.4 
billion have both specified a borrowing requirement and have exhibited a high 
degree of interest in the Agency.   

                                                        

1
 Source: CLG statistics 

Type of Authority

Temporary 

Loans Securities

Long Term 

Loans

Short Term 

Loans from 

Local 

Authorities

County Councils 76                -               10,246          364              

District Councils 13                65                9,538            234              

GLA -               600              1,900            -               

Isles of Scilly -               -               -               -               

London Boroughs 2                  4                  9,107            141              

Metropolitan Boroughs 79                281              15,231          1,138            

Unitary Authorities 74                12                12,201          434              

Manchester Combined Authority -               -               606              -               

Total 244              962              58,829          2,310            

Agenda Item 4b

Page 106



 

31 

 

 

 
3.4.8 To date, the LGA and its advisors have conducted little marketing activity and 

therefore the level of interested is estimated on a very conservative basis.    
 
3.4.9 The chart below sets out the borrowing requirement identified via the survey by 

type of authority: 
 
3.4.10 Borrowing Requirements of Authorities Surveyed 
 

 
 
3.4.11 As is clear from the above chart, Metropolitan Boroughs and Unitary Authorities 

are potentially the most likely borrowers.  The survey proves that demand for 
borrowing and financing remains strong and is potentially sufficient to support 
the Agency. 

 
3.4.12 It should be noted that most English councils were not surveyed; it is therefore 

likely that the survey underestimates demand and that patterns of demand 
would vary were a comprehensive survey to be undertaken. 

 
3.4.13 Although the level of projected borrowing may seem high, it is not abnormal.  

The chart below analyses borrowing from the PWLB over the past four years, 
excluding the effects of HRA self-financing in 2012.   

 
3.4.14 Even though the period includes a year when PWLB borrowing was abnormally 

low – 2010, when changes to the PWLB rate and elections disrupted borrowing 
- English principal authorities still borrowed nearly £4 billion. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  

 -

 500

 1,000

 1,500

 2,000

 2,500

(£
m
)

Potential Borrowing

Agenda Item 4b

Page 107



 

32 

 

 

3.4.15 PWLB loans 2010-2013* 
 

 
* Two months’ data is presented for 2010 

 
3.4.16 It is also clear from the PWLB data that Scottish and Welsh local authorities 

would benefit from joining the Agency.  The LGA has presented the Agency to 
gatherings of Scottish Local Authorities to raise the Agency’s profile. The ability 
of Scottish and Welsh councils to borrow from an Agency founded on a Joint & 
Several Guarantee is, however, constrained by the absence of the necessary 
statutory powers in Scotland and Wales. This would need to be addressed. 

 
3.4.17 Respondents to the LGA survey and members of the officer working group have 

specified a need for flexibility, which is not available from the PWLB.  Given that 
the loans offered by the PWLB are inherently flexible in terms of maturity and 
type of loan on offer, an effort has been made to clarify this matter.  The key 
issue is more flexible drawdown and redemption of loans. 

 
3.4.18 Regarding drawdowns, a need for “forward starting” loans and facilities that 

allow periodic drawdown of principal have been cited.  The Agency will be able 
to consider such matters in the future, once its capital and operations are 
established. 

 
3.4.19 Regarding redemption, the “punitive” rates charged by the PWLB for early 

repayment of loans has been cited as the issue.  The chart below shows that 
the PWLB charges significant penalty rates for “premature repayment” i.e. early 
redemption, although repayment is often cheaper than continuing the loan.1  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                        

1
 Source: PWLB published rates 

Type of Authority 2010 2011 2012 2013 Grand Total

Crime and Police 15,500,000         106,910,000       125,440,000       21,303,245         269,153,245    

English Principal 249,376,000       2,240,076,602    1,141,499,743    636,260,716       4,267,213,061 

Fire 7,000,000           29,171,000         8,122,000           3,560,000           47,853,000      

GLA 1,000,000,000    807,500,000       1,807,500,000 

Other 18,150,000         68,610,373         759,189              320,000              87,839,562      

Parish and Town 5,372,800           19,165,933         13,867,451         14,368,476         52,774,660      

Scottish 47,413,000         905,300,000       423,860,000       445,700,000       1,822,273,000 

Welsh 34,000                22,650,000         115,200,000       41,284,648         179,168,648    

Grand Total 342,845,800       3,391,883,908    2,828,748,383    1,970,297,085    8,533,775,176 

Agenda Item 4b

Page 108



 

33 

 

 

 
 
 
 
3.4.20 PWLB Early Repayment Charges 
 

 
 
3.4.21 As noted in the Public Interest Case, the Agency should be able to offer 

cheaper early redemption of loans, thereby assisting those authorities looking to 
replace high-interest debt with relatively low interest rate debt. 
 

3.5      Aggregate estimates of demand 
 
3.5.1 Aggregate estimates of demand are not available.  However, in light of the 

above comments, lower and upper bounds of demand can be estimated.   
 
3.5.2 If historic patterns of borrowing were repeated (as set out in paragraph 3.3.1.3), 

demand from English Local Authorities would total around £10 billion over the 
next three years.  This is considered to be at the low end of volume 
expectations. 
 

3.5.3 On rough averages of current Local Authority borrowing, either by averaging 
yearly borrowing or by reference to the average debt maturity, demand would 
average ~£4 billion per year or £12 billion in total over the next three years. If 
demand increases above the average, due to the factors outlined earlier in this 
section e.g. demographics, cheaper refinancing etc., a 25% increase in demand 
would lead to borrowing of around £5 billion per year or £15 billion in total. 

0.00

0.50

1.00

1.50

2.00

2.50

3.00

3.50

4.00

4.50

0
 -

 1

3
 -

 3
.5

5
.5

 -
 6

8
 -

 8
.5

1
0

.5
  

-1
1

1
3

 -
 1

3
.5

1
5

.5
 -

 1
6

1
8

 -
 1

8
.5

2
0

.5
 -

 2
1

2
3

 -
 2

3
.5

]

2
5

.5
 -

 2
6

2
8

 -
 2

8
.5

3
0

.5
 -

 3
1

3
3

 -
 3

3
.5

3
5

.5
 -

 3
6

3
8

 -
 3

8
.5

4
0

.5
 -

 4
1

4
3

 -
 4

3
.5

4
5

.5
 -

 4
6

4
8

 -
 4

8
.5

R
a

te
 (

%
)

Years

PWLB Interest Rates and Premature Repayment 

Costs

Difference

Interest Rate on Maturity Loans

Premature Repayment Rate

Agenda Item 4b

Page 109



 

34 

 

 

4 Investor Demand:  Potential Bond pricing 
 

4.1 The key conclusions from an assessment of Investor Demand are as follows: 
 
4.1.1 Discussions with Banks have confirmed that there is likely to be significant 

demand amongst investors for Local Government Agency Bonds. 
 
4.1.2 Pricing will depend upon a number of variables, over which the Agency will 

have varying levels of control 
� Pricing of comparable bonds in the market. (No control.) 
� New issue premium. (Limited control.) 
� Relative illiquidity, i.e. coverage of the maturity profile. (Limited 

control, initially.) 
� Credit structure and rating. (High level of control.) 
� Size of issuance. (High level of control.) 

 
4.1.3 The Agency’s ability to optimise on those areas over which it has control will be 

key to achieving the best possible price. 
 
4.1.4 The key determinant of pricing will be where comparable bonds are trading at 

the time 
� TfL (Aa2 / AA+ / AA), September 2013 bond priced at 58 basis points 

above Gilts, currently at ~50 basis points in secondary markets1. 
� University of Cambridge (Aaa), Oct. 2012 bond priced at 60 basis 

points above Gilts, currently ~37 basis points in secondary markets. 
� University of Manchester (Aa1) July 2013 bond priced at 80 basis 

points above Gilts, currently ~42 basis points in secondary markets. 
� Network Rail (Aa1/ AAA /AA+), (explicit Government guarantee), 

prices ~30 basis points above gilts, in primary and secondary 
markets. 
 

4.1.5 The new issue premium is inevitable: TfL, in July 2012, saw it first issue price at 
98basis points over Gilts, its next 3 weeks later at 88 basis points over Gilts. 

 
4.1.6 Relative illiquidity: Pricing will improve with a programme of regular bond 

issuance and increased coverage of the maturity profile. 
 
4.1.7 Credit structure and rating: Anything, which the Agency can do to improve its 

relative value position, will have a positive impact on pricing. 
 
4.1.8 Achieving the highest possible credit rating – AAA / Sovereign like may be 

achievable, with the correct structure: 
- Risk capital and liquidity buffers - 3 to 5% subordinated risk capital, 

(comparable with other agencies). 
- Security for bondholders: Joint and Several Guarantee, by far the strongest.  
- Borrower diversification, ideally 20+ Local Authorities. 

  

                                                        

1
 On 7the March 2014, TfL reportedly issued a 50 year, £370 million bond at 55 basis point over the reference Gilt. 

Agenda Item 4b

Page 110



 

35 

 

 

4.1.9 Complex structures will add to pricing. 
 
4.1.10 Size of issuance: Benchmark size, £250m to £300m, attracts the best pricing, 

sub-benchmark size pays a considerable premium. 

4.2 Bond pricing 
 
4.2.1 Perhaps the single most important question in deciding whether to proceed with 

establishing an Agency is: At what level are the Agency’s bonds likely to price? 
 
4.2.2 The simple answer is that will be determined by the market at the time of 

issuance. Whilst it is possible to consider the elements which influence pricing 
and have a view over optimising structures etc., pricing will be heavily 
influenced by market movements at the time, over which the Agency will have 
limited control, and the quality of execution. 

 
4.2.3 It should be borne in mind that the Agency will be a new issuer entering the 

markets. Whilst that carries material benefits in being able to optimise the 
structure and learn lessons from other issuers, there will be a need to be able to 
explain the relative value of the Agency’s bonds compared with those of other 
issuers. 

 
4.2.4 This section lays out ‘the building blocks of value’ i.e. what are the major 

elements, which are likely to influence Bond pricing, and how they might be 
optimised. 

 
4.2.5 Building blocks of value 
 
4.2.6 The pricing of any bond will be primarily dependent upon the following factors: 

- Pricing of comparable bonds in the market, 
- The ‘new issuer premium’ for new issuers, 
- Relative liquidity: the volume of bonds in issue, coverage of the maturity 

profile and level of secondary market trading,  
- Relative credit profile and structure, and  
- Ability to issue in benchmark sizes, i.e. £250 to 300 Million plus  

 
4.2.7 This section deals with each of these blocks, in turn, identifying how the Agency 

can optimise to deliver keener bond pricing. 
 

4.3 Market pricing of comparable bonds 
 
4.3.1 The starting point on market pricing is to look at where comparable bond 

issuers are pricing in the market. Appendix 4 details a number of issuers who 
may be comparable, but for the purposes of this section we concentrate on 4: 
- Network Rail 
- TfL 
- University of Cambridge 
- University of Manchester  

 

Agenda Item 4b

Page 111



 

36 

 

 

4.3.2 Network Rail benefits from a direct and explicit UK Government Guarantee and 
is in effect Sovereign risk, and accordingly has a Sovereign rating. 
 

4.3.3 The company has been active in the market since 2004, with a £40 billion Multi-
Currency Note Programme and £4 billion Euro and US Commercial Paper 
Programmes. 
 

4.3.4 Network Rail, at ~30 basis points above Gilts, effectively sets a floor on any 
pricing expectations.  

 
4.3.5 TfL, as a Local Authority with a regular programme of Bond issuance, is, 

probably, the most comparable issuer to the Agency, with ratings of Aa2 / AA+ / 
AA, (effectively one notch off Sovereign) 

 
4.3.6 It relaunched its Bond Programme in 2012 and has been an active issuer in the 

market since. It has raised £2 billion, since relaunch, all in benchmark sized 
issues. Issues are executed using a £5 billion Euro Medium Term Note 
Programme. In addition, TfL has a £2 billion Commercial Paper Programme.  

 
4.3.7 The attached chart details it various issuances and pricing since 20121 
 

 
 
 
4.3.8 Its success in driving its issuance price down from 98basis points over Gilts to 

58 basis points over Gilts may be partly due to market movements, but also due 
to its highly successful and well executed investor relations programme.  TfL 
Bonds have performed strongly in the Secondary Market and are currently 
priced at 48 to 55 basis points above Gilts. 

 
1 On 7the March 2014, TfL reportedly issued a 50 year, £370 million bond at 55 basis point over the reference Gilt. 

Agenda Item 4b

Page 112



 

37 

 

 

4.3.9 University of Cambridge issued a £350 million bond in October 2012, which 
priced at 60 basis points above Gilts. The bonds currently trade in the 
secondary market around 37 basis points above Gilts. Moody’s gave the bonds 
an Aaa rating, higher than the UK Government. 

 
4.3.10 University of Manchester issued a £300mio bond in July 2013, which priced at 

80 basis points above Gilts. The bonds currently trade in the secondary market 
around 42 basis points above Gilts. The bonds received an Aa1 rating from 
Moody’s, equivalent to the UK Government. 

 
4.3.11 The starting point for pricing discussions on Agency, issuance is likely to be 

where TfL prices at that point in time, assuming it achieves the same rating.  
 
4.3.12 For the Agency to price at or below TfL, it will need to set out a compelling 

relative value proposition. The elements, which would drive a compelling 
relative value proposition, are primarily to do with ratings and structure. 

 
4.3.13 If the Agency has a robust structure, including a Joint & Several Guarantee, and 

achieves AAA / Sovereign like ratings, then it should price materially below TfL. 
Estimates of the reduction vary from 5 to 10 basis points at the lower end of the 
scale to over 20 at the higher end. (A number of commentators have suggested 
that Network Rail like pricing should be possible.) It should be noted, however, 
that it would take time to price in the full reduction, given new issue and relative 
illiquidity premiums. 
 
 

  

Agenda Item 4b

Page 113



 

38 

 

 

4.4 Market Movements 
 
4.4.1 It should be noted that the markets have been seen credit spreads narrow over 

the past year, as shown in the following chart. 
 

 

 

 
 
4.4.2 This has also seen spreads narrow between AAA and AA, non-Gilt, Sterling 

issuers 
 

 
 
 
 

4.4.3 Whilst this narrowing of spreads is instrumental in making the Agency an 
attractive proposition at this point in time, there remains the risk that spreads 
will widen again. 
 

4.4.4 This matter should be kept under review as market movement may impact 
timing and relative competitiveness of bond issuance. 
 

Source: Top 10 Sterling syndicate bank 

Agenda Item 4b

Page 114



 

39 

 

 

4.4.5 Nevertheless, the spread differential between AA and AAA issuers, would imply 
that AA issuers are likely to see a larger impact, reinforcing the need for the 
Agency to achieve AAA / Sovereign like ratings. 
 

 
4.5 Benchmark size 
 
4.5.1 The following charts illustrate the difference in pricing between benchmark and 

sub-benchmark pricing: 
 

 
 
 

4.5.2 The charts illustrate that the Agency will have to pay up to 20 basis points extra 
if it is unable to issue in benchmark sizes. 

 
4.5.3 This is driven by a number of factors: 

- A number of potential investors, approximately half, will not invest in sub-
benchmark sizes 

- Sub-benchmark bonds are less likely to have an active and liquid secondary 
market 

 
4.5.4 It is noteworthy that even with Gilts, there is a 6 basis points difference between 

benchmark and sub-benchmark issuances. 
 
4.5.5 Accordingly, the challenge for the Agency will be to assemble sufficient Local 

Authority demand to fill benchmark issuances. 
 
4.6 Credit / Structure 

 
4.6.1 It is in this area where the Agency will have the most ability to influence pricing. 

 
4.6.2 Credit rating 
 
4.6.2.1 In essence, the Agency should aim to achieve a higher rating than TfL and 

ideally AAA / Sovereign like rating, to achieve best pricing. 
 

4.6.2.2 Local Authorities are generally considered to be strong credits and none 
have defaulted. They operate under a strong statutory framework, the 

Source: Top 10 Sterling syndicate bank 

Agenda Item 4b

Page 115



 

40 

 

 

Prudential Code, and are viewed as having strong Sovereign support, as 
evidenced by the activities of the PWLB.  

 
4.6.2.3 The Agency should continue to build support at Government level, given its 

very strong Public Interest Case. 
 
4.6.2.4 Nevertheless, Local Authorities, which have been rated, have typically 

achieved strong AA, TfL being a case in point, and only exceptionally AAA / 
Sovereign like. 

 
4.6.2.5 The default position of a rating agency on a club deal, where a group of 

Local Authorities came together to issue a bond, would be to assign that 
bond the rating of the lowest rated Local Authority in the club. 

 
4.6.2.6 In order to avoid that consequence, the Agency will need significant credit 

enhancements and, in particular, need to be able to demonstrate adequate: 
 

- Risk Capital / Security 
- Liquidity buffer 
- Credit Process 
- Diversification 

 
4.6.2.7 It is important not to underestimate the challenge inherent in gaining an AAA 

/ Sovereign like rating. 
 

4.6.2.8 Risk Capital / Security 
 
4.6.2.9 Whilst the Outline Business Case envisaged that AAA / Sovereign rating 

could be achieved by having Risk Capital in the amount of 0.6% of the total 
volume of bonds, we believe that a higher level, of 3 to 5%, would be 
prudent. 

 
4.6.2.10 A higher level makes the Agency more comparable with equivalent 

Scandinavian Municipal Bonds Agencies, which will have to reach a 
minimum 3% level under CRD IV and would generally provide additional 
comfort to Investors. 

 
4.6.2.11 Bondholders will require security for their investments. This can be achieved 

by any of the following options: 
- Joint and Several Guarantee 
- Each Local Authority guarantees their own borrowings 
- Fixed charge over the Agency’s assets 
- Floating charge over the Agency’s assets 

 
4.6.2.12 A Joint and Several Guarantee is, by far, the strongest of these options from 

a bondholder’s perspective. (The implications of a Joint and Several 
Guarantee, from a Local Authority perspective, are discussed in Section 7.) 

 
4.6.2.13 A Joint and Several Guarantee materially strengthens the ratings 

discussions. It immediately evidences the sector’s support for the Agency, 

Agenda Item 4b

Page 116



 

41 

 

 

which is an important ratings consideration. In addition, it reduces the risk of 
a bottom up approach to rating, where each borrower is reviewed 
independently, versus a top down approach where the sector is viewed as a 
whole. (There are also structuring advantages, which are dealt with in 
Section 4.) 

 
4.6.2.14 Liquidity Buffer 
 
4.6.2.15 An additional advantage of the higher level of capital is that it could be held 

in UK Gilts with equivalent maturities to the Bonds and be available for repo, 
providing a liquidity buffer for annual coupon payments.  

 
4.6.2.16 An additional liquidity buffer may be required to secure the highest rating. 
 
4.6.2.17 Credit Process 
 
4.6.2.18 The Agency will need a rigorous credit process to satisfy a number of 

stakeholders, in addition to ratings agencies. 
 
4.6.2.19 Guarantors, under a Joint and Several Guarantee, would want comfort that 

their guarantee was for strong underlying credits. 
 
4.6.2.20 Investors will take increasing comfort from knowing that a rigorous credit 

process is in place. This has significantly helped pricing for housing 
association borrowers, for example. 

 
4.6.2.21 More fundamentally, a significant part of the Public Interest Case for the 

Agency is to raise the credit worthiness of individual Local Authorities. The 
combination of inviting in peer and external scrutiny, combined with the 
incentive for lower borrowing costs, can only be enabled by having a 
rigorous credit process. (Please refer to Section 7.2.3 for a more detailed 
discussion on the credit process.) 

 
4.6.2.22 Diversification 
 
4.6.2.23 If the Agency is relying on a handful of Local Authority borrowers, then the 

individual ratings (shadow or otherwise), of those borrowers will exert 
increased influence on the rating of the Agency as a whole. 

 
4.6.2.24 The Agency should aim for as wide a borrower base as is possible for the 

early bond issues. It will be important that this is not done at the expense of 
reduced rigor in the credit process. 

 
4.6.2.25 Over time, as the Agency develops, it may be appropriate to consider limits 

on concentration risk. 
 
 
4.7 Structure 
 

Agenda Item 4b

Page 117



 

42 

 

 

4.7.1 Investors dislike complexity. They will have limited resources to review each 
new Bond deal, so incremental elements which need to be explained, will 
reduce their appetite to invest 

 
4.7.2 Successful issuers typically use Medium Term Note Programmes, which is the 

commonly used framework for issuers who envisage a series of bond issues. 
The key advantages are that the structure works for ongoing bond issuance and 
reduces the need to develop new documentation for each issue.  

 
4.7.3 The Agency would also have the opportunity to tap each issue, i.e. borrow more 

through increasing the size of an issued bond, if desirable, in future funding 
rounds. (The disadvantage is that they cost more to set up, versus a single 
bond issue. However, ongoing costs are lower.)  

 
4.7.4 Bond issuance should be done out of a stand-alone financing vehicle. That 

vehicle would also be responsible for lending to local authorities, managing risk 
capital and Liquidity buffers. (Services, i.e. staff, IT etc. would be supplied out of 
an operating entity.)  

 
4.7.5 Joint and Several Guarantees, or other security, would be for bonds issued 

from that vehicle and the ratings would be for the vehicle as a whole.  
 
4.7.6 A Joint and Several Guarantee enables the Agency to take advantage of the 

Local Authority exemption under the UK Listing Rules. This exemption limits the 
volume of disclosure in the Listing Prospectus. 

 
4.7.7 This allows reduced complexity in the Listing Prospectus, reducing the volume 

of information, which each Local Authority would be required to supply, and 
consequently the level of review required from legal advisors and investors. 
This becomes increasingly critical as the number of borrowers increases, 
carrying the risk that each bond issuance would look different and require 
ongoing detailed review by legal and investors. 

 
4.7.8 If, instead of a Joint & Several Guarantee model, the Agency were to issue on 

the basis that each Local Authority guaranteed its own exposure, then the 
Agency might, nevertheless, be able to take advantage of the Local Authority 
listing exemption. That would, however create additional risk and be subject to 
negotiation with the UK Listing Authority. If security were only provided by a 
fixed or floating charge, that would prevent the Agency from taking advantage 
of the listing exemption and would, de facto, preclude the Agency from being 
able to list on the London Stock Exchange, due to the onerous disclosure 
requirements. That would then require the Agency to consider listing on an 
overseas exchange, such as Jersey or Luxembourg. 

 
4.7.9 The Medium Term Note Programme would require a paying agent and trustee. 

All elements should conform to industry standards and use recognised names, 
including legal advisors, auditors, etc.  

 

Agenda Item 4b

Page 118



 

43 

 

 

4.7.10 The bond issue should avoid complex repayment profiles etc. and simply be 
bullet repayment at final maturity with a fixed coupon. (Underlying loans to 
Local Authorities would need the same profile). 

 
4.7.11 Successful bond issuance programmes typically have a number of banks 

involved in the syndication process. This is important to ensure adequate  
secondary market support. 
 
 

4.8 Relative illiquidity / New issue premium 
 
4.8.1 Relative illiquidity relates to the volume of bonds in issuance and coverage of 

the maturity profile. 
 
4.8.2 TfL’s bond issuance is instructive in this regard. Over a 2 year period they have 

issued £2 billion in bonds, in benchmark sizes over a range of maturities. In 
2012 they issued bonds in maturities of 30 years, 10 years and 5 years, 
whereas in 2013 they issued 2 bonds at 32 year maturities. 

 
4.8.3 A new issue premium is to be expected as the investor base builds out and they 

become familiar with the bonds. 
 
4.8.4 Active secondary market support also ensures ongoing price transparency, 

which helps in both pricing bonds and encouraging investor interest. 
 
4.8.5 An ongoing bond issuance programme and a professional approach to investor 

relations should ensure that these additional spreads tighten within 1 to 2 years. 
 
  

Agenda Item 4b

Page 119



 

44 

 

 

5 Market Entry Strategy 
 
5.1 Key Conclusion on Market Entry Strategy 
 
5.1.1 The previous sections covered in detail the elements, which were likely to 

influence pricing and this should inform the market entry strategy. 
 
5.1.2 The initial bond is likely to price higher, due to the new issue premium, and 

accordingly, should be at benchmark size, £250 million at a minimum and 
ideally £300 million+. It should be noted that even the first bond should target 
delivering savings to Local Authorities, so it should be advantageous to 
participate. 

 
5.1.3 The Agency should target a programme of regular issuance and aim to issue on 

a regular basis in the first couple of years. In the first 12 to 18 months, the 
Agency should cover a range of maturities, in order to build a yield curve and 
deliver liquidity to the market. 

 
5.1.4 Whilst it is not necessary to issue bonds every year to maintain a market 

presence, it would be expected that the Agency would issue bonds every 6 
months, at least in the early stages. 

 
5.1.5 Local Government demand for funding is highest in March / April and then 

again in September / October. The Agency should aim to issue bonds in those 
periods in order to maximise Local Authority participation and reduce the risk of 
not being able to achieve benchmark size / excessive concentration of 
borrowers. 

 
5.1.6 Consideration will need to be given to the optimum maturity profile of the early 

bonds. Two factors will influence this decision, which would need to be 
reviewed at the time: 

- Demand from local authorities, within individual maturities 
- Investor demand, which may vary by maturity 

. 
5.1.7 The ability to issue shorter dated paper is only likely to open up to the Agency 

after a period of time. For these, regulatory treatment and Bank of England repo 
eligibility, and therefore secondary market liquidity, become factors, given the 
potential investor base.  

 
5.1.8 Discussion should be held with the PRA and Bank of England in due course 

when the structure is finalised, and ratings established etc. 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 4b

Page 120



 

45 

 

 

6 Joint & Several Guarantee: Business case 

6.1 This section summarises the benefits of a Joint & Several Guarantee, which 
have been alluded to elsewhere in this report. 

 

6.1.1 The concept is that council borrowers from the Agency would, as well as 
guaranteeing their own borrowings, participate in a collective guarantee of their 
fellow borrowers’ obligations. Shareholders would not be participants in the 
guarantee, unless they are also borrowers. The issues this raises involve a 
balance between the benefit of the guarantee in terms of investors’ perceptions 
of the Agency’s bonds, the Agency’s credit rating, and therefore the price of the 
bonds; and the potential implications for borrowers in the event of the 
guarantee’s being called. As the following Sections 7 and 8 show, the pricing 
benefits are very significant, while the implications for borrowers are more 
nuanced than may at first appear. 
 

6.1.2 The previous outline business case presented a very limited consideration of 
the case for asking borrowers from the Agency to be part of a Joint and Several 
Guarantee arrangement. The key consideration is whether a Joint & Several 
Guarantee can significantly improve investors’ perceptions of the quality of the 
Agency’s bonds, and thus drive down spreads.  It should be noted that whilst 
the Agency may achieve AAA / Sovereign like rating without a Joint & Several 
Guarantee, the Joint & Several Guarantee will have a significant impact on 
driving pricing downwards and is likely to have a greater impact on pricing than 
the rating, i.e. even with strong AA rating, the Agency could expect pricing in 
the ‘conservative’ range. 

 
6.1.3 We have conducted extensive conversations with banks and rating agencies on 

this point. There is a very strong consensus that a Joint & Several Guarantee 
will have a material impact on perceived credit quality, possibly on actual rating, 
and on price. Accordingly, borrowers from the Agency could have a reasonable 
expectation of savings of 20 to 25 basis points, under a Joint & Several 
Guarantee (See Section 8 for detailed calculations.) This represents our best 
and conservative estimate based on the discussions with the financial sector, 
which we have held. 

 
6.2      Bond Structure 

 
6.2.1 There are some other benefits from a Joint & Several Guarantee which are also 

relevant to the attractiveness of the bonds to investors. Such a model would 
allow the Agency bonds to be listed on the UK Stock exchange availing of the 
Local Authority exemption. The exemption limits the volume of disclosure 
required in the listing prospectus from Local Authority issuer, which for the 
Agency, with multiple underlying borrowers would become onerous and add 
significant cost and complexity   

Agenda Item 4b

Page 121



 

46 

 

 

7 Joint & Several Guarantee: Protection in place for guarantors  
 
7.1 Key conclusions from this section are as follows: 

 
7.1.1 There are a number of elements which mitigate the risks of a call on the 

guarantee: 
- The risk capital, liquidity and credit processes of the Agency 
- Statutory and budgetary controls of Local Authorities 
- The Prudential Code and Minimum Revenue Provision 
- Responsibilities of Finance Directors (Section 151 officers), 
- Access to the PWLB, and 
- Government reserve powers 

 
7.1.2 For the guarantee to be called upon, an unprecedented scenario would have to 

occur. In particular, both the processes of the Agency and statutory controls 
over the individual Local Authority finances would have failed and Government 
support evaporated. 

 
7.1.3 Security over borrowing and the High Court process: Even if the guarantee is 

called upon, for the guarantors to suffer a permanent loss greater than £10,000, 
the receiver appointed by the High Court to administer a local authority in 
default, would have to be unable to recover those sums from its revenues. 

 
7.1.4 Proportionality / Right if Recourse: Although the guarantee is Joint and Several, 

English law and the terms of the guarantee would enable authorities that are 
held liable under the guarantee to recover proportionate sums from other 
authorities who are party to the guarantee. 
 

7.1.5 We have obtained legal advice and opinion from Allen & Overy on the operation 
of the Joint & Several Guarantee, which has been informed this section where 
appropriate. 

 
 
7.2 Risk Capital, Liquidity and Credit Processes of the Agency: 
 
7.2.1 Risk Capital / Liquidity 

 
7.2.1.1 “Hold backs” (a portion of a loan taken out by a borrower, but not paid over 

by the lender) equal to 3 to 5 per cent of the loans made to Local Authorities 
will be retained by the Agency.  The hold back will be accounted for as 
subordinated debt to provide additional risk capital: 
- The subordinated debt will be invested in Gilts matching the maturity of 

the loans thereby eliminating maturity risk. 
- In the event of a likely default by a local authority, the Gilts will be used 

to provide liquidity via a repurchase agreement (“repo”) to meet any 
shortfall on the bond payments. 

- In the event of default by a local authority, only once the equity and 
subordinated debt have been exhausted will the Agency need to call 
upon the guarantee. 

Agenda Item 4b

Page 122



 

47 

 

 

 
7.2.2 Credit Processes 

 
7.2.2.1 The Agency will maintain its own credit scoring process and monitoring 

procedures; unlike the PWLB, the Agency will not be indifferent to the 
financial performance of local authorities: 

 
- The process will be rigorous, but as the Agency will have a thorough 

understanding of UK local government it should not place heavy 
demands on Local Authorities. 

- The Agency will develop credit scoring processes, with the intention to 
lend to financially strong Local Authorities. (Indicatively, the Agency 
would expect any of its borrowers to be able to achieve a AA- rating, on 
a stand alone basis, allowing for size.) 

- Those authorities with significant liabilities, where it is unclear how they 
will be met and the regulatory position opaque, will not be able to access 
the Agency irrespective of any external credit rating. 

- Local Authorities will be required to confirm adherence with the 
Prudential Code and provide greater financial information than that 
provided to the PWLB. 

- After the initial bond issues have been completed, the Agency will cap its 
exposure to any single authority in order to reduce its “concentration risk” 
i.e. it will try and ensure that default by a single borrower cannot cause 
the guarantee to be called upon.  

 
7.2.2.2 Taken together, these measures will both ensure that the Agency is aware 

of any financial difficulties faced by a Local Authority and that no Local 
Authority is able to “free ride” off the guarantee offered by other others. 

 
7.2.2.3 A rigorous credit process is not synonymous with onerous.  The Agency will 

specialise in local government finance and have an ongoing relationship 
with the LGA regarding developments in local government.   

 
7.2.2.4 Therefore, many of the necessary, but onerous, demands placed upon Local 

Authorities undertaking a formal credit rating for the first time will not be 
required.  For example, the Agency understands how Local Authorities are 
structured and can access financial settlement data itself. 

 
7.2.2.5 As it is specialist, the Agency is likely to concentrate on certain key credit 

issues rather than attempt a “comprehensive” understanding of each Local 
Authority.  The key issues are likely include: 

 
• The debt burden borne by the authority. 
 
• Budgetary soundness. 

 
• How long term liabilities, such as pension deficits, will be funded. 

 
• Timely and accurate publication of financial reports and information, with 

a clean audit opinion. 

Agenda Item 4b

Page 123



 

48 

 

 

 
7.2.2.6 In the short term, unless there are significant changes to the Business Rates 

Retention Scheme and / or system of local government finance, the Agency 
is unlikely to be too concerned with the following unless there are specific 
grounds for doing so: 

 
• Property values – a Local Authority cannot mortgage its assets and its 

revenues are not linked to property prices (but the Agency will want 
copies of valuation reports). 

 
• The local economy – Local Authority tax raising powers are not linked to 

the state of the local economy and exposure, under the Business Rates 
Retention Scheme, is subject to a safety net. 

 
7.2.2.7 Any internal credit score and / or outcome of Agency processes will remain 

confidential to the Agency and that authority. Over time, the Agency may 
pre-screen Local Authorities, based on publically available information, in 
order to reduce on-boarding timelines. 

 
7.2.2.8 Accordingly, whilst borrowing from the Agency will require Local Authorities 

to devote a certain amount of resource to the Credit Process, it would be 
expected that this would be materially less than that required to support an 
external rating. 

 
7.2.2.9 As with an external rating, that level of resource would reduce over time as 

the Agency became increasingly familiar with the individual Local Authority. 
 
7.2.2.10 The process will become increasingly efficient as the Agency develops 

sector wide tool sets, which access publically available data for initial credit 
review and monitoring purposes. 

 
7.2.2.11 In due course, the Agency would expect to develop scoring models, more 

akin to those used by Banks for credit purposes and borrowing from the 
Agency is likely to be no more onerous than borrowing from a bank, albeit 
with limitations as to flexibility etc. 

 
7.3 Statutory and Budgetary Controls of Local Authorities 
 
7.3.1 There is a range of controls designed to prevent a Local Authority from 

defaulting on its obligations.  In addition, there are legislative measures that are 
likely to ensure that even if a Local Authority does default, its creditors are able 
to recover sums owing to them. 

 
7.3.2 There is a hierarchy of protections set out in the following pages.  Each must 

fail before a guarantor faces an ultimate loss greater than £10,000.  
 
7.3.3 Limited Powers to Borrow and Prohibition on Deficits: 
 
7.3.4 The Local Government Act 2003 and associated Local Authorities (Capital 

Finance and Accounting), (England) Regulations 2003 (usually referred to as 

Agenda Item 4b

Page 124



 

49 

 

 

the Capital Finance Regulations), together with the Localism Act, 2011, impose 
a statutory prohibition on borrowing to fund revenue expenditure; borrowing can 
only fund capital expenditure or to undertake “proper” treasury management 
activities such as the refinancing of debt.   

 
7.3.5 As a counterpart to the restrictions on borrowing, local authorities must set a 

balanced revenue budget i.e. in cash terms, allowing for contributions to and 
from reserves, the Council must spend only what it receives in revenue; it 
cannot run a budget deficit.   

 
7.3.6 Taken together, these two measures prevent local authorities from borrowing to 

avoid raising taxes or cutting spending, therefore reducing the risk that a local 
authority will enter financial distress. 

 
7.3.7 The chart below shows that the level of local government borrowing each year 

is relatively stable and not linked to either the economic cycle or lagging 
Government expenditure. 
 
 

7.3.8 Public Sector and local Government Borrowing 
 

 
 
 
7.4      The Prudential Code and Minimum Revenue Provision: 
 
7.4.1 The ‘Prudential Code’ limits local authorities’ borrowing by forcing local 

authorities to consider whether borrowing is affordable and financially 
sustainable.  For example, authorities must consider the effect of borrowing 
costs on its revenue budget, HRA rents and Council Tax.  The Code has been 
developed by CIPFA and has statutory underpinnings via the Local Government 
Act 2003 and the Capital Finance Regulations. 

 
7.4.2 A key concept of the Prudential Code is the “Capital Financing Requirement” 

(CFR).  The CFR measures an authority’s underlying need to borrow, which is 

Agenda Item 4b

Page 125



 

50 

 

 

the authority’s existing debt together with an amount that a local authority would 
need to borrow in order to fully fund its asset base.  Local Authorities set aside 
funds for a variety of purposes and reasons, which, under the Capital Finance 
Regulations, can be “borrowed” (known as “internal borrowing”) to pay for 
capital investment.  When internally borrowing, the authority may not have 
either the means to return that sum or have sufficient income to pay for the 
asset unless specific provision is made to do so.  (It needs to be borne in mind 
that unlike a commercial company, local authority assets are not normally cash 
generating assets.)   

 
7.4.3 Therefore, to help ensure that local authorities ultimately do pay for their assets, 

authorities must set aside funds to meet its CFR, which is known as the 
“Minimum Revenue Provision” (MRP).  The level of MRP that needs to be 
provided is determined by a council’s MRP policy, guided by the Capital 
Finance Regulations that aim to ensure a local authority provides for a specific 
debt as it becomes due.” The MRP is a charge against the Council Tax and 
HRA rents.  It is designed to set aside funds to repay debt; it is a form of sinking 
fund, which significantly reduces the likelihood that any guarantee will be called 
upon.   

 
7.5      Responsibilities of Finance Directors (Section 151 Officers) 
 
7.5.1 Section 151 Officers – the finance directors of Local Authorities – have statutory 

responsibilities to ensure that Local Authorities can meet their obligations as 
they fall due. 

 
7.5.2 Under Section 114 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988, a Section 151 

officer must formally report to the full council or cabinet of a Local Authority 
when either its expenditure or budgeted expenditure will exceed the resources 
available to his or her authority.  The report is effectively a warning of 
impending insolvency if action is not taken to rectify the problem. 

 
7.5.3 Under Section 115 of the same Act, the full council or cabinet has to meet 

within 21 days to consider the report and take action: it must not continue the 
course of action causing the Section 114 report. 

 
7.5.4 In practice, the following takes place under Section 115: 

- If it is a budgetary issue, the council has no choice other than to cut 
proposed expenditure. 

- If it is a question of expenditure as bills fall due, discretionary 
expenditure has to be cut. 

- The Local Government Act 2003 requires a Section 151 officer to 
perform certain actions to resolve the situation whether or not full council 
or cabinet has met to determine its course of action.  The Section 151 
officer must approve all new expenditure and is only allowed to approve 
expenditure if it will improve the financial position of the authority or not 
cause further deterioration of its finances. 

 
7.5.5 This is a key reason why the guarantee should not be called upon.  Were a 

Section 151 Officer to fail to issue a report under Section 114 when he or she 

Agenda Item 4b

Page 126



 

51 

 

 

should have done, the officer could be found to be negligent; were the Local 
Authority not to take action, all new expenditure would be ultra vires. 

 
7.6      Access to the PWLB: 
 
7.6.1 Even after the establishment of the Agency, Local Authorities will have access 

to the PWLB to provide funding that is effectively on demand.  This ensures that 
a Local Authority will always have means to meet principal repayments, 
because they may borrow to refinance debt.  This significantly reduces the 
likelihood that an authority will default on its principal because it always has 
means to fund those repayments. 

 
7.7      Government Reserve Powers: 
 
7.7.1 The Government retains extensive reserve powers in relation to Local 

Authorities and has consistently intervened well before any financial problems 
at a Local Authority become critical.  To date, the Government has not allowed 
any Local Authority to default on its obligations. 

 
7.7.2 The Government’s preparedness to stand behind the sector is a key factor in 

the creditworthiness of the sector and that the guarantee is unlikely to be called 
upon. 

 
7.8      Security for Borrowing and the High Court process: 
 
7.8.1 Under Section 13(3) of the Local Government Act 2003, all the liabilities of a 

Local Authority are secured indifferently on a Local Authority’s revenues.  This 
provides a significant level of security because the Government provides much 
of a Local Authority’s revenue and the Council Tax, and most fees and charges, 
is levied on a statutory basis. 

 
7.8.2 If a Local Authority defaults on a debt greater than £10,000 for a period of two 

months, under Section 13(5) of the Local Government Act 2003 a creditor may 
apply to the High Court for an administrator to be appointed.  The powers of the 
administrator will be determined by the High Court, but can include: 

- Collecting, receiving or recovering the revenues of the local authority 
- Issuing levies or precepts; or 
- Setting, collecting or recovering Council Tax. 

 
7.8.3 This process should ensure that any Local Authority that is called upon under 

the guarantee can recover the debt via the courts if need be. 
 
7.8.4 Operation of the Guarantee and Right of Recourse: 
 
7.8.5 Although the guarantee is Joint and Several, English law (the principle of 

“equity”) and the terms of the guarantee or supporting agreements will ensure 
that ultimately, a local authority is only responsible for its proportionate share of 
any amounts that are paid out under the guarantee. 

 

Agenda Item 4b

Page 127



 

52 

 

 

7.8.6 English law sets out a number of protections that mitigate the effects of the 
guarantee on any guarantor that is called upon under the guarantee: 
 
• Right of indemnity: once a guarantor has made a payment under the 

guarantee, it immediately gains a right to be indemnified by the principal 
debtor. 

• Right of subrogation: this allows a guarantor to "step into the shoes" of the 
bondholders and assume all the rights the bondholders had in relation to the 
Agency i.e. it can receive payments from borrowers. 

• Right of contribution: once a guarantor has paid more than its proportion of 
the debt, it is entitled to seek rateable contributions from the other 
guarantors. 

 
7.8.7 Underneath the guarantee there will be a right of recourse agreement or similar 

contractual arrangement that secures reimbursement from other guarantors for 
any authority performing under the guarantee who pays out more than its 
proportionate share.  The agreement will make it simpler and quicker for a 
guarantor to secure payments from other guarantors.  For example, the right of 
indemnity is against the Agency, so that right would only indirectly secure 
reimbursement. 
 

7.8.8 In summary, a bondholder whose bonds are in default may apply to any single 
authority or group of authorities to meet the terms of the guarantee, but those 
called upon will be able to recover costs from the other guarantors. 

 
7.9      Vires of a joint and several guarantee 
 
7.9.1 We are aware that questions have been raised about legal powers of councils 

to give a joint and several guarantee. We have sought legal advice from leading 
counsel on this point. The advice is unequivocal that such a guarantee would 
be within vires, for English councils, available under the General Power of 
Competence created by the Localism Act, even when subject to the further 
tests within that Act and the existing case law. 

 

  

Agenda Item 4b

Page 128



 

53 

 

 

8 Pricing Strategy 
 

8.1 Pricing considerations should be driven by the need for the Agency to deliver 
savings to its Local Authority borrowers, whilst covering its operating and bond 
related costs sufficiently, to generate a profit. 

 
8.2 Local Authorities would expect, and the Agency should deliver, a simple and 

transparent pricing mechanism. 
 
8.3 The starting point for pricing will the interest rate at which bonds are issued. 
 
8.4 In addition, it will be necessary to add: 
 

o Costs which are specific to the bond being issued, and  
o A margin to cover the Agency’s operating costs and generate a profit. 

8.5       Indicative Borrower Economics 

8.5.1 The following table shows the indicative savings to Local Authority borrowers, 
dependant upon Agency Bond pricing, based on these principles1 

 

8.5.2 Costs, which are specific to the bond being issued, include syndicate fees, 
ratings fees, administration costs to manage the bond issuance on an on going 
basis, i.e. trustee, payment agents etc. (In due course, it may prove 
advantageous for certain of these costs to be covered within the Agency 
Operating Cost margin directly, for example it may be cheaper to pay an annual 
relationship fee to a rating agency, rather than pay a basis points fee on each 
bond issued. Decisions in this respect can only be made following price 
negotiations with various providers.) 

 
8.5.3 This model proposes a margin of 10 basis points to cover the Agency’s 

operating costs. Whereas, in the early years, this will not be sufficient to cover 

1 On 7the March 2014, TfL reportedly issued a 50 year, £370 million bond at 55 basis point over the reference Gilt. 

Agenda Item 4b

Page 129



 

54 

 

 

costs, once the Agency has achieved £2 billion in bond issuance, it should 
move into profit. (See Section 9 on Operating Model and Timeline).  

 
8.6     Evolution of pricing 
 
8.6.1 As the volume of bonds issued by the Agency increases, it should be possible 

to reduce certain margins, delivering increased savings to Local Authority 
borrowers. In effect, the costs of the Agency should not rise directly in line with 
the volume of bonds 
 

8.6.2 The Board of the Agency should review pricing regularly, and at least annually, 
to ensure that there is a fair distribution of the benefits of volume increases 
back to borrowers 

 
8.7      Variable pricing 
 
8.7.1 Some Municipal Bond Agencies adjust pricing for individual Local Authorities, 

based on internal agency credit scoring, for example. This acts as an added 
incentive for Local Authorities to improve their creditworthiness 
 

8.7.2 We have briefly reviewed this concept and believe it is not appropriate for the 
Agency, at this point in time 

 
8.7.2.1 The margins available to the agency for variable pricing are likely to render 

any differentiation largely negligible, i.e. individual basis points 
8.7.2.2 It may run the risk of being viewed as an internal subsidy between Local 

Authorities 
8.7.2.3 The Agency will have a rigorous credit process, where all borrowers are 

likely to be of a largely equivalent credit standing 
8.7.2.4 There was no real appetite amongst Local Authorities for a variable pricing 

structure 
 
8.7.3 Nevertheless, the Board of the Agency may wish to reconsider this topic, from 

time to time 

  

Agenda Item 4b

Page 130



 

55 

 

 

9 Operating Model and Timeline 
 
9.1 The key conclusions with respect to Operating Model and Timeline are as follows: 

 
9.2  High level timeline 

 
9.2.1 The Agencies Operating Model and related timelines should be considered over 

a number of phases: 
 
- Mobilisation phase: Establishing the Agency and its Corporate Structure. 

 
- Launch phase: The initial 2 year period where it begins to establish its 

market footprint, both amongst investors and Local Government Borrowers. 
 

- Development phase: where it begins to build out its range of lending 
services, e.g. Commercial Paper Programme, more flexible funding 
arrangements, etc. 

 
9.2.2 This paper predominantly deals with the first 2 phases, Mobilisation and 

Launch. The focus for the Agency in the early years should be entirely on 
building out its footprint. This becomes a key enabler for the Development 
phase, which is, in effect, only possible when the Agency has a sufficiently large 
client base, i.e. up to 100 borrowers and an established bond programme 
covering a wide range of maturities, with a higher degree of certainty over 
pricing. 

 
9.2.3 From today, we can view the high level timeline for the next 2 years as follows:  
 

 
 
9.2.4 It is unlikely that the Agency would be in a position to move into the 

Development phase until 2017, at the earliest. That phase would see a 
significant increase in the complexity of the Agencies operations, and should be 
subject to a detailed business plan at that point in time. 

 

Agenda Item 4b

Page 131



 

56 

 

 

9.2.5 It should be noted that this timeline significantly compresses that envisaged in 
the original Outline Business Case, by more than one year. There are a number 
of reasons for this: 
- The optimum timing for Bond issue is driven primarily by the profile of Local 

Authority borrowing, the highest volume of which occurs in March / April, 
with September / October being the next high point. The timing of any bond 
issuance, subject to market conditions, should be planned to coincide with 
these high points. 

- The syndication process, i.e. actually selling any bond into the market, 
should take 3 months, at most. Accordingly, the key challenge for the 
Agency will be to lock down a core group of initial borrowers by January 
2015. 

- The initial group of borrowers should be identified during the mobilisation 
phase, ideally 20+ Local Authorities, with over £10 million demand each.  

- Detailed bond structuring, including a preliminary rating should be 
completed in Q4 2014, for the syndication process to begin in January / 
February, 2015. 

- Accordingly, the end of Q3 2014 should see completion of the Agency’s 
corporate structure and capitalisation. 

 
9.2.6 Whilst this timeline is ambitious, it is important to maintain the level of 

momentum, which has built up. Hence the recommended mobilisation phase. In 
addition, the shorter timeline reduces the level of resource put at risk, should 
the process abort for any reason. 

 
9.2.7 There are 5 key risks associated with the early stage of the project: 

- It may not be possible to raise the required level of operating capital, 
- Local Authority demand for the Agency may not materialise in sufficient 

volumes, 
- Market pricing, for any bond issuance, may not be attractive, 
- The PWLB may reduce the margin over Gilts sufficiently to render the 

Agency an unattractive choice for Local Authority borrowing, and 
- The Agency may not be able to attract personnel of sufficient calibre on a 

timely basis. 
 
9.2.8 Each of these risks is covered in more detail in Section 10. Where relevant, we 

have attempted to estimate the associated abort costs and point in time at 
which a decision should be made. 

 
9.3      Key Assumptions used in the Operating Model / Financial Model 
 
9.3.1 The operating model and financial model are driven by the anticipated volumes 

of transactions and required level of resource to support: 
 
9.3.2 Bond Issuance, anticipated programmes, post launch 
 

Year  Timing  Volume  Number of Borrowers 
2014  March / April  £250 million  20+, new 

   Sept / Oct  £250 million  20+, 50% new  
 

Agenda Item 4b

Page 132



 

57 

 

 

2015  March / April  £500 million  20+, 50% new 
   Sept / Oct  £250 million  20+, 50% new  
 

2016  March / April  £500 million  20+. 50% new 
   Sept / Oct  £250 million  20+, 50% new 
 
9.3.3 Accordingly, in year 3, post launch, the Agency would expect to have £2 billion 

in bond volume, supporting loans to 70+ Local Authorities, and representing a 
market share of approximately 25% of Local Authority annual funding 
requirements. 

 
9.3.4 In order to cover its costs, the Agency will require a margin to be included in 

interest charged to Local Authority borrowers. The initial margin is set at 10 
basis points, so, for example, at £2 billion in Bonds issued, the Agency will have 
£2 million in income to cover operating costs. 

 
9.3.5 The Agency platform should be scalable, i.e. grow volumes, without a 

corresponding increase in operating costs. Accordingly, it would be anticipated 
that the margin required would reduce over time as volumes permit.  

 
9.3.6 High Level Operating Model 
 
9.3.7 The level of bond issuance and related Local Authority lending should guide 

decisions around the level of resources required in the initial phases. 
 
9.3.8 Key Functional Roles 
 
9.3.9 The key functional roles, which are required in the early stages, are as follows: 
 
9.3.10 CEO – Provide strategic leadership to the Agency and be its main 

representative with stakeholders: Local Authority borrowers, bond investors and 
shareholders 

 
9.3.11 CRO – Responsibility for management of key risks, particularly Credit and 

Operating Risk in the early stages. The key initial responsibility will be 
developing a credit approval policies and process for the initial borrowers.  

 
9.3.12 CFO / CAO – Responsible for financial management and reporting. In addition, 

should be responsible for managing supplier / outsource relationships, including 
bond related.  

 
9.3.13 Marketing Local Authorities – Supporting the CEO in ensuring a pipeline of 

potential Local Authority borrowers is developed. 
 
9.3.14 Administrative support – Responsible for office management and administrative 

support for the team. 
 
9.3.15 As the volume of business develops, additional staff will be required to support 

the volume of work.  
 

Agenda Item 4b

Page 133



 

58 

 

 

9.3.16 As the Agency moves into the development phase, it is likely be necessary to 
implement a sophisticated treasury management process and systems. 
Additional staff will also be required to deal with increased Local Authority 
interface. 

 
9.3.17 Outsourcing arrangements 
 
9.3.18 Given the likely volume of transactions in the early years of the Agency, it is 

unlikely to be economic to maintain a number of the required support services 
‘in-house’.  

 
9.3.19 In particular, IT, HR, Legal should in the first instance, be outsourced. This 

should be kept under constant review to assess whether the volume of 
resource, particularly legal, required justifies an internal hire. It may also be 
appropriate to outsource accounting services.  

 
9.3.20 In addition, all elements relating to servicing bonds and Local Authorities should 

be outsourced in the first instance. Specifically, this would include receipt and 
disbursement of all principal amounts between bond investors and Local 
Authorities and related interest payments. In particular, this mitigates the risk of 
having large volumes of cash being controlled within the entity.  

 
9.3.21 Bond related costs 
 
9.3.22 The following estimated costs are not considered as part of the Agency costs, 

but part of the bond issuance costs: 
- Syndication costs: 12.5 to 30 basis points of bond volume, depending upon 

maturity. These would typically be amortised over the life of the bond, ~2 
basis points per annum 

- Ratings fees: Depending upon number of ratings agencies etc., each of 
which have different pricing mechanisms. For the purposes of this exercise, 
ratings fees are assumed to amount to 8 to 10 basis points per bond issue, 
amortised over the life of the bond, ~1 basis point per annum.  

- In pricing discussions with ratings agencies, it may be preferable to pay an 
annual relationship fee, rather than by bond, in which case the costs may 
become a direct cost to the Agency. 

- Paying agent, Trustee services etc. approximately 1 to 2 basis points per 
annum 

 
9.3.23 Legal fees are considered as part of the costs of the Agency.  

 
  

Agenda Item 4b

Page 134



 

59 

 

 

9.3.24 Mobilisation Costs 
 
9.3.25 Mobilisation costs are estimated at approximately £800 thousand, see below. 
 

 
 
9.3.26 It is assumed that the LGA continue to house the Agency, e.g. provide IT 

support and Premises, until launch. Given the requirement to set up the legal 
entity structure, this is likely to be a requirement, in any event. 

 
9.3.27 Mobilisation will have 5 broad objectives: 

- Establish the corporate structure. 
- Identify the initial set of borrowers. 
- Commence the selection of 3rd party suppliers / outsource arrangements. 
- Commence hiring permanent staff. 
- Complete drafting of Policy, Procedures and Process manuals. 

 
9.3.28 In addition, the Agency should develop detailed communication plan as a part 

of this process to ensure the widest possible engagement of the sector. 
 
9.3.29 Whilst it would be anticipated that experienced interim staff should complete all 

documentation to a high standard, the Agency may want to hire 3rd Party 
consultants for review purposes. No provision is included in the plan for such 
costs. 

 
9.3.30 Mobilisation is assumed to have a one-month overlap with the hire of 

permanent staff, for hand-over etc. Costs include estimates of agency fees, 
VAT etc. 

Agenda Item 4b

Page 135



 

60 

 

 

 
 

9.4       High Level Financials 
 
 
9.4.1 High level, 6 year forecast P&L (£’000) for the Agency, are as follows: 
 

 
 
9.4.2 It is assumed that the Agency will take a fixed margin of 10 basis points on all 

term lending and 5 basis points on lending related to the ECP programme. All 
other income and expense related to the bonds is not included in this forecast 
P&L, as in effect, the intention will be to pass back any benefits of improved 
pricing to the Local Authority borrowers, i.e. the Agency will have no economic 
interest in the bonds per se. 

 
9.4.3 The Agency achieves breakeven in 2017 / 2018, when bond volumes begin to 

reach £2 billion. The Agency is assumed to capture 25% market share on an 
estimated £3 billion of Local Authority borrowing demand. 

 
9.4.4 Total costs to breakeven are estimated at £3.5 to £4 million. (2014 costs include 

mobilisation.) 
 
9.4.5 The significant increase in costs in 2015 is primarily driven by estimated legal 

expense required to establish the EMTN programme and initial ratings.  
 
 
  

Agenda Item 4b

Page 136



 

61 

 

 

9.4.6 Summary of Costs: 2014 to 2019, £000’s 
 
 
9.4.7 Six year forecast costs (£’000) for the Agency, are as follows: 
 

 
 
9.4.8 Costs are predominantly driven by staff costs, with the exception of legal and 

ratings costs, related to the set up of the EMTN programme in 2015, and 
corporate structuring costs on 2014.  

 
9.4.9 Staff costs are anticipated to build up slowly as the Agency develops. A 

business case will need to be prepared and approved by the Board for any 
business development. Nevertheless, there is an anticipated spend of £200 
thousand technology spend and increased staff levels in 2017, to deal with 
upgrades which may be required to support an ECP programme. 

 
9.4.10 Mobilisation costs are included in the 2014 spend.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
   

Agenda Item 4b

Page 137



 

62 

 

 

 
 

10      Key Financial Risks and Related Mitigants 
 
10.1 There are 5 key risks associated with the early stages of the project: 

� It may not be possible to raise the required level of operating capital, 
� Local Authority demand for the Agency may not materialise in 

sufficient volumes, 
� Market pricing, for any bond issuance, may not be attractive, 
� The PWLB may reduce the margin over Gilts sufficiently to render the 

Agency an unattractive choice for Local Authority borrowing, and 
� The Agency may not be able to attract personnel of sufficient calibre 

on a timely basis. 
 
10.2  It may not be possible to raise the required level of operating capital 
 
10.2.1 This should become apparent during the mobilisation phase. Whilst £8 to 10 

million is considered the optimum sum to ensure adequate cover for potential 
cost overruns or delays, the Agency could consider establishing itself if £5 to 6 
million were raised, albeit with material incremental execution risk. 

 
10.2.2 During this phase, all staff will be on interim contracts, with an estimated 

monthly expense of £53 thousand. 
 
10.2.3 If there is not sufficient visibility on the capital raise, there will be no need for 

legal and other advisory costs related to the corporate entity structure, nor 
developing a website, eliminating £420 thousand of the mobilisation spend. 

 
10.2.4 Accordingly, the level of resources at risk is ~£400 thousand 
 
10.2.5 The Project Board overseeing the mobilisation project should review regularly, 

with a view to aborting the project if capital cannot be raised. 
 
 
10.3 Local Authority demand for the Agency may not materialise 
 
10.3.1 The level of Local Authority demand should be assessed during the mobilisation 

phase. Specifically, Local Authorities should be asked for soft commitments 
during this phase, in order that the initial book of borrowing, to support the first 
bond issue, can be identified. 

 
10.3.2 The Agency will need to be able to issue in Benchmark sizes, i.e. £250 to £300 

million, to optimise pricing, and should aim to issue a single bond with a fixed 
maturity. 

 
10.3.3 A challenge, at this point in time, will be a lack of visibility over pricing. 

Nevertheless, visibility on potential pricing should improve as time elapses and 
borrowers should be able to take a view with pre-determined ranges. 

Agenda Item 4b

Page 138



 

63 

 

 

 
10.3.4 The level of resource at risk, and potential approach during the mobilisation 

phase is the same as above, i.e. the risk of not raising sufficient capital. 
 
10.3.5 In Q4 2014, it will be necessary to lock down harder commitments, i.e. execute 

borrowing documents, guarantees etc., albeit subject to pricing risk 
considerations.  

 
10.3.6 Should demand evaporate at this stage, the Agency will have used 

approximately £800 thousand in mobilisation costs. 
 
10.3.7 In addition, the Agency will have on-boarded staff etc. so it is reasonable to 

assume that up to one year’s operating expense will, additionally, be at risk, i.e. 
£1.3 million, excluding bond related legal / ratings costs. 

 
10.3.8 The Agency should be able to mitigate some of these costs, through shorter-

term contracts etc. 
 
10.3.9 Accordingly the level of resource at risk is £400 thousand or less, if insufficient 

demand during the mobilisation period and up to ~£2 million, if identified later in 
the process. 

 
  
10.4 Market pricing, for any bond issuance, may not be attractive 
 
10.4.1 Whilst the Agency should continue to monitor pricing developments during the 

mobilisation phase and up to the end of Q4, 2014, the syndication process is 
only likely to begin in earnest in Q1 2015. 

 
10.4.2 At that point in time, the major risk to bond pricing will be that of market 

movements, Whilst there may be some risk that the structure etc. will not 
appeal to investors, that risk should have been largely closed out in ongoing 
discussions with potential syndicate banks. 

 
10.4.3 Whilst the level of resource at risk is broadly the same as the above for Local 

Authority demand evaporating at a later stage, the Agency is also likely to have 
incurred significant legal and ratings costs. Accordingly, the level of resource at 
risk is up to £2.9 million. 

 
10.4.4 In the event of a bond being pulled at the latter stages in the process, it is 

unlikely that syndicate banks would require conditional fees. 
 
 
10.5 The PWLB may reduce the margin over Gilts rendering the Agency   

unattractive for Local Authority borrowing 
 
10.5.1 The level of resource at risk, in this scenario, will very much depend upon the 

point in time such a reduction occurs.  
 

Agenda Item 4b

Page 139



 

64 

 

 

10.5.2 There is a strong public interest supporting the Agency and, indeed, many good 
reasons to pursue the Agency, regardless of PWLB pricing. In addition, during 
the mobilisation phase, the Agency and its sponsors should actively build 
support for the Agency amongst politicians. 

 
10.5.3 Nevertheless, if the core product of fixed term lending is rendered unattractive, 

from a pricing perspective, to Local Authorities, it will become challenging to 
build the required volumes to support the Agency. 

 
10.5.4 If PWLB pricing reduces before the Agency issues its first Bond, then the sunk 

costs are likely to be similar to the above, i.e. between £400 thousand and up to 
£2.9 million, depending upon the point in time at which pricing is reduced. 

 
10.5.5 In the event that the Agency has issued a bond, then it may be possible to 

reduce costs to a point where trail revenues exceed costs, providing some 
mitigation to sunk costs. 

 
10.6 The Agency may be unable to attract personnel of sufficient calibre 
 
10.6.1 There is a risk that appropriate candidates may not be identified for critical roles 

on a timely basis. 
 
10.6.2 The Agency may need to be flexible on salary levels and contract structure, 

given the inherent risks for any candidate in joining the Agency. 
 
10.6.3 Nevertheless, the Agency will be a high profile opportunity, so this risk is 

somewhat mitigated. In addition, there are likely to be suitable candidates 
available in the interim market to cover. 

 
10.6.4 Accordingly, whilst this is a risk, which needs to be overseen, it is not 

considered likely to result in aborting the project. 
 
10.6.5 This does, however, represent a risk to cost estimates, should the need for 

more expensive staff or 3rd party advisory services be required 
 
  

Agenda Item 4b

Page 140



 

65 

 

 

11 Capital Structure 
 
11.1 Two forms of Capital will be required: 

- Operational Capital: to meet set up and operating costs of the Agency until it 
achieves profitability, and 

- Risk Capital: required to support first loss absorption, in the event of default 
and, therefore the Bonds credit rating 

 
 
11.2 Operational Capital - £8 to 10 Million 
 
11.2.1 It is recommended that this be held in the form of Common Equity. 
 
11.2.2 The Outline Business Case envisaged that this would be in the form of 

subordinated debt, carrying a fixed coupon, with repayment of principal from the 
operating profits of the Agency over time. Each contributor to the required 
subordinated debt would receive 1 share. 

 
11.2.3 Whereas, this may be a workable structure, it leaves open a number of 

challenges: 
- The requirement to pay interest on debt before the Agency generates a 

profit materially increases the execution risk as working capital is absorbed 
- The personal risk of the directors, i.e. in the event that the Agency did not 

attract sufficient volumes, then structurally it would become insolvent 
- Lack of linkage between the economic ownership of the Agency and the 

level of investment, i.e. an investor receives a single share regardless of 
commitment 

- What value would attach to each share and how would future membership 
be priced? 

 
11.2.4 An alternative would be to raise common equity, which would materially mitigate 

the above risks. In addition, a common equity structure would enable the 
following: 
- Share transfers, should shareholder wish to reduce their holding 
- Allow for new shareholders to come on board, i.e. buy shares in the Agency, 

using transparent and fair valuation principals. (Bond investors and ratings 
agencies are likely to look favourably on a broader shareholder base, as a 
means of demonstrating the commitment of the sector to the Agency. 
Indeed the Agency, itself, is likely to benefit from having broader 
commitment from the sector.) 

- Give the Agency an enabling solution to make decisions with respect to the 
level of profit retention, dividends, capital raising etc.  

 
11.2.5 As part of the capital raising process, during the mobilisation phase, 

consideration should be given to appropriate economic dividend policies. 
 
11.3 Key design principles of shareholder structure 
 
11.3.1 The shareholding structure should consider the following elements: 

Agenda Item 4b

Page 141



 

66 

 

 

- There is a strong preference for the Agency to be wholly owned by the Local 
Authority sector and other public bodies 

- Limits on individual level of control  
- Safeguard long term principles of the Agency 
- Fair return to initial shareholders for risk taking 
- Ability to adjust shareholder base: the Agency will benefit from having as 

broad a base of Local Authority shareholders as is possible 
 
11.3.2 Accordingly, in the initial share structure, voting rights and economic rights 

should be de-coupled: 
 

- Shares should be issued with pre-defined economic rights 
- Voting rights limited to ensure no overall control e.g. 

o Maximum individual large shareholders voting rights limited to 10% 
o Voting rights of other shareholders adjusted pro-rata their economic 

holdings 
 
11.3.3 During the mobilisation phase, consideration should be given to ensuring 

appropriate controls and protections are in place to ensure that the Agency stay 
true to its original mandate 

 
11.4 Risk Capital – 3 to 5% of the total volume of loans 
 
 
11.4.1  Risk Capital has been discussed in Section 4.6.2.8  

Agenda Item 4b

Page 142



 

67 

 

 

12 Governance structure  
 
 
12.1 The Agency’s Governance structure is considered in 2 phases: 

- Mobilisation 
- Launch 

 
12.2 Mobilisation phase 
 
12.2.1 The mobilisation phase should ensure ongoing momentum is maintained as the 

Agency develops. The key elements, which need to be achieved in this phase, 
are: 

- Establishment of the corporate structure 
- Identification and hire of key personnel 
- Establishment of the Board 
- Pre-marketing and identification of the initial list of Borrowers 
- Design of key policies and processes 
- Preparation of documents, e.g. Loan documentation 

 
12.2.2 The Key design principles in this stage are: 

- Ensure efficient execution, and, accordingly,  
- Control should be maintained by the Agency sponsors i.e. the LGA 

during the mobilisation phase 
 
12.2.3 To manage this Phase, a Project Board should be established, which may 

include future members of the Agency’s Board of Directors. The Project Board 
will: 

- Oversee execution of the project to go live 
- Be responsible for selection of the initial Board of Directors 
- Determine, in consultation with the Board of Directors, the point at which 

the project moves into Launch 
 

12.2.4 The Project Board should be selected by the LGA, containing no more than 5 to 
7 members, including LGA executives, project lead and Local Government 
Finance Directors. The Project Board should be constituted with an appropriate 
Terms of Reference and meet at least every other week, during the mobilisation 
process. 

 
12.2.5 During this phase, it will be important that communication is maintained with the 

sector. In this respect, the CFO and Political Groups, which have been both 
very supportive and instrumental in moving the project forward, should retain 
their current advisory roles, with a schedule of regular meetings. 

 
 
  

Agenda Item 4b

Page 143



 

68 

 

 

12.3 Launch 
 
12.3.1 Launch defined as the point at which the Agency goes live e.g. acceptance of 

commitments from initial borrowers. Pre-marketing will not constitute launch. 
 
12.3.2 As the Project moves into launch, it will be increasingly important that the 

Agency has identified the appropriate personnel to represent it to stakeholders. 
This will include senior executives and its Board of Directors. 

 
12.3.3 As the Board is identified, it may increasingly act as a Shadow Board during 

mobilisation. It is anticipated that they would be consulted on major decisions.  
 
12.3.4 The Project Board in consultation with the Board should determine when the 

Agency moves into launch stage. 
 
12.3.5 At the point of Launch, voting rights adjust to individual shareholdings in 

accordance with the voting rights structure and Governance of the Agency is 
normalised, i.e. the Board of Directors is fully established and takes control of 
the Agency. 

 
  

Agenda Item 4b

Page 144



 

69 

 

 

13 Board of Directors 
 
13.1.1 Upon Launch, the Board of Directors will formally take control of the Agency, 

i.e. be appropriately constituted within a legal structure and have clearly defined 
obligations e.g. appointment of senior staff. 

 
13.2 Board of Directors: Structure 
 
13.2.1 The independence and strength of the Board will be paramount in protecting the 

Agency’s reputation. The constitution of the Board and its membership will have 
a direct bearing on how the investor community / ratings agencies view the 
Agency and, therefore, on the cost of funding.  

 
13.2.2 Whereas it would be expected that Directors would, from time to time, have an 

interest in certain decisions being taken by the Agency, it is expected that 
directors would declare all such interests and recuse themselves where such 
interests were being discussed. 

 
13.2.3 It is anticipated that the Board of Directors will have 7 Non-Executive directors 

- 3 members shall be elected by shareholders and shall include the Chair 
- 1 member will be a Technical Expert in Debt Capital Market 
- 1 member will be a Technical Expert in Risk Management 
- 2 members will be Finance Directors, or equivalent, in Local Government 

 
13.2.4 Whereas the Chief Executive Officer, (CEO), Chief Risk Officer and Chief 

Financial Officer may be required to attend Board meetings, it is currently 
unclear whether there are benefits to them being Directors. It is likely the CEO 
will be a Director. 

 
13.2.5 The LGA shall be responsible, in conjunction with the Project Board, for 

appointing the initial Board of Directors. It is anticipated that this would be done 
in consultation with shareholders. Nonetheless, it is key that the Board should 
contain the appropriate technical skills, where expertise on selection may reside 
in the LGA. 

 
13.2.6 From launch, it is anticipated that there will be two selection processes for 

Board membership: 
- Nominations Committee, comprising of the Chair of the Board, one 

Technical Expert and one Finance Director 
� The Nominations Committee should ensure appropriate 

processes are undertaken prior to the appointment of any Director 
and set appropriate criteria for nomination 

� The Nominations Committee shall be responsible for nominating 
Technical experts and Finance Director representatives  

� The Nominations Board should vet candidates for election to 
ensure suitability 

- Elected members will be elected by a ballot of shareholders 

Agenda Item 4b

Page 145



 

70 

 

 

- During the mobilisation phase, consideration should be given to 
ascertaining whether further controls are necessary to ensure that the 
quality of the Board is maintained 

 
 
13.2.7 Advisory Board 
 
13.2.7.1 Consideration should be given to establishing an Advisory Board, in due 

course. Such a Board, containing appropriate stakeholders, would benefit 
the Agency in being able to access and engage a wider range of opinions, 
without making the Governance structure unwieldy 

 
  

Agenda Item 4b

Page 146



 

71 

 

 

Appendix 1: The journey taken by other agencies 
 

Lars Andersson 
 
A short description of the journey taken by other European agencies, in terms of 
the start up phase, i.e. level of take up, pace of expansion of services and how 
long it took them to reach maturity.  
 
The most relevant cases are Kommuninvest (Sweden) and Municipality Finance 
(Finland). The other agencies were established so long ago (Kommunekredit 1899, 
Norges Kommunalbank 1926, Nederlandse Watershapsbank 1954) that the 
experiences from their start-up period bear practically no relevance to the work of 
setting up an agency today. This paper is concentrated on the start-up period of 
Kommuninvest and Municipality Finance. Although these agencies also were created 
in a different environment from today, many aspects of their developments still shine a 
light on the challenges involved in these kinds of projects.  
 
Kommuninvest 
 
Timeline 
 
1986 Creation of a regional agency 
 
1988  First private placement in Japan (1.3bn yen) 
 
1989  Questions about the legal status were resolved by a government decision to 

categorise Kommuninvest as a Credit Market Company. 
 First Swiss Bond issue (75m Swiss francs) 
 
1991 The first rating (Moody’s) at the same level as the Kingdom of Sweden. 
 
1992 Established a euro-commercial paper programme 
 Initiative to cooperate with the other Nordic agencies 
 
1993 The creation of Kommuninvest Cooperative Society and expansion  to a  

national agency 
 First Bond issue in Japan (so called Samurai-bond) 
 Established a Euro-Medium-Term-Note programme 
 
1993  Yearly road-shows in Japan 
 
1994 56 members – 10 employees 
 
1994  Present at the yearly World Bank meetings 
 
1995  A magazine with 5-6 issues per year was introduced, targeted to local 

authorities 
An agreement with EIB (a framework agreement for borrowing and  on-lending 
to Swedish local authorities) 

Agenda Item 4b

Page 147



 

72 

 

 

 
Background to the creation of the agency 
 
The most important means of financing capital investments for the Swedish local 
authorities has for a long time been borrowing. The last remains of the central 
government interference in municipal borrowing were removed at the end of the 
1970s. This led to some changes of in terms of who supplied municipal credits. 
Entities like the state pension funds became less active in this market. The effect of 
this was that big commercial banks became the most active lenders to local 
authorities. 
 
The money market developed rapidly in Sweden during the first part of the 1980s. For 
a few of the largest cities this meant that they had a way of independently achieving 
cost-efficient short term borrowing through different money market programmes. 
However, the rest of the municipal sector had to turn to the big banks for municipal 
credits. These banks were not inclined to compete among themselves. For the banks 
a very convenient market had developed; low risk to great margins without 
inconvenience. The margins on municipal loans could now be raised to several 
percentage points. In conclusion there were clear and significant imbalances between 
risk and margins in municipal credits. 
 
Kommuninvest i Örebro län was formed 
 
In the abovementioned environment, the idea of municipal cooperation was born and 
developed within a group of civil servants and politicians in the county of Örebro in 
south central Sweden. Lars Anderrsen  presented the first idea to this group in 
February 1986 and the company "Kommuninvest i Örebro län AB" was formally 
launched in November the same year. This was a regional initiative and cooperation 
that included nine municipalities and the county council in the County of Örebro 
(Örebro län). 
 
The cooperation was organised within a joint-stock company. This was at the time a 
legal requirement rather than the first choice of the founders. Since this was a 
cooperation project with only public sector participants a public law form would have 
been preferred. The advantages, though, with a joint-stock company were that this 
form was recognised internationally. 
 
The central government applied, after lengthy discussion, a status of a credit market 
company for Kommuninvest, which meant that the company was under the 
supervision of the Financial Supervisory Authority (Finansinspektionen).  
 
Collateral arrangements 
 
One of the crucial tasks was to find ways of “transporting” the municipal risk of the 
transactions to be used in Kommuninvest’s borrowing. Originally, this was done by 
entering into a REPO-agreement with the financier, where the  municipal loan 
agreements were used. This worked, but the whole handling of these agreements 
proved burdensome. When international markets started to be used, this method was 
even more difficult to use. After some years of operations, a system with a joint and 

Agenda Item 4b

Page 148



 

73 

 

 

several guarantee entered into by the participating municipalities was introduced. This 
change was inspired by the system used by Kommunekredit in Denmark. 
 
Kommuninvest - from regional project to a national LGFA 
 
In the last few years of the 1980s the agency developed its borrowing operations in the 
international capital markets. This benefited the owning municipalities as it gave cost-
efficient funding. Over time the oligopoly situation of the commercial banks was 
becoming more widely acknowledged by more and more of the local politicians and 
civil servants. Still, the question of cooperating was not easy. “To mind one’s own 
business” is one of the basic principles of the whole legal structure of municipalities. 
That competition between neighbouring municipalities was natural did not work in 
favour of cooperation. 
 
In the early 1990s Kommuninvest continued to develop its operations successfully 
despite that the commercial banks trying, as they had from the start, every trick in the 
book to disturb or even to stop the project. Other municipalities saw both the success 
of Kommuninvest and the actions taken by the banks. In 1993 the financial crises 
resulted in great difficulties for the banks to be able to supply the municipalities with 
both new funding and refinancing. Kommuninvest, on the contrary, worked well during 
the length of the crises. As a result a large group of municipalities from all over the 
country turned to the agency with a desire to join.  
 
After lengthy discussions Kommuninvest i Örebro län AB changed its name to 
Kommuninvest i Sverige AB (1993) and became a national agency. There was also 
another important change: the municipalities were no longer to be direct shareholders 
in the joint-stock company. A cooperative society, Kommuninvest Cooperative Society, 
was formed and it was made the sole owner of the company. In the cooperative 
society the municipalities were members with equal voting rights, irrespective of the 
size of the municipality. On the board of the Cooperative Society the chairs were held 
by local politicians, while the board of the company consisted of professionals. 
 
 
Membership of the cooperative society was, and still is, granted to Swedish 
municipalities and county councils that have a good creditworthiness. Every applicant 
is thoroughly reviewed before membership is granted. A member can be expelled from 
the society is the creditworthiness deteriorates. This system gives a clear incentive for 
all Swedish municipalities to strive to be better in terms of their creditworthiness.  
 
The capitalisation of Kommuninvest works in the way that new members in the 
cooperative society pay a participation fee based on the population of the municipality 
to the society, which yearly (if not otherwise is decided by the yearly meeting) is 
transferred to the joint-stock company as equity. 
 

Municipality Finance Plc. (Finland) 
(Source: interview with Nicholas Anderson, the first CEO of Municipality Finance, 1990 – 2000) 

 
Timeline 
 

Agenda Item 4b

Page 149



 

74 

 

 

1990  Creation of Municipality Finance Plc (Munifin), owned by the Local 
 Government Pensions Institution, which also guarantees its funding.  

1992  Established a Euro-Medium-Term-Note programme 

1996  The Municipal Guarantee Board was established to guarantee Munifin’s 
funding. 

2001 Munifin was merged with Municipal Housing Finance Plc.  
 Alongside of the Pension Institution, a number of cities became 
 shareholders. 

2004  A financial advisory services unit was established within Munifin. 

European Commission confirmed that guarantees put up by the Municipal 
Guarantee Board for Munifin’s funding acquisition programmes are in line with 
EU regulations on state subsidies. 

Rationale and Objectives, Market Determinants 

 
Prior to the creation of Munifin as a financial institution in 1990, Finnish municipalities 
faced numerous difficulties in accessing the financial markets for appropriately priced 
debt. They also faced other problems regarding the efficient management of their 
financial activities. This situation was unacceptable because of the following facts: 

� Municipalities have an unlimited right to tax residents to finance the provision of 
the basic services. Municipalities also receive subsidies and grants from central 
government to finance the provision of the basic services. 

� Municipalities enjoy a zero risk weighting for the purposes of capital adequacy 
and thus should be able to borrow at the same level as the Republic of Finland. 

 
There were several reasons for this state of affairs: 

� The domestic banking market was an effective oligopoly, where there was little 
pressure to reduce margins.  

� Small and medium-sized municipalities had limited access to the financial 
markets. Finland has a relatively small population covering a large geographical 
area with many small municipalities. This means that deal size on average for 
each municipal loan is low and inefficient. 

� Loans to all but the largest municipalities were too small for foreign banks and 
for the public bond markets. Only a handful of the larger cities ventured into the 
foreign debt markets due to insufficient expertise. 

� Municipalities and their central organisations did not have the necessary 
competence and expertise in the financial markets to create a more competitive 
environment for funding. 

� Municipalities and their central organisations lacked expertise in asset and 
liability management of their financial affairs. 

Agenda Item 4b

Page 150



 

75 

 

 

� Banks were offering a variety of domestic and foreign currency loans when 
interest rates and currency movements were extremely volatile. 

 
It was against this background that Munifin was established to lower financing costs 
for all municipalities, to better secure funding for small and medium sized 
municipalities and to assist municipalities in the management of their financial assets 
and liabilities. This was achieved by the creation of the professionally managed 
funding agency guaranteed first by the Local Government Pension Fund and, 
subsequently, by the Municipal Guarantee Board (MGB), an institution established 
under special legislation of which most (98.4%) Finnish municipalities became 
members. Membership was based on voluntary application at the time the legislation 
was promulgated. A small number of small municipalities chose not to apply for 
membership based on fears that they may be subjected to onerous liabilities. This 
proved not to be the case.  
The successful creation of Munifin required a simultaneous combination of the 
following prerequisites: 

� Sufficient equity to satisfy the requirements for capitalisation of financial 
institutions under the BIS regulations for capital adequacy. 

� A minimum number of ten qualified professionals to launch the company as an 
operating financial institution with appropriate risk and financial management 
procedures and systems, accounting, loan marketing and lending capacity and 
sufficient skills to deal with investment banks, banks, brokers and rating 
agencies for funding. 

� Appropriate hardware and software for accounting and financial risk 
management. 

� A joint guarantee system together with sufficient share capital to support capital 
adequacy requirements. 

� The ability to support municipalities in developing their skills in financial asset 
and liability management. 

 
The above prerequisites succeeded because five important entities supported the 
creation of MF. These were the Local Government Pensions Institution (LGPI), the 
Association of Finnish Local and Regional Authorities (AFLRA), the Ministry of the 
Interior (MoI), the largest cities and the Finnish Parliament. 
The LGPI supported the process because they needed to reduce the pressure on 
direct borrowing by municipalities from the pension funds. Their support was important 
because they had the funds to invest in the start-up equity of Munifin and provide the 
necessary guarantees in the first years of operation between 1991 and 1996. They 
also had the necessary professional management to man the board of directors of 
Munifin during these early years. 
 
The AFLRA, MoI and Parliament support was forthcoming because of the need to 
ensure that investments in the infrastructure for the basic services were made 
efficiently. Lower funding costs and better financial management for municipalities 
mean substantial costs savings for the public sector. Municipalities are responsible for 
creating and maintaining this capital-intensive infrastructure. 
 

Agenda Item 4b

Page 151



 

76 

 

 

Support from the big cities was motivated by more motives to promote more efficient 
and disciplined funding within the sector as a whole. The large cities tend to bear the 
brunt of inefficiencies or any accidents incurred by smaller municipalities in the 
financial markets. A joint and centralised system made all municipalities to improve 
efficiency in financial affairs through peer pressure. 
 
The initial start-up period only lasted a few months during which the agency set up a 
basic risk management system, accounting and marketing system. The rating was 
announced at the end of this six-month period and was the same as the Republic of 
Finland. The final risk management system was finally developed during the following 
three years along side the much-improved accounting system. 
 
The Finnish Banking Association, led by Nordea and OKO Bank, raised many 
objections to the creation of Munifin and later to the creation of the MGB. The MGB 
had been created after the Financial Supervision in 1994 raised informal objections to 
the granting of guarantees by LGPI for debt issued by Munifin. This objection was 
understandable since it is unusual for any pension institution to grant such guarantees 
on behalf of its members. The creation of the MGB under special legislation in 1996 
resolved the situation. The legislation was supported unanimously by all the political 
parties. The guarantee ensures competitive funding for municipalities based on the 
creditworthiness of the whole municipal sector. According to the legislation, each 
member municipality is severally liable, pro rata their population, for any losses borne 
by the MGB. 
  
As with the guarantee of LGPI, the guarantee of the MGB was awarded the best 
possible rating, as well as enjoying a zero risk weighting for the purposes of capital 
adequacy. 
 
After the passing of the legislation in 1996, the Finnish Banking Association 
subsequently lodged a complaint with the European Commission stating that such 
legislation whereby the MGB grants guarantees for MF amounts to illegal State Aid. 
The Commission ultimately rejected this complaint on the grounds that this is an 
internal guarantee arrangement within the public sector. 

Particular Success Factors and External Enabling Conditions 

 
The following factors were essential for success of the operations of Munifin: 

� Unanimous support from all political parties from central and regional 
government for the maintenance of a strong and self-governing municipal 
system. 

� Legislation relating to MGB that provides an unequivocal base that both 
simplifies and supports the fact that the municipal sector can secure funding 
based on the creditworthiness of the whole municipal sector. 

� Munifin ownership is concentrated with the large cities and central 
organisations. This enhances credibility since they represent the largest areas 
of population. Furthermore, the board is made up of municipal representatives 
who have some degree of experience in financial markets. Their selection is 
based on a political basis. 

Agenda Item 4b

Page 152



 

77 

 

 

� Munifin and MGB are staffed by professional specialists. 

� Munifin operate without having to maximise profits, but in the same fashion as 
other mutual businesses it seeks to earn a return that enables it to support 
growth of the balance sheet. Its original aim was to maintain low margins for the 
direct benefit of its municipal members. However in recent years margins are 
kept lower because of intense competition from foreign and domestic banks. 

 
Munifin and MGB do not depend on direct sovereign guarantees for funding as a long 
tradition of self governance between central and regional government exists in 
Finland. Although this is an important practical principle, central government remains 
tightly integrated with the municipal sector in as much as their financial 
interdependence is intense. 
 

Governance 

Munifin has applied normal solutions for financial institutions in its choice of corporate 
governance. The legislation relating to the MGB restricts lending to member 
municipalities and liquidity and risk management rules are conservative and risk 
adverse. Munifin seeks to maintain the highest possible rating. This means that risk 
avoidance is more important than profits. 
 
Munifin has actively sought out commissions as a financial consultant from within the 
municipal sector and they have also conducted education training programs for 
advanced and more basic asset/liability management. 
 
Munifin has increased public awareness of the importance of efficient finance for the 
municipal sector in Finland by actively promoting such interests in the media. This has 
been an important counter balance to the banks who have not hesitated in criticising 
Munifin and MGB in the media. 
 
Another important development was the creation of the domestic municipal bond 
market. Such bonds have been branded and offered to investors since 1993 as a low 
risk high yielding investment to bank bonds. Since banks are able to restrict 
competition, there exist opportunities to offer investors more competitively priced 
products directly without having the banks as intermediaries. 

Agenda Item 4b

Page 153



 

78 

 

 

Appendix 2: The broader benefits of a municipal bonds agency 
 

Lars Andersson 
 
Perspective on the broader benefits delivered by Municipal Bond Agencies, i.e. 
beyond simply reducing their funding costs. (This may be from helping with risk 
management advisory, the soft aspects of having an external party review 
finances, etc.) 
 
Reducing risks in financing activities 
Local Government borrowing, like any other borrowing, includes a number of risks. 
There is a danger of not getting access to funding in times of crises or any other 
disturbance in the market that is predominantly used. Another risk is that, in the case 
only one market or type of financial instrument is used, that local government could 
suddenly experience sharp interest rate increases (in refinancing or new borrowing). 
 
These risks are mitigated by diversification in borrowing activities. Diversification 
means that you spread the borrowing to different markets, different financial 
instruments (bonds, private placements etc.) and have a number of loan programmes 
in place. The key to diversification is volume. The yearly borrowing size needs to be 
big enough that it enables you to spread the borrowing in the way described above. 
And it is not only a question of, 
for example, single bond 
issues in the different markets. 
You need to have a presence 
in each market that you use, so 
that you are properly 
recognised when a new bond 
issue is presented.  
 
Even very big local authorities 
do not have the amount of 
yearly borrowing to diversify its 
borrowing in the way an 
agency can. An agency has a 
far better possibility to diversify 
its funding than a single local 
authority, because of the size of its operations.  
  
 

A single local authority, even the big, has limited possibilities 

of achieving diversification 

Agenda Item 4b

Page 154



 

79 

 

 

Kommuninvest’s funding programme 2013 amounted to around, the equivalent 
to, £ 12,5 bn.  Below is the diversification achieved 2009 – 2012:  

 

The possibility of diversification for a Municipal Bond Agency gives reason, not only for 
small local authorities, but also for larger cities to join such an entity.  

The local government funding agencies of Scandinavia and the Netherlands had a 
steady access to funds in the market during the recent financial crisis. This was the 
result of their excellent ratings and the fact that the agencies had a real diversification 
of their borrowing. Another reason was the prudential way of conducting their 
operations. In the case of Sweden, Kommuninvest was able to help commercial banks 
by taking over their loan stock of local authorities.  
 
Private entities that focused on lending to local authorities had in some cases severe 
problems. As examples, Dexia and the Austrian Kommunalkredit are noteworthy. In 
the case of Dexia, it led to a total dismantlement, which was caused by short-term 
borrowing and long term lending and investments in non-performing assets  
 
 
  

Agenda Item 4b

Page 155



 

80 

 

 

Higher creditworthiness for local authorities 
 
A Municipal Bond Agency needs to implement a system of monitoring the activities of 
local authorities. The reason for this is, of course, that the agency is directly dependent 
on the creditworthiness of their clients, just as any credit institution. However, the 
agency only has one category of client. This is both advantageous and 
disadvantageous.  It is advantageous because it the agency can be very 
knowledgeable about the sector; its challenges and possibilities. It is disadvantageous 
because it does not spread credit risks to different sectors. This is why an agency has 
to be even stricter in their appraisal of loan applications than other institutions. Without 
a good credit rating and a good reputation among investors, an agency will not work. 
An agency owned and backed by a considerable number of creditworthy local 
authorities is destined to reach the best possible rating. 
 
The reliance on the creditworthiness of the local authorities involved in the Agency’s 
activities also show why an agency would not give incentives to local authorities to 
take on excessive borrowing. 
 
Let us look at the system for monitoring local authorities, used by Kommuninvest. The 
are two aspects to this:  
 
1. A thorough investigation of the local authority creditworthiness before it gains 
membership in Kommuninvest. 
 
2. A yearly assessment of the each member’s situation, in terms of the areas shown in 
the illustration:  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
If the creditworthiness of a members has dropped substantially, there is a possibility 
that it was be expelled from the Agency. 
 
It is very important that the prerequisites for entering into the Agency are strict and 
transparent. The Agency should always have the possibilities to refuse membership to 
local authorities with poor creditworthiness and also to exclude members with financial 
problems. In the case of Kommuninvest, existing members (local authorities) has the 
full power to set the criteria for joining the Agency, which assures that every new 
member has an acceptable creditworthiness. The fact that the members, with their 

Agenda Item 4b

Page 156



 

81 

 

 

knowledge about the sector, set the criteria also ensures that the quality of the credit 
quality assessment is excellent.  
 
If high quality supervision of local authorities is combined with a reduction of borrowing 
costs and reduced risks in the funding activities (diversification), it gives very powerful 
incentives for councillors and financial directors to improve their authorities 
creditworthiness, in order to gain membership in the Agency. In my experience, peer 
pressure is much stronger than central government pressure. 
 
Kommuninvest’s important role as gatekeeper, as well as giving incentives to improve 
creditworthiness, is recognised by the Swedish central government. 
 
 
  

Agenda Item 4b

Page 157



 

82 

 

 

A centre of expertise 
 
Local authorities  main objectives are to provide basic services for  their residents. 
These services could, for example, be water and sewage, solid waste disposal, 
transportation, education, care of the elderly and other types of local infrastructure. 
The focus of the local politician is to produce the “right” local services in the “right 
way”, and the evaluation of that is up to the voters in the local elections. The focus of 
the Financial director in a local authority is to organise proper accounting, to produce a 
budget and an annual report. The head of economic administration is generally not 
recruited for skills in financing, but more for extensive experience in budgeting and 
accounting. This leads normally to a situation where municipalities lack the necessary 
skills to handle external funding efficiently without excessive risk.  
 
An agency has the possibility to employ financial experts to run these activities. 
However, this does not rule out the fact that an agency also needs people with a 
thorough understanding of the local government sector. 
  
Both Kommuninvest and Agence France Locale have implemented a structure of 
governance that takes these matters into consideration. This is illustrated below: 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Kommuninvest has also taken on a role to support research in matters related to local 
government financing and related questions.  Universities and other research 
institutions can once a year apply for grants to specific projects. The result of the 
supported research is communicated to Swedish local authorities.  
 
  

Agenda Item 4b

Page 158



 

83 

 

 

A centre for transfer of knowledge 
 
A very important role for an agency is to transfer knowledge to local authorities and 
Kommuninvest works actively in this regard. The transfer of knowledge takes place 
both in daily activities and at various events.  
 
At the level of the board of the cooperative society 
The board of Kommuninvest Cooperative Society, consisting of local politicians, 
receives a training program from Kommuninvest. Discussion within the board provides 
additional knowledge of the possibilities and conditions of the financial markets. The 
board is also an arena for exchange of knowledge on best market practices and 
solutions for the local authorities that the board members represent.  
Credit Research & Financial Committee 
 
The members of the Credit Research & Financial Committee are appointed by the 
Yearly General Meeting of the Cooperative Society. The Committee is responsible for 
monitoring the financial status of member municipalities as well as developments in 
the municipal sector as a whole. It is also tasked by the Society’s Board to process 
new membership applications. 
The committee is made up of financial directors in local authorities that are members 
of Kommuninvest. The Committee’s instructions state that it shall represent different 
parts of Sweden, have experience from different types of municipalities and knowledge 
of funding operations. 
 
 
The Committee’s Tasks: 

� Screen municipalities and county councils that apply for membership of 
Kommuninvest Cooperative Society, and give an opinion on the applications.  

� Review each member of Kommuninvest Cooperative Society at least twice a 
year. 

� Follow economic and financial developments in the municipal sector.    

� Develop the analysis model used to review municipalities and county councils. 

� Consider issues of primary economic and financial importance to the municipal 
sector. 

� Deal with issues regarding future assessments relating to the financial position 
of the municipal sector, and national economic developments. 

� Assist the Society’s Board in preparing statements on specially referred issues. 

� Otherwise performing tasks set by the Society’s Board. 

 
This Committee is an important instrument for the activities of Kommuninvest, but also 
a way to spread knowledge and awareness of questions related to financial markets 
and instruments, risks and creditworthiness. 
 
Seminars 
Annualy, Kommuninvest arranges a number of seminars on subjects related to its 
activities. Both local politicians and officials attend these seminars.  

Agenda Item 4b

Page 159



 

84 

 

 

Eight financial seminars were arranged in different parts of Sweden during the autumn 
of 2013. 
Kommuninvest are to arrange 18 Member Consultations in 2014. These are 
conferences, in all parts of Sweden, where the overall strategy for Kommuninvest, as 
well as current issues, are discussed.  
 
The General Meeting is also organised as a conference to which speakers from 
central government and other organisations are invited. 
 
 
Consultancy 
In the first part of Kommuninvest’s history, consultancy was a part of its activities. The 
agency carried out loan stock reviews, and consulted on routines and procedures. 
 
General communication - publications 
Communication is one of the most important areas for an agency. One could look at 
an agency as the interpreter between the international financial markets and the local 
government sector. It is obvious that great efforts have to be applied to inform 
investors of the Agency, its clients and its activities. An extensive programme of road 
shows has to be implemented. But, it is also crucial to inform local authorities and to 
teach them about financial markets, financial instruments and, maybe above all, risk 
management. 
 
Kommuninvest issues the following publications 
 
 

 
Dialog; A magazine with 4 – 5 issues a year aimed at councillors 
and financial directors, as well as others interested in public 
finance  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
Perspektiv; three issues a year with in-depth articles about 
financial questions, aimed at Financial Directors 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 4b

Page 160



 

85 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 
Veckobrev; weekly newsletter distributed as e-mail. Include a 
market up-date and information of rates, currencies etc. Aimed at 
Financial Directors. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Graphs & charts updated every month 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Examples for appropriate wording of council decisions related to 
finance 
 
 
 
  

Agenda Item 4b

Page 161



 

86 

 

 

Regarding competition 
 
Financial institutions owned by the public sector are viewed with suspicion from the 
point of view of a free competition. EU-directives set an extensive and detailed 
framework for keeping the public sector from distorting free markets. It is therefore 
important to consider whether an agency distorts competition.  
 
Firstly, it is essential to discuss the specific regulations of an agency. Experience has 
shown that the most cost-efficient funding for local authorities occurs when the agency 
does not have a monopoly and local authorities are free to borrow from any credit 
supplier in the market. It is essential that all borrowing should be open to fair and 
transparent competitive bidding. An agency should not be given any specific 
advantages or privileges such as exemption from taxes, although it can be argued that 
local government is a part of the country’s government that indeed levies taxation. It is 
an important conclusion that the Agency should, as far as possible, adapt to market 
practices.  
 
Some argue that a publicly owned financial institution, with or without a guarantee from 
its owners, distorts the free markets. However, this is a weak argument since the only 
purpose of a municipal bonds agency s to service its members, local authorities, with 
financing solutions. An agency does not lend in an open market. It does not lend 
money to any third party in the competitive sector.  
 
An agency’s role is to create advantages for the involved groups, which is identical to 
the underlying principle behind the whole cooperative movement. In its funding 
operations an agency works in full competition with other market players and it is only 
natural that the stakeholders of a funding entity would explore every possible way 
(such as guarantees) to lower the costs of funding. In lending operations, the Agency 
must be cost efficient in full competition with banks and other parties in the financial 
markets. 
 
In conclusion, if a Municipal Bond Agency is operating in a free market competition is 
boosted. The absence of an Agency often leads to markets characterised by oligopoly 
consisting of a few suppliers of credit. 

 

 

 

  

Agenda Item 4b

Page 162



 

87 

 

 

Appendix 3 – Outstanding amounts of Local Authority Borrowing and 

Investments 

 

 

 
 

Source: https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/live-tables-on-local-government-finance  

Agenda Item 4b

Page 163



 

88 

 

 

Appendix 4 – Additional Market Background (1 of 6) 
 

The Sterling Bond Market: Underlying Rates and Spreads 
 

Gilts near historic lows – recent tightening of credit spreads for high quality 
issuers 

 

  

Agenda Item 4b

Page 164



 

89 

 

 

Appendix 4 – Additional Market Background (2 of 6) 
 

 

  

Agenda Item 4b

Page 165



 

90 

 

 

Appendix 4 – Additional Market Background (3 of 6) 

Top 30 issuers with outstanding Sterling Debt 
 

 

 

 

  

Agenda Item 4b

Page 166



 

91 

 

 

Appendix 4 – Additional Market Background (4 of 6) 
 
 

Detailed Sterling Comparables 
 
Only highest quality Sterling Bonds should be used as comparatives 

 
 
 

 
 
 
Source: Top 10 Sterling syndicate bank, Jan 2014 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Agenda Item 4b

Page 167



 

92 

 

 

 

Appendix 4 – Additional Market Background (5 of 6) 
 

Assessing relative value for local authority and similar borrowers 
 

 

 

 

 
Source: Top 10 Sterling syndicate bank, Jan 2014 

 

 
 
  

Agenda Item 4b

Page 168



 

93 

 

 

Appendix 4 – Additional Market Background (6 of 6) 

Secondary performance overview of comparable bonds since July 

2012 
 
 

 
 
 
 
Source: Top 10 Sterling syndicate bank 

  

Agenda Item 4b

Page 169



 

94 

 

 

Appendix 5: Biographies of the Authors 
 
 
 
Aidan Brady – Lead Advisor 
 
Aidan, a partner in Danela Ventures Partners Limited, is a seasoned executive, with 
over twenty years financial services experience.  
 
Aidan's career in financial services began in 1992, when he joined Merrill Lynch. He 
subsequently joined Bankers Trust, which was acquired by Deutsche Bank.   
 
At Deutsche Bank, Aidan held a number of senior roles, including Chief Executive 
Officer of DB UK Bank, Chief Operating Officer for Deutsche Bank UK, Chief 
Administrative Officer for the Legal, Risk and Capital division, Chair of the Global Cost 
Committee, Chair of the UK Operating Committee, Member of the UK Regional 
Governance Board, and deputy member of the Group’s Global Investment Committee. 
He has also worked for UBS in an interim COO capacity. 
 
Prior to his career in the City, Aidan, a Chartered Accountant by background, worked 
for major accountancy firms in Ireland, London and Hong Kong 
 
Aidan co-founded of Danela Ventures Partners Limited, which focuses on financial 
services innovation and is currently building a new UK corporate banking platform.  
 
Lars M Andersson – Strategic Adviser 
 
Lars initiated the creation of Kommuninvest, the Swedish Local Government Funding 
Agency, in 1986. Mr Andersson became the agency’s first president and developed its 
operations until 2001. 
 
During the last 20 years, he has worked as an advisor to local authorities in many 
parts of the world. Among other projects, Lars has been an advisor, during the last five 
years, to the French Local Government Associations in the project that led to the 
creation of Agence France Locale in October 2013. 
 
Lars is now a member of the Supervisory Board of Agence France Locale and 
chairman of the Strategy Committee within the Board. Mr Andersson is also chairman 
of Kommuninvest’s Committee for its Research Fund. 
 
In 2012 Lars, together with Sören Häggroth, published the book Kommunala vägval 
(Municipalities at the Crossroads) and is currently writing a second book on the future 
challenges for local authorities. 
 
Francis Breedon – Strategic Adviser 
 
Francis is Professor of Economics and Finance at Queen Mary, University of London, 
having previously been a Senior Lecturer in Finance at Imperial College Business 
School 

Agenda Item 4b

Page 170



 

95 

 

 

  
Francis was previously Global Head of Currency Research at Lehman Brothers and a 
Senior Researcher / Manager at the Bank of England. He started his career as a 
Research Officer and the Centre for Economic Forecasting at the London Business 
School 
 
Francis has published numerous articles and books, including: 
 
Articles 
“The Financial Market Impact of UK Quantitative Easing (with J. Chadha and A. 
Waters) Oxford Review of Economic Policy, Winter 2012 
“A Variance Decomposition of Index-Linked Bond Returns” Economics Letters, July 
2012 
“Differences in Beliefs and Currency Risk Premia” (with A. Beber and A. Buraschi) 
Journal of Financial Economics, December 2010 
“Investigating Excess Returns from Nominal Bonds” (with J. Chadha). Oxford Bulletin 
of Economics and Statistics, February 2003 
“Bidding and Information: Evidence from UK Gilt-Edged Auctions” (With J. Ganley). 
Economic Journal, October 2000 
“The Valuation of sub-underwriting agreements for UK rights issues” (with I. Twinn) 
Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin, 1996 
“Bond prices and market expectations of inflation” Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin, 
1995 
 
Books 
“Macroeconomics: Understanding the Global Economy” (with D. Miles and A. Scott) 
Wiley, 2012 
“Estimating and Interpreting the Yield Curve” (with N. Anderson, M. Deacon, A. Derry 
and G. Murphy). J. Wiley 1996 
 
 
 

  

Agenda Item 4b

Page 171



 

96 

 

 

Glossary 
 

 

Arranger: Usually an investment bank, who manages the sale of bonds or other 
securities on behalf of an issuer, or the establishment of a programme such as a 
Medium Term Note programme. Often two arrangers are appointed for large, 
significant or complicated issues. 
 
Basis Point: One hundredth of 1% i.e. 0.01%; often abbreviated to “bps”. 
 
Benchmark Size: A bond issue large enough to provide sufficient liquidity that the 
pricing can vary in line with the market’s assessment of the issuer’s creditworthiness.  
In the UK, this is typically £250 million to £300 million.  Commonly such issues are 
also large enough to be included in the bond indices, such as iBoxx, against which 
bond investors assess their performance. 
 
Bond: An interest bearing security, usually with a fixed maturity.  Bonds are analogous 
to a loan, but with the loan divided up into small pieces.  Purchasers buy the bond in 
order to receive the interest or coupon during its lifetime and to be repaid the principal 
when it matures.  A bond’s “price” usually refers to the cost of purchasing the bond, 
but in relation to new issues, common practice is to describe the price in terms of the 
“spread”. 
 
Capital Requirements Directive IV or “CRD IV”: The EU Directive that implements 
enhanced capital requirements for banks and financial institutions.  The Directive 
incorporates the supranational Basel III rules that set global capital requirements for 
banks. 
 
Certainty Rate: The interest rate at which the PWLB lends to local authorities who 
disclose to the PWLB certain information regarding their borrowing and capital 
investment plans.  The certainty rate is 0.8% over Gilts and a reduction of 0.2% from 
the standard PWLB interest rate. 
 
Coupon: The interest rate payable on a bond. 
 
Commercial Paper: Bonds with a maturity of less than one year when issued. 
 
Commercial Paper Programme: A vehicle that enables an issuer to sell commercial 
paper on a frequent basis without needing to issue a prospectus and obtain any 
necessary regulatory approval for every issue of the paper.  Such programmes 
established in Europe for sale to UK and European investors are often described as 
Euro Commercial Paper programmes or “ECP”.  ECP programmes typically allow 
commercial paper to be issued in different currencies including Sterling, the EURO 
and US dollar. 
 
Cost of Capital: The interest and/or dividend rate that an entity must pay investors i.e. 
its cost of funds. 
 

Agenda Item 4b

Page 172



 

97 

 

 

Credit Rating Agency: Independent organisation that assesses the creditworthiness 
of issuers to determine a “credit rating”.  In relation to bonds, the term usually refers to 
Standard & Poor’s, Moody’s and Fitch, each of which has its own system of credit 
ratings and assessing creditworthiness. 
 
Credit Structure: The legal and financial structure of the Agency and its bond 
programmes. 
 
Creditworthiness: The likelihood that an entity will pay its debts in full and on time. 
 
Debt Management Office: Usually abbreviated to “DMO”, an executive agency of the 
Treasury that manages the debt and cash of the Government. 
 
Default: Usually refers to a failure by an entity to make a debt repayment on time.  A 
technical default can also occur when the terms or conditions of a bond, loan or other 
agreement are broken even though the debt is still being repaid on time. 
 
Diversification: In relation to the Agency, this relates to the number, type and 
geographic spread of the local authorities borrowing via the Agency.  Ideally the more 
authorities across the country, covering all types of local authority that borrow, the 
greater the diversification.  Typically, a higher level of diversification is considered 
better.   
 
Early Redemption: Where a loan or bond is repaid before its maturity.  In the case of 
a bond, the bond is typically bought back and cancelled.  In the case of a loan, the 
principal is repaid to the lender together with any fee or penalty due.  This is referred 
to as “premature repayment” by the PWLB. 
 
ECP: See Commercial Paper Programme. 
 
EMTN: See Medium Term Notes. 
 
Equity: The funds available to shareholders if all other liabilities have been met.  This 
is typically the shareholders’ initial investment together with any profits retained by the 
company. 
 
Execution Risk: The risk that a transaction or business plan will either not be 
successful, or achieve outcomes that are less than those expected e.g. a spread that 
is worse than anticipated, or market share less than expected. 
 
Face Value: In relation to bonds, refers to the principal or redemption value of a bond.  
This is the amount that an issuer pays to investors when the bond matures.   
 
Financial Conduct Authority: Often referred to as the “FCA”, the Financial Conduct 
Authority is responsible for the regulation of financial services firms and ensuring the 
integrity of the UK’s financial markets.  The FCA focuses on the conduct of both retail 
and wholesale financial services firms, together with their staff. 
 
Financial Instrument:  Describes any asset or contract that gives rise to a financial 
asset for one entity and a financial liability for another (including equity).  Financial 

Agenda Item 4b

Page 173



 

98 

 

 

markets tends to use the term to cover any asset or contract that can be easily traded 
such as bonds, shares, foreign currencies and derivatives.  Accountants tend to use a 
broader definition that covers assets and liabilities that are not easily traded. 
 
General Power of Competence: Introduced under Chapter 1 of the Localism Act 
2011, the power permits “a local authority has power to do anything that individuals 
generally may do” unless it is proscribed by other legislation and regulations e.g. it 
does not permit the introduction of new taxes. 
 
Gilts: Bonds issued by the UK Government with a maturity when issued greater than 
one year. 
 
Hold back: A portion of a loan taken out by a borrower, but not paid over by the 
lender. 
 
Investor Relations: Maintaining effective relationships and good communication with 
current and potential investors. 
 
Issuer: The legal entity that issues bonds or other security. 
 
Joint and Several Guarantee: A guarantee under which one of the guarantors can be 
held liable for the whole of the guaranteed debt, despite being responsible for only part 
of that debt; a creditor can pursue any or all of the guarantors in the event of default. 
 
Liquidity: In relation to the Agency (also banks and other entities) means the 
availability of cash to meet payments due.  In terms of the financial markets, it refers to 
the ready availability of securities for sale and purchase; typically the greater the 
liquidity the better. 
 
LOBO: “Lender Option, Borrower Option” loan.  The lender has the option to change 
the interest rate at regular intervals, usually between six months and five years, and 
the borrower has the option to reject the change and to repay the loan. 
 
Market Making: Where an investment bank agrees to offer to sell and bid to buy 
securities in the secondary market.  Typically, all members of a syndicate placing 
bonds are expected to be market makers. 
 
Maturity: Describes when a loan or bond has to be repaid.  Depending on context, the 
term can relate to a specific date e.g. 31 March 2015 or a period of time e.g. 10 years. 
 
Medium Term Notes: Bonds with a maturity of more than one year and typically less 
than thirty years, although bonds with maturities of up to 100 years have been known.  
The bonds are issued via a programme that enables an issuer to sell bonds on a 
frequent basis without needing to issue a prospectus and obtain any necessary 
regulatory approval for every issue of the bonds.  Such programmes established in 
Europe for sale to UK and European investors are often described as Euro Medium 
Term Note programmes or “EMTN” programmes.  EMTN programmes typically allow 
bonds to be issued in different currencies and both secured and unsecured bonds.  
The key benefits of a programme are flexibility and cost effectiveness. 
 

Agenda Item 4b

Page 174



 

99 

 

 

New Issue Premium: New issuers of bonds typically pay a slightly higher coupon to 
reflect that they are not as well known in the market as existing issuers and that their 
performance is unknown. 
 
Par Yield: See yield. 
 
Present Value: Is the value of a future sum of money in today’s terms.  £100 today is 
always worth more than £100 in the future because £100 today can be invested to 
earn interest (inflation also reduces the purchasing power of money over time).  The 
process of calculating present value is known as “discounting”. 
 
Primary Market: The sale of new bonds, shares and other financial instruments to 
investors, typically via the syndicate.   
 
Prudential Code: The Prudential Code is a professional code of practice to support 
local authorities in taking capital investment decisions including the funding of capital 
investment.  The Code helps force local authorities to consider whether borrowing is 
affordable and financially sustainable.  Local Authorities are required by regulation to 
have regard to the Prudential Code. 
 
Prudential Regulation Authority: The Prudential Regulation Authority or “PRA” is 
responsible for the prudential regulation and supervision of banks, building societies, 
credit unions, insurers and major investment firms 
 
Public Works Loan Board: Usually abbreviated to “PWLB”, part of the Debt 
Management Office and lends money to local government and other prescribed bodies 
on behalf of the Government. 
 
Repurchase Agreement: Short for “sale and repurchase agreement” and usually 
abbreviated to “repo”, provides means for a bank or other entity to borrow money for 
short periods, usually to provide liquidity.  A repo involves the sale of a security on the 
basis it is bought back on an agreed date. 
 
Right of Recourse: In the context of the Outline Business Case, the right of one or 
more local authorities to require one or more other local authorities to reimburse them 
for sums paid out under the Joint and Several Guarantee or to pass some of that 
liability on in the event of a claim under the guarantee.  
 
Risk Capital: The long term funds invested in an entity that are particularly at risk in 
the event of insolvency or bankruptcy.  The terms always includes equity, but includes 
subordinated debt if it exists. 
 
Secondary Market: The financial market in which previously issued bonds, shares 
and other financial markets are bought and sold, usually via a stock exchange or 
similar. 
 
Section 151 Officer: The chief financial officer of a local authority.  Section 151 of the 
Local Government Act 1972 requires every local authority to make arrangements for 
the proper administration of its financial affairs and requires one officer to be 
nominated to take responsibility for the administration of those affairs. 

Agenda Item 4b

Page 175



 

100 

 

 

 
Sovereign: In the context of the Outline Business Case, the UK Government. 
 
Spread: Commonly used to describe the difference in yield between two financial 
instruments, usually of the same (or very similar) maturities.  Typically, one instrument 
is a “reference security” such as government bond, or a “reference rate” such as a 
commonly used interest rate e.g. the London Interbank Offered Rate “LIBOR”.  It is 
usually expressed in terms of basis points e.g. “a 45 basis point spread to Gilts”.  
Often used interchangeably with “margin”. 
 
Subordinated Debt: Debt that has a lower priority for repayment than other debts in 
the event of insolvency or bankruptcy.  In relation to the Agency, the subordinated debt 
will rank lower than the bonds.  Subordinated debt has a higher priority than equity. 
 
Syndicate: The group of banks that will be appointed to sell the Agency’s bonds to 
investors in the primary market. 
 
Tap or Tap Issue: In relation to the Outline Business Case, is when an issuer sells 
new bonds that form part of a past issue.  The additional bonds are issued at the 
original face value, maturity and coupon, but sold at the current market price for the 
issue.  For example, a 25-year £250 million issue made 2 years ago could be 
increased by £50 million, but the additional bonds would mature in 23 years’ time.  Tap 
issues are common when an issuer has a Medium Term Note programme.  The 
financial markets sometimes use “tap” to describe any primary market issue e.g. a 
company “tapped the markets with a £500 million share issue”. 
 
Trade: In relation to the Outline Business Case, describes the yield on the Agency’s 
bonds at a given point in time.  A “trade” in financial markets is the buying and selling 
of a financial instrument.   
 
Treasury Bills: Bonds issued by the UK Government with a maturity when issued of 
less than one year, usually three months.  (The US Government also issues its own 
bills, usually referred to as T-Bills.) 
 
UK Listing Authority: Usually abbreviated to “UKLA”, is a division of the Financial 
Conduct Authority and oversees the issuers of securities.  In particular, it focuses on 
the rules that govern the listing of securities on the UK’s stock exchanges, known as 
the “Listing Rules”. 
 
Yield: The income from a security expressed as a proportion of its current price e.g. a 
bond bought for £100 with a coupon of £5 has a yield of 5%.  Par yield is the coupon 
earned when a bond is priced at par, par being the face value of the bond. 
 
Yield Curve: The different yields returned on otherwise identical bonds with different 
maturities e.g. Gilts with a maturity of one year will normally have a different yield to 
those with a maturity of 10 years.  Normally, yields rise with maturity – the “normal” 
yield curve.  When interest rates are expected to fall, yields fall with maturity – the 
inverse yield curve.  Currently, interest rates are at historically low levels, but expected 
to rise in the future causing a “positive” or “rising” yield curve where yields on medium 
and long terms bonds are much greater than for short term bonds. 

Agenda Item 4b

Page 176



 
 

Finance Panel  

28 March 2014  

 

 

     

 
 

Welfare Reform Update 

 

Purpose of report 

 

For discussion. 

 

Summary 

 

This report updates Members on the latest welfare reform developments, on issues 
including: local welfare assistance; the legal loophole in relation to removal of the spare room 
subsidy; Universal Credit and the Single Fraud Investigation Service. 

 

 

Recommendation 

 
That the Finance Panel note progress and offer any further steer on the issues covered. 
 
Action 
 
Officers to take forward in line with Members’ direction.  

 

 

Contact officer:  Rose Doran 

Position: Senior Advisor 

Phone no: 020 7664 6843 

Email: Rose.Doran@local.gov.uk   

 

Agenda Item 5

Page 177



 
 

Finance Panel  

28 March 2014  

 

 

     

Welfare Reform Update 

 
Local welfare assistance 
 
1. The LGA has written to Eric Pickles MP to express its concerns about the removal of 

separately identified funding for Local Welfare Assistance from 2015-16 in the local 
government finance settlement (Appendix A).  Local authorities fear that ending this 
grant in 2015-16 will jeopardise their ability to promote stability and resilience and provide 
timely support to vulnerable people at points of crisis. 
 

2. The Government had promised to review the grant before coming to future decisions.  
They are still planning to undertake some form of review, but this is apparently in the 
early stages of development.  The LGA will ensure that it is part of discussions to shape 
the Government’s review, in particular its consultation with councils, and has proposed its 
own review of councils’ local schemes. 

 
3. The Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) have also proposed quarterly monitoring 

of the final year of the existing funding (2014/15).  Sir Merrick has written to the 
department to express concerns about the additional burdens and uncertainty this 
approach would create; a constructive reply from the Minister has been received which 
officials will follow up (see Appendix B).   

 
Housing 
 
Discretionary Housing Payments (DHP) 
 
4. The Chancellor announced in the Autumn Statement that the Government will increase 

Discretionary Housing Payments (DHP) by £40 million in both 2014-15 and 2015-16.  
This is welcome. 
 

5. The Government has acknowledged that additional DHP to support implementation of the 
welfare reforms will need to be in place for longer than originally planned. 

 
6. Recent media reports about councils under-spending DHP do not take into account the 

phased implementation of the welfare reforms and the time lag between a person being 
impacted by welfare reform and turning to the council for help.  A number of councils also 
drew their initial eligibility criteria quite tightly to gauge demand. It appears that the 
majority of councils have sensibly planned DHP allocations to manage demand 
throughout the year.  It also appears to be the case that the current distribution does not 
accurately reflect the geography of demand. 
 

7. Our arguments on distribution and prioritisation have been further strengthened by the 
results from an LGA survey, which show that 9 out of 10 responding councils said that 
DHP applications had increased greatly between April 2013 and November 2013. The 
vast majority of responding councils (88 per cent) are prioritising DHP to prevent 
homelessness. The survey also showed that the main driver of demand for DHP is the 
removal of the spare room subsidy.   

Agenda Item 5

Page 178



 
 

Finance Panel  

28 March 2014  

 

 

     

 
 

8. This strengthens the LGA’s arguments for greater freedoms to address affordable 
housing: the total lifting of the housing borrowing cap; flexible use of existing stock; 
retention of right-to-buy receipts, so that there are affordable and appropriately sized 
homes for people affected by the reforms to move to. 
 

9. There is also a need for further discussion and agreement about the purpose of DHP 
going forward: for example is the intention that councils should put in place a long term 
DHP to enable someone to remain in a disability-adapted home? 

 
Removal of the Spare Room Subsidy – legal loophole  
 
10. It has come to light that due to housing regulations dating back to 1996, a number of 

working age tenants were technically ineligible for the removal of the spare room subsidy.  
The people affected have been in receipt of Housing Benefit for the same home since 1 
January 1996 with no longer than a 4 week break.   

 
11. The Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) estimates that 5,000 people are affected 

and has asked councils to identify them so that Housing Benefit can be refunded and 
people reassessed once the legislation has been amended. This is challenging because 
1996 pre-dates electronic record keeping systems in most places and it is likely to take 
some considerable time to investigate and settle cases.  Early indications from councils 
suggest the number of people affected may be considerably higher than the 
Government’s initial estimates. 

 
12. In a number of cases, councils will have paid out a DHP to cover the removal of the spare 

room subsidy. The LGA has asked DWP to meet councils’ full costs, including 
administrative costs, of correcting the legal loophole including making it possible for them 
to recover DHPs, or by offsetting that expenditure against HB subsidy entitlements.  The 
Government has agreed to meet administrative costs, but has so far resisted our request 
in relation to recovery of DHP, insisting that councils should bear the risk of any legal 
challenge, and suggesting that councils could simply offset overpaid DHP by reducing 
payments they would otherwise have made after the loophole is closed at the end of this 
financial year.  We are continuing to press the point and Sir Merrick wrote to Lord Freud 
(the Minister for Welfare Reform) again on the 18 March.  (Letter attached at Appendix 
C). 

 
13. The regulations will be amended by the end of March 2014.  

 
Universal Credit (UC) Update 
 
UC programme progress 
 
14. The DWP issued a further update of the Strategic Intent Document (SID) for UC. The 

LGA welcomed the updated version of the SID and noted that it addressed a number of 
the issues that had previously been raised. The updated version of the SID gives much 
clearer acknowledgement of the non-digital interaction which will be needed to deliver 

Agenda Item 5

Page 179



 
 

Finance Panel  

28 March 2014  

 

 

     

UC. It also refers more directly to the need for DWP to work in partnership with local 
government to support vulnerable claimants.  
 

15. As a result of direct lobbying, the LGA have been invited to sit on the UC Business 
Design Authority and the UC Operational Assurance Group to ensure direct input into the 
next phase of the programme. 
 

16. DWP are currently preparing to rollout UC to the North West. A DWP event to update 
councils in the North West region is anticipated over the next few months. 

 
17. The Partnership Forum met in February. Sir Robert Walmsley - the Chair of the UC 

Programme Board - attended. He highlighted some of the challenges and risks around 
delivery of the programme and the need to work closely with the Treasury during the 
expansion of the live service. He recognised the need for DWP and local authorities to 
work together closely in order to build some of the foundations needed to make UC work, 
and highlighted the positive links between the Partnership Forum and the Programme 
Board. 

 
Local Support Services Trialling Plan 

 
18. DWP are continuing to develop detail around the LSS Trialling Plan. It is anticipated that 

over the next few weeks further information will be available about how local authorities 
can apply to take part in the trialling process. The LGA will be closely involved in the 
assessment and selection process. 

 
19. Sir Merrick and representatives of WLGA, COSLA and interested councils are taking part 

in a roundtable discussion with Lord Freud on 25 March to discuss this testing phase.    
 

Single Fraud Investigation Service (SFIS) 
 

20. The LGA continues to work closely with government on the establishment of SFIS. We 
are fully involved in the SFIS joint implementation working group, drawing upon a network 
of practitioners. Councils will still have a very strong interest in benefit fraud after the 
introduction of SFIS, because of the value to the public purse of catching multiple 
fraud. In discussions with government officials we have stressed the need for councils to 
retain the ability to combine prosecutions for different offences if there is more than one 
investigating authority. We are pressing for this to be a priority of the Joint Working 
Group. 

 
21. The LGA welcomed the recent Department for Communities and Local Government 

(DCLG) announcement of £16.6 million from 2014/15 for councils to boost corporate 
fraud capacity. Through discussions with Baroness Stowell it has been possible to share 
some early thoughts around this funding and the need to focus on developing the anti-
fraud hub model and improving recovery rates.  We think there is a need to join-up the 
SFIS implementation conversation with the CLG fraud fund through regular political-level 
meetings.  

 
 

 

Agenda Item 5

Page 180



Agenda Item 5a

Page 181



Agenda Item 5a

Page 182



Agenda Item 5b

Page 183



Agenda Item 5b

Page 184



Agenda Item 5b

Page 185



Agenda Item 5b

Page 186



Agenda Item 5b

Page 187



Agenda Item 5b

Page 188



Agenda Item 5b

Page 189



Agenda Item 5b

Page 190



Agenda Item 5b

Page 191



Agenda Item 5b

Page 192



Agenda Item 5b

Page 193



Agenda Item 5b

Page 194



Agenda Item 5c

Page 195



Page 196



 

Finance Panel  

28 March 2014 

 

 
 

     

Single Fraud Investigation Service 

 
Purpose  
 
For direction. 
 
Summary 
 
This report provides an update on developments relating to the Single Fraud Investigation 
Service. 
 

 
Recommendation 
 
Members are invited to note and comment upon the issues raised in this report. 
 
Action 
 
Officers to take forward in line with Members’ steer.  
 

 
 
 

Contact officer:  Paul Raynes 

Position: Head of Programmes 

Phone no: 020 7664 3037 

Email: paul.raynes@local.gov.uk  

  

Agenda Item 6

Page 197



 

Finance Panel  

28 March 2014 

 
 

     

Single Fraud Investigation Service  

 
Background 
 
1. The Chancellor confirmed in the Autumn Statement that the Government intends to set 

up a new national fraud organisation - the Single Fraud Investigation Service (SFIS) - to 
tackle and prevent benefit fraud in the new benefits system.  The Government intends 
SFIS to be mainly staffed by local fraud investigators currently working in councils.  
 

2. The LGA robustly challenged the evidence upon which the decision to proceed was 
reached, and highlighted the potentially negative impact of a national organisation on 
councils’ capacity to catch multiple fraud underpinned by local intelligence. 

 
3. The Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) has announced a phased implementation 

between March 2014 and October 2016.  A small number of sites will go live in the 
summer and phased implementation will start in October 2014 and run until March 2016.  
This means that SFIS will be operational before the majority of Universal Credit claimants 
are expected to have migrated in 2016/17.   

 
4. The DWP wrote to council Chief Executives on 3 March setting out next steps with 

implementing SFIS.  The letter sent to authorities in Phase 1 (the existing SFIS Pilot 
sites) is attached at Appendix A and the letter sent to Phase 2 councils (those sites 
rolling out from October 2014 onwards) is attached at Appendix B.  They cover 
information about regional road shows for councils, the implementation timeframe and 
the human resources transfer approach.  The letters also asks councils to submit 
information to DWP about benefit fraud teams that will inform further detailed planning for 
SFIS implementation. 

 
5. As SFIS continues to develop at pace, officers will share the latest situation with 

Members at the meeting, including feedback from Sir Merrick Cockell’s meeting with Lord 
Freud on 3 March, and the first meeting of the officer-level DWP SFIS Steering 
Committee on 10 March.  

 
6. A related policy development is that the Department for Communities for Local 

Government (DCLG) has announced a £16.6 million fund over 2 years from 2014/15 for 
councils to tackle non-welfare fraud.  The intention is that this fund will enable District 
Councils in particular to replace some of the investigation capacity lost by SFIS by 
enabling a much bigger push on corporate fraud.  No decision has been taken yet on how 
to distribute the fund.  Following consultation with councils, the LGA has submitted a 
proposal to Ministers suggesting that the fund is used to support councils to achieve a 
step-change in corporate fraud recovery rates, supported by elected member champions 
who will give additional focus and drive to tackling fraud.   The LGA continues to 
encourage Ministers to join-up conversations on SFIS implementation with the DCLG 
anti-fraud fund.  

 
Key Issues for councils 
 
7. HR transfer – DWP has decided that a TUPE-like statutory transfer scheme should be 

the legal mechanism by which staff are transferred from councils to DWP.  The LGA is 
considering DWP’s assertion that TUPE itself does not apply although we are pleased 

Agenda Item 6

Page 198



 

Finance Panel  

28 March 2014 

 
 

     

that the DWP has indicated that the terms of the transfer scheme will be TUPE-like, with 
consequent protections for transferring employees’ terms and conditions.  The LGA is 
seeking to ensure that the mechanism and criteria for identifying those that transfer is 
appropriate and that the terms of the transfer provide certainty for our transferring 
employees consistent with similar transfers.  
 

8. Joint prosecutions –  We are concerned that councils’ capacity to prevent, detect and 
catch fraud will be much reduced due to staff transferring to SFIS and that it will also be 
much harder to catch multiple fraud in a system where benefit fraud is investigated 
nationally, and in isolation from other types of fraud, which will still be the responsibility of 
councils.  To mitigate this risk we need to ensure that it is possible to combine 
prosecutions for different offences.  The DWP letter to Chief Executives states that all 
prosecutions arising from SFIS investigations will be conducted solely by the Crown 
Prosecution Service (CPS) and we are seeking confirmation that councils will be able to 
jointly prosecute with the CPS where there is also a need to prosecute a corporate fraud.  
Practitioners advise us that it is likely councils will need a new legislative power to 
underpin this.  We are involved in the DWP’s Joint Working Group which is looking at 
post-SFIS working arrangements.   

 
9. Roll out timetable and funding implications – Each council will be allocated a month in 

the national implementation schedule between October 2014 and March 2016.  DWP will 
shortly issue an implementation schedule and councils have been asked to provide 
supporting information on benefit teams that might influence when SFIS is implemented.  
Whether there is enough clarity to allow them to provide that information is debatable.  
Councils will be given an opportunity to liaise with the SFIS project team if they are given 
an unsuitable implementation date.  We are discussing the funding implications for 
councils of the transition phase with DWP. 

 
10. Road shows – it is positive that DWP is running nine events across England between 24 

March and 8 May.  DWP will share with councils the latest information on SFIS.  An LGA 
officer or one of our anti-fraud advisers will be present at each road show.  

 
Next steps 
 
11. Subject to Members’ steer, we suggest that Sir Merrick Cockell (LGA Chairman) writes to 

Lord Freud and Baroness Stowell to set out the LGA’s view on next steps regarding 
SFIS, and the importance of joining this up with DCLG’s wider push on fraud.  
 

Financial Implications 
 
12. This is core work for the LGA and will be contained within existing budgets. 

Agenda Item 6

Page 199



Page 200



 

 

 

 

Appendix A 

 
Joanne Bradshaw 

  Programme Director 
Fraud, Error & Debt Programme 

  Caxton House 
  Tothill Street 

  London 
  SW1H 9NA 

 
3 March 2014 
 
 

Single Fraud Investigation Service (SFIS) Project Update 
 
Further to my letter of 9 December 2013, I am writing to update you on the 
progress of the Single Fraud Investigation Service (SFIS) project. This is a pivotal 
year for the project.  Our implementation starts with a small number of sites going 
live in the summer and national phased implementation commencing in October 
2014 and running until March 2016.  
 
This letter provides updates on the following activities that are currently taking 
place within the SFIS Project to support implementation: 
 

• Implementation Planning  

• Human Resources (HR) transfer approach.   
 

 
Implementation Planning 
 
Since 5th November 2013 your Local Authority (LA) has been participating as a 
pilot site in readiness for the introduction of SFIS. I would like to thank you and 
your staff for your contribution to the pilot and your continued support.  
 
Following the Autumn Statement announcement of the delivery approach, we have 
been working closely with our partners and key stakeholders in Local Government, 
the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) and HM Revenue & Customs, 
developing plans to enable the national implementation and I am pleased to 
confirm that the implementation approach that has been agreed is as follows:  
 

• Phase 1 - Implementation to commence with a small number of sites in 
summer 2014 

• A break to evaluate and learn lessons from the transfer process, prior 
to full national implementation. 

• Phase 2 - Implementation to re-commence in October 2014 and run for 
a further 18 months to March 2016. Detailed conversations with these 
sites are due to commence in May.  

 
We are planning for your LA, along with the other pilot sites, to be part of Phase 1 - 

Agenda Item 6

Page 201



 

 

 

 

Appendix A 

the first of the LAs to migrate Housing Benefit fraud and residual Council Tax 
Benefit fraud activities to DWP’s Fraud and Error Service during summer 2014. 
The exact implementation date for your LA will be agreed with your DWP 
Implementation Lead.  
 
Any staff in your LA who also work on Housing Benefit fraud and residual Council 
Tax Benefit fraud activities, but are not currently part of the pilot, may be 
considered to be within scope from summer 2014.  
 

Members from the DWP team will be meeting with your pilot leads on 13 March 
2014. This meeting will provide additional information about how the DWP Fraud 
and Error Service will deliver single fraud investigations covering all welfare 
benefits. If you have any concerns before the meeting please contact Gary Hughes 
on 01772 899487 | 07795316380  email: GARY.D.HUGHES@DWP.GSI.GOV.UK. 
The project team will also contact you to gather essential information about your 
LA to support implementation planning.  

 
Human Resources Transfer Approach 
 
The Government’s Autumn Statement confirmed the implementation of the SFIS 
project and stated that, in order to maintain an effective fraud investigation service, 
DWP was keen for employees assigned to this work to transfer with it.  We said at 
the time that there was not enough information to say conclusively whether the 
Transfer of Undertaking (Protection of Employment) Regulations 2006 (TUPE) 
would or would not apply. We have further considered the TUPE position and how 
to accomplish the transfer of these employees.  
 
The purpose of this section is to provide an update on these considerations and 
start the information and consultation process.  
 
TUPE and Cabinet Office Statement of Practice (COSoP)  
TUPE regulations state “Fthe transfer of administrative functions between public 
administrative authorities is not a relevant transfer” (for the purpose of TUPE). 
After careful consideration, DWP has concluded that benefit fraud investigations 
falls within this category, and as such, TUPE will not apply.  
 
However DWP is committed to taking employees currently assigned to welfare 
benefit fraud investigation work. The Cabinet Office Statement of Practice for Staff 
Transfers in the Public Sector says that, in circumstances where TUPE does not 
apply in strict legal terms to transfer between different parts of the public sector, 
the principles of TUPE should be followed so far as possible, in accordance with 
business need.  Therefore, in order to maintain an effective fraud investigation 
service, DWP has decided to adopt this principle.  
 
 
 

Agenda Item 6

Page 202



 

 

 

 

Appendix A 

Transfer Scheme 
In line with COSoP guidelines, the legal platform to enable the transfer is by way of 
a Legislative Transfer Scheme as provided for by Section 38 of the Employment 
Relations Act 1999.  
 
Section 38 provides the DWP Secretary of State (SoS) with powers (through 
regulations laid in Parliament) to transfer employees in scope via a Statutory Staff 
Transfer Scheme. The Regulations are made by way of Statutory Instrument (SI) 
which will be laid before Parliament under the negative procedure and will become 
effective before the anticipated transfer date.  
 
The scheme will apply to employees working for local authorities or employees 
working for contracted suppliers. Individuals working on a self-employed basis are 
not included.  
 
Action will be taken locally to identify and formally notify individuals that they are to 
be included in the SI. This action will be carried out concurrently with the legislative 
transfer activity and all staff will be notified prior to the effective date of the transfer.  
If an employee is not formally notified that they are included in the SI, that member 
of staff will not transfer.  
 
Employees in Scope for Transfer  
Local Authority investigation of Housing Benefit fraud and residual Council tax 
benefit fraud is the work which will transfer to DWP. Employees assigned solely or 
primarily to this activity should be identified for a potential transfer to DWP. 
Individuals assigned solely or primarily to activities which are not moving into SFIS 
should not be deemed in scope. Also excluded are those employees assigned to 
work which ceases and/or those individuals whose work will not be carried out by 
DWP.   
 
Local authorities (or their contracted supplier with oversight by the local authority) 
will be responsible for identifying employees potentially in scope for the transfer to 
DWP. DWP will review propositions for transfer before reaching a final agreement 
with the local authority, or contracted supplier, on staff to transfer.  
 
Annex 1 contains a list of activities which are transferring from LA benefit fraud to 
SFIS.  
 
Terms and conditions of Employment  
The transfer of staff by way of a Section 38 legislative transfer scheme will be 
“TUPE–like” in that it will provide protection of existing terms and conditions of 
employment in line with the requirements of COSoP.  
 
Impact on Pensions  
Transferring staff will join the Principal Civil Service Pension Scheme (PCSPS) on 
their first day with DWP.  They will be given the option of transferring their previous 
pension service into the PCSPS, or leaving it with their current scheme until they 
are entitled to receive pension payments. 

Agenda Item 6

Page 203



 

 

 

 

Appendix A 

 
HR Next Steps  
A dedicated DWP HR Team is supporting the project in bringing the work and 
people into DWP. The HR Team will engage with LAs and external suppliers in 
Phase 1 locations to review and agree the proposition for staff transfers and to 
start the comparison of terms and conditions of employment.  
 
There are around 380 LAs for the HR Team to engage with. They will initially 
engage with those LAs moving into SFIS first and will align transfer of employees 
according to the implementation schedule.  However, all LAs and key groups will 
be kept updated with plans and activities regardless of their position on the 
implementation schedule.  
 
We require a named HR Single Point of Contact (SPOC) to work with throughout 
the transfer period.  LAs with outsourced fraud services should also supply details 
of a named individual within that external organisation. Your DWP Implementation 
Lead will gather this information from you.  
 
The Project will be holding a Phase 1 Implementation Event on 13 March 2014 in 
London. The HR Team would like to invite the HR SPOC to attend to begin the HR 
engagement and discuss the transfer mechanism in detail. This is an important 
step in the engagement process.  
 
DWP will work jointly with each SPOC to identify and execute all of the necessary 
actions to achieve a smooth transition for those employees who will be moving into 
DWP.  
 
The transfer of benefit fraud investigation work into DWP’s Fraud and Error Service 
and the transfer of eligible staff will include outsourced fraud services. 
Consequently this will impact on commercial arrangements LAs have with their 
suppliers. LAs need to consider this impact as part of the planning process.  
 
You may also wish to engage with any Trade Unions that represent LA staff. 
Please ensure that they are informed of the content of this letter. 
 
In addition, a decision has been made that all prosecutions arising from SFIS 
investigations, including the prosecution of housing benefit and/or council tax 
benefit fraud, will be conducted solely by the Crown Prosecution Service (CPS) in 
England and Wales.  The CPS will be leading separately on this matter in 
partnership with DWP. 
 
HR Summary 
The introduction of single fraud investigations is a key part of the agenda for 
reducing loss through the benefits system and represents a significant change for  
our organisations and people.  
 
DWP is developing the Section 38 Legislative Transfer Scheme to facilitate the 
transfer of employees when the work moves across to DWP.  

Agenda Item 6

Page 204



 

 

 

 

Appendix A 

 
We will keep you updated with regular progress reports and communications. 
Annex 2 contains a list of questions and answers which you may find useful in 
supporting your own internal communications with employees who may be 
impacted by this change.  
 
I hope you agree that this is a sensible way of achieving the safe transfer of 
employees whilst protecting their terms and conditions of employment. If you have 
any comments on this approach, please send them to the email address below by 
14 April 2014.  
 
 
Next steps 
 
I look forward to continuing working together and I am sure that our joint 
commitment will ensure that we implement an effective and improved fraud 
investigation service which is able to meet both present and future needs. 

If you want to know more about The Single Fraud Investigations, you should 
request to join the SFIS Communications Hub on Knowledge Hub. To access the 
Knowledge Hub you will need to register at the following site: 
https://knowledgehub.local.gov.uk/home  then search under “Groups” for SFIS 
Communications Hub and request to join. Regular updates will be posted on the 
Knowledge Hub.  

If you have any further questions on the project please contact your DWP SFIS 
Implementation Lead or forward them to:  

SINGLEFRAUDINVESTIGATIONSERVICE-.QUERIES@DWP.GSI.GOV.UK. 

Yours sincerely 
 
 
 
Joanne Bradshaw 
  

Agenda Item 6

Page 205



 

 

 

 

Appendix A 

ANNEX 1 
 

Example Activities Transferring from LAs to DWP SFIS 
 

• Conducting Housing Benefit / residual Council Tax benefit fraud 
investigations in line with instructions in user manuals/guidance.  

• Conducting Interviews Under Caution in accordance with The Police and 
Criminal Evidence Act 1984 (England and Wales) and Common Law 
(Scotland).  

• Conducting interviews with Customers to offer Administrative Penalties, 
Formal Cautions (England & Wales) and Administrative Cautions 
(Scotland).  

• In respect of welfare benefit fraud, recording the progress of a case on IT/ 
Case management systems, taking into account the potential for referring 
appropriate cases to, and liaising with, other teams such as Customer 
Compliance / visiting officers, DWP Fraud Investigations and Financial 
Investigation Unit (FIU).  

• Maintaining relevant evidence files, annotating appropriate material as 
sensitive including maintaining an N1 notebook, in respect of fraud.   

• Information / Intelligence gathering to ensure suitability of case for fraud 
investigation 

• Information / Intelligence gathering to build case for investigation 

• Developing cases into prosecution cases and attending Court as a 
witness.  

• Liaising with other Departments/organisations on fraud matters. 

• Making requests for surveillance to the TFI in line with the Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers Act (RIPA) and the accompanying code of practice.  

• Conducting surveillance. 

• Making requests to Authorised Officers in line with the Social Security 
Fraud Act (SSFA) and FPI for information from information providers.  

• Requesting information such as employment details from an employer in 
line with current policy.    

• Managing welfare benefit fraud business on behalf of the LA within a 
specific team.  

• Recommending requests for surveillance to the appropriate Local 
Authority Officer in line with the requirements of the Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers Act (RIPA) and the accompanying code of practice. 
This requires the authority of a Magistrate.  

• Performing Financial Investigation Recovery activity on welfare benefit 
fraud cases on behalf of the LA, including conducting this work for other 
LAs.  

• Carrying out instructions set out by the Assets Recovery Agency (ARA) 
and other user manuals. 

• Requesting orders as prescribed within the Proceeds of Crime Act.  

• Preparing all submissions relating to Proceeds of Crime action in Court 
and to attend Court where necessary.  

 

Agenda Item 6

Page 206



 

 

 

 

Appendix A 

 
 

Work NOT Transferring from LAs to DWP SFIS 
 

• Hotlines/ LA call centres that take reports of fraud/suspected fraud 

• LA compliance/ visiting staff 

• HB/CTB  decision makers, benefit processors, overpayment or debt staff 

• Solicitors employed / contracted by LAs for the purpose of Fraud 
Prosecution work  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 6

Page 207



 

 

 

 

Appendix A 

 
 

 
 
ANNEX 2 
 
SFIS Project - Questions and Answers 
 
Q: Why doesn’t TUPE apply to the transfer of staff into DWP when 
single investigations are introduced? 
 
A: The transfer of staff in to DWP is considered to be an administrative 
transfer and is therefore not covered by the Transfer of Undertakings 
(Protection of Employment) Regulations 2006 (TUPE) (1).  However, 
DWP is committed to taking those employees currently assigned to 
benefit fraud investigation work. In order to effect the transfer of 
contracts of employment of employees, and provide them with similar 
employment rights protection to that which they would have under 
TUPE, the Secretary of State proposes to use powers under the 
Employment Relations Act 1999 to create a statutory staff transfer 
scheme (STS) which will be “TUPE-like”. 
 
Q: What protections are there for staff transferring to DWP under 
the Statutory Transfer Scheme? 
 
A: In order to ensure the fair and equitable treatment of employees we 
are seeking to ensure that the transfer scheme and consultation 
process mirrors TUPE, as far as practicable. This reflects the approach 
set out in the Cabinet Office Statement of Practice on Staff Transfers 
(COSOP).  
 
Q: Can DWP unilaterally change my terms and conditions of 
employment post transfer? 
 
A: Your terms and conditions of employment will transfer with you. 
There may be little difference between those on offer in DWP they 
could also be more or less favourable. Terms and conditions can only 
be changed by negotiation and consent. 
 
Q: Will I become a Civil Servant on transfer to DWP? 
 
A: Yes, you will become a Civil Servant on transfer. 
 
Q: Can I object to the transfer? 
 
A: Yes you can.  But if you object to transfer you would not transfer 
over to DWP and your contract of employment will come to an end 
unless your current employer agrees otherwise. 

Agenda Item 6

Page 208



 

 

 

 

Appendix A 

 
Q: What happens to my salary? 
 
A: Your salary will be protected. If it is more than the DWP pay scale 
you will retain your current (higher) salary. If your salary is below the 
minimum of the DWP pay scales, your salary will be automatically 
uplifted.   
 
Q: What happens to my pension on transfer? 
 
A: Transferring staff will join the Principal Civil Service Pension 
Scheme (PCSPS) on their first day with DWP.  They will be given the 
option of transferring their previous pension service into the PCSPS, or 
leaving it with their current scheme until they are entitled to receive 
pension payments. 

 
Q: Am I guaranteed a job in SFIS? 
 
A: We expect the vast majority of staff to be allocated to a role in SFIS. 
Where we are unable to do this, other options will be considered in 
consultation with those affected. This could include posting you into 
another DWP role.  
 
 
Q: How far am I expected to travel to my new location when I 
move to DWP?  

A: All fraud investigations will be delivered from sites where FES 
employees are currently are located but we may also base people in 
other DWP sites. If this means a longer commute to work, your daily 
commute will be in line with your employer’s current mobility policy. 
This will be a matter for individual discussion where necessary. There 
may be isolated cases where individuals will have mobility restrictions 
which mean they are unable to travel to any DWP site.  In these 
circumstances we will discuss this with your employer before the 
transfer to explore what options would be available based on individual 
circumstances.  

 
 
Q: When will I know which role I will be given and where I will be 
based?  
 
A: Prior to the transfer, we will look at the transfer propositions from 
each employer in the vicinity, We will then consider a number of factors 
which includes the total number of staff available, where they live, and 
then compare this against the delivery options in DWP.  
 

Agenda Item 6

Page 209



 

 

 

 

Appendix A 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 6

Page 210



 
 
 
 
 

Appendix B 
 

Joanne Bradshaw 
  Programme Director 

Fraud, Error & Debt Programme 
  Caxton House 

  Tothill Street 
  London 

  SW1H 9NA 
 
 
 
3 March 2014 
 

Single Fraud Investigation Service (SFIS) Project Update 
 
Further to my letter of 9 December 2013, I am writing to you with an update on the progress 
of the Single Fraud Investigation Service (SFIS) project. This is a pivotal year for the 
project, with our national implementation expected to start with a small number of sites 
going live in the summer and national phased implementation commencing in October 
2014 and running until March 2016.  
 
The purpose of this letter is to provide updates on the following activities that are currently 
taking place within the SFIS Project to support implementation:  
 

• Regional Road shows 

• Implementation planning  

• Human Resources (HR) Transfer Approach   
 
Regional Road shows  
 
The road shows will give your Local Authority (LA) the latest information about how the 
Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) Fraud and Error Service will deliver single fraud 
investigations covering all welfare benefits. They will outline the implementation approach 
and provide an opportunity to ask questions. Each LA has been allocated two places at 
their local road show.          .  
 
• Bristol   24 March 2014 • Salisbury  10 April 2014 
• Edinburgh  25 March 2014 • Birmingham  15 April 2014 
• Kennington  26 March 2014 • Leeds   28 April 2014 
• Hammersmith  31 March 2014 • Newcastle  30 April 2014 
• Dundee  01 April 2014  • Blackpool  07 May 2014 
• Cardiff   08 April 2014  • Norwich  08 May 2014 
 
The road shows will be attended by SFIS Project staff, DWP Fraud & Error Services, HM 
Revenue & Customs (HMRC) and DWP HR representatives and will take place from March 
2014 to May 2014. 
 

Agenda Item 6

Page 211



 
 
 
 
 

Appendix B 
We are only able to offer two places per LA, so we recommend that your delegates 
cascade the details and outcomes from the event to their colleagues. You may wish to 
consider allocating one place to a Manager or Team Leader and one place to an 
investigator or operational level member of staff to ensure a cross section of views are 
represented.  
 
Please send the names, external email addresses and phone numbers of your two 
representatives to the following email inbox by 10 March 2014.  We will issue invitations 
direct to the representatives detailing the date and location of their event.  
 
Email inbox address – SFIS.Roadshows@dwp.gsi.gov.uk 
 
Implementation Planning 
 
Since the Autumn Statement announcement of the delivery approach, we have been 
working closely with our partners and key stakeholders in Local Government, DWP and 
HMRC, developing plans to enable national implementation.  The implementation timeline 
is as follows: 
 

• Phase 1 - Implementation to commence with a small number of sites in 
summer 2014 

• A break to evaluate and learn lessons from the transfer process prior to full 
national implementation. 

• Phase 2 - Implementation to re-commence in October 2014 and run for a 
further 18 months to March 2016. Detailed conversations with these sites are 
due to commence in May 2014.  

 
To support the main phase of implementation from October 2014 to March 2016, each LA 
will be allocated to a month in the national implementation schedule.  We will issue a copy 
of the schedule shortly. To support implementation, we need to collect the information 
detailed in Annex 1. This is to ensure we have considered any influencing factors.  You will 
also be given the opportunity to liaise with the project should your allocated date be 
unsuitable.   
 
A member of the project team will be appointed to work with your LA throughout the 
planning and implementation phases. We will draw up bespoke plans, supported by regular 
checkpoint meetings to ensure a smooth transition to the new ways of working. We will 
provide you with more details regarding this in the near future.  
 
Annex 1 is a list of questions about your LA. Your answers will provide the project with 
essential information to support implementation.  
 
Can you please ensure that Annex 1 is completed in full by 14 March 2014 and returned to 
SINGLEFRAUDINVESTIGATIONSERVICE-.QUERIES@DWP.GSI.GOV.UK  
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 6

Page 212



 
 
 
 
 

Appendix B 
Human Resources Transfer Approach 
 
The Government’s Autumn Statement confirmed the implementation of the SFIS project 
and stated that, in order to maintain an effective fraud investigation service, DWP was keen 
for employees assigned to this work to transfer with it.  We said at the time that there was 
not enough information to say conclusively whether the Transfer of Undertaking (Protection 
of Employment) Regulations 2006 (TUPE) would or would not apply. We have further 
considered the TUPE position and how to accomplish the transfer of these employees.    
 
The purpose of this section is to provide an update on these considerations and start the 
consultation and information process. If you have any comments on this approach please 
let me know by 14 April 2014.   
 
TUPE and Cabinet Office Statement of Practice (COSoP)  
 
TUPE regulations state “Ithe transfer of administrative functions between public 
administrative authorities is not a relevant transfer” (for the purpose of TUPE). After careful 
consideration, DWP has concluded that benefit fraud investigations falls within this 
category, and as such, TUPE will not apply.  
 
However, DWP is committed to taking employees currently assigned to welfare benefit 
fraud investigation work. The Cabinet Office Statement of Practice for Staff Transfers in the 
Public Sector says that in circumstances where TUPE does not apply in strict legal terms to 
a transfer between different parts of the public sector, the principles of TUPE should be 
followed so far as possible and in accordance with business need.  In order to maintain an 
effective fraud investigation service DWP has decided to adopt this principle.  
 
Transfer Scheme 
In line with COSoP guidelines, the legal platform to enable the transfer is by way of a 
Legislative Transfer Scheme as provided for by Section 38 of the Employment Relations 
Act 1999.  
 
Section 38 provides the Secretary of State (SoS) with legislative power (through regulations 
laid in Parliament) to transfer of employees in scope via a Statutory Staff Transfer Scheme. 
The Regulations are made by way of Statutory Instrument (SI) which will be laid before 
Parliament under the negative procedure and will become effective before the anticipated 
transfer date.  
 
The scheme will apply to employees working for LAs or employees working for contracted 
suppliers. Individuals working on a self-employed basis are not included.  
 
Action will be taken locally to identify and formally notify individuals that they are to be 
included in the SI.  Employees not formally notified as being included in the SI will not 
transfer.  
 
 
Employees in Scope for Transfer  
LA investigation of Housing Benefit Fraud and residual council tax benefit fraud is the work 
which will transfer to DWP.  Employees assigned solely or primarily to this activity should 

Agenda Item 6

Page 213



 
 
 
 
 

Appendix B 
be identified for a potential transfer to DWP. Individuals assigned solely or primarily to 
activities which are not moving into SFIS should not be deemed in scope. Also excluded 
are those employees assigned to work within the LA which ceases and / or those 
individuals whose work will not be carried out by DWP. 
 
Local authorities (or their contracted supplier with oversight by the local authority) will be 
responsible for identifying employees potentially in scope for the transfer to DWP. DWP will 
review propositions for transfer before reaching a final agreement with the local authority, 
or contracted supplier, on staff to transfer.  
.  
 
Annex 2 contains a list of activities which are transferring from LA benefit fraud to SFIS 
and some examples of activities that are not transferring. .  
 
Terms and conditions of Employment  
The transfer of staff by way of a Section 38 legislative transfer scheme will be “TUPE–like” 
in that it will provide protection of existing terms and conditions of employment in line with 
the requirements of COSoP.  
 
Impact on Pensions  
Transferring staff will join the Principal Civil Service Pension Scheme (PCSPS) on their first 
day with DWP.  They will be given the option of transferring their previous pension service 
into the PCSPS, or leaving it with their current scheme until they are entitled to receive 
pension payments. 
 
HR Next Steps  
A dedicated DWP HR Team is supporting the project in bringing the work and people into 
DWP. The HR Team will engage with LAs and external suppliers in Phase 1 locations to 
review and agree the proposition for staff transfers and to start the comparison of terms 
and conditions of employment.  
 
There are 380 LAs for the HR Team to engage with. They will initially engage with those 
LAs moving into DWP first and will align transfer of employees according to the 
implementation schedule.  All LAs and key groups will be kept updated with plans and 
activities regardless of their position on the implementation schedule.  
 
To enable the HR Team to start engagement with each individual LA and/or outsourced 
supplier, we will need a named HR Single Point of Contact (SPOC) to work with throughout 
the transfer period.  When we write out to you about the roll out schedule, we will ask you 
for the contact details of the SPOC. 
 
DWP will work jointly with each SPOC to identify and execute all of the necessary actions 
to achieve a smooth transition for those employees who will be moving into DWP.  
 
The transfer of benefit fraud investigation work into DWP Fraud and Error Service and the 
transfer of eligible staff will include outsourced fraud services. Consequently this will impact 
on commercial arrangements LAs have with their suppliers. LAs need to consider this 
impact as part of the planning process and ensure that any contracted suppliers are fully 
sighted on the contents of this letter. 

Agenda Item 6

Page 214



 
 
 
 
 

Appendix B 
 
You may also wish to engage with any Trade Unions that represent LA staff. Please ensure 
that they are informed of the content of this letter. 
 
In addition a decision has been made that all prosecutions arising from SFIS investigations, 
including the prosecution of housing benefit and/or council tax benefit fraud, will be 
conducted solely by the Crown Prosecution Service (CPS) in England and Wales.  The 
CPS will be leading separately on this matter whilst of course liaising with DWP. 
 
HR Summary 
The introduction of SFIS is a key part of the agenda for reducing loss through the benefits 
system and represents a significant change for our organisations and people.  
 
DWP is developing the section 38 Legislative Transfer Scheme to facilitate the transfer of 
employees when the work moves to DWP.  
 
We will keep you updated with regular progress reports and communications. Annex 3 
contains a list of questions and answers which you may find useful in supporting your own 
internal communications with employees who may be impacted by this change.  
 
This is a sensible and considered way of achieving the safe transfer of employees whilst 
protecting their terms and conditions of employment. If you have any comments on this 
approach, please send them to the email address at the bottom of this letter by 14 April 
2014.  
 
 
Next steps 
 
Please ensure that the returns requested within this update are sent back to the following 
contacts no later than the dates stated below: 
 

Update item Action Contact By when 

Regional Road 
shows 

Forward full 
details of 2 
nominated 
representatives  

SFIS.Roadshows@dwp.gsi.gov.uk 
 
 
 

10 March 
2014 

Implementation 
and Staff 
Transfer 
Questions  

Complete 
Annex 1 

SINGLEFRAUDINVESTIGATIONSERVICE-
.QUERIES@DWP.GSI.GOV.UK 
 

14 March 
2014 

 
 
I look forward to continuing working together and I am sure that our joint commitment will 
ensure that we implement an effective and improved fraud investigation service able to 
meet both present and future needs. 

If you want to know more about The Single Fraud Investigations, you should request to join 
the SFIS Communications Hub on Knowledge Hub. To access the Knowledge Hub you will  
need to register at the following site: https://knowledgehub.local.gov.uk/home  then search 

Agenda Item 6

Page 215



 
 
 
 
 

Appendix B 
under “Groups” for SFIS Communications Hub and request to join. Regular updates will be 
posted on the Knowledge Hub.  

If you have any further questions on the project please forward them to: 

SINGLEFRAUDINVESTIGATIONSERVICE-.QUERIES@DWP.GSI.GOV.UK 
 
Yours sincerely 
Joanne Bradshaw  

Agenda Item 6

Page 216



 
 
 
 
 

Appendix B 
Annex 1 
 

LOCAL AUTHORITY QUESTIONS 
    

No. Question Yes/No where 
appropriate 

Additional requested information - 
Response 

1 Do you have a standalone Benefit Fraud team or 
is it combined with Corporate Fraud work? 

N/A   

2 How many Benefit Fraud Managers do you 
employ? Please provide your response as both a 
Full Time Equivalent (FTE) and number of 
people. 

N/A   

3 Do those Benefit Fraud Managers listed above 
also undertake other duties (eg Blue Badge, 
Tenancy etc)? 

    

4 How many of the Benefit Fraud Managers listed 
above are also Fraud Investigators? (It is 
important that staff are only counted once). 

N/A   

5 How many Benefit Fraud Investigators do you 
employ? (Do NOT include any Managers/Team 
Leaders counted above). Please provide your 
response as both a Full Time Equivalent (FTE) 
and number of people? 

N/A   

6 How many of those Benefit Fraud Investigators 
listed above also undertake other Fraud activity 
(eg Blue Badge, Tenancy etc.) 

N/A   

A
genda Item

 6

P
age 217



 
 
 
 
 

Appendix B 
7 Do you have any staff who support Benefit Fraud 

Investigators in an Admin capacity, and if so, how 
many? Please provide your response as both a 
FTE and number of people. 

N/A   

8 Do any of your benefit fraud staff work from home 
and if yes, is this within the terms of their contract 
or an "unofficial arrangement"? 

    

9 What is your average HB/CTB fraud referral rate 
received per week? Where do referrals come 
from? (ie source) 

N/A   

10 Approximately what percentage of cases are 
HB/CTB only and approximately what percentage 
also involve other (non HB) DWP benefits? 

N/A   

11 On average, what percentage of HB/CTB fraud 
referrals are accepted for investigation? 

N/A   

12 What is your current HB/CTB fraud file caseload? 
- ie Live cases being investigated 

N/A   

13 Have you contracted out/set up a shared service 
for your fraud services? With whom? 

    

14 Does your contracted out/shared service fraud 
service cover more than just HB/CTB Fraud 
activity? (eg Does the contract cover all HB 
admin activity including Fraud). 

    

15 Will this contract require re-negotiation following 
the introduction of SFIS and cases being passed 
to SFIS? Have you started to take steps towards 
doing this? 

    

A
genda Item

 6

P
age 218



 
 
 
 
 

Appendix B 
16 Do you believe the introduction of SFIS will affect 

any contractual agreements? If so, with whom 
and to what extent.(Please only include 
anything relating to HB fraud and not 
corporate fraud) 
Examples - Credit Reference 
Agencies/Membership of Professional 
organisations/Mobile phone contracts/Vehicle 
costs/Typing transcription costs/Agency workers 

    

17 If yes to above, what steps are you taking to 
mitigate any impact? 

N/A   

18 Which case management IT system/Fraud 
database do you use for fraud work? Is this 
supported by a contract? 

    

19 Is your Case Management system or Fraud 
database used solely for HB fraud or will this 
continue to be used for other areas (eg HB admin 
or corporate fraud) 

    

20 Do you have your own Financial Investigation 
Unit? If so how many staff does this involve and 
how much of their work is HB/CTB only? 

    

21 Do you use NAFN for HB/CTB fraud cases?     

22 Do you use NAFN for other services in the 
council (eg corporate fraud or trading standards) 

    

23 Do you undertake your own Authorised Officer 
function within the fraud team? If not, who do you 
use? 

    

24 Do you currently conduct joint investigations with 
DWP? 

    

A
genda Item

 6

P
age 219



 
 
 
 
 

Appendix B 
25 Do you work with one or more DWP FIS teams 

and if so which one(s) 
    

26 Do you undertake any work for other LA sites. If 
so, to what extent and which ones? 

    

27 Does your LA run their own hotline or advertise a 
Fraud hotline number? 

    

28 How many Employee Pension schemes does 
your LA have?    

N/A   

29 Please provide any other information about your 
HB fraud service which you feel would be helpful 

N/A   

30 Please provide Single Point of Contact details for 
future implementation engagement. (Name, 
address, tel number, e-mail address)  

N/A   

31 Please provide name & contact details of the 
person completing this form 

N/A   

A
genda Item

 6

P
age 220



 
 
 
 
 

Appendix B 
ANNEX 2 

Example Activities Transferring from LAs to DWP SFIS 
 

• Conducting Housing Benefit / residual Council Tax benefit fraud investigations in line 
with instructions in user manuals/guidance.  

• Conducting Interviews under caution in accordance with The Police and Criminal 
Evidence Act 1984 (England and Wales) and Common Law (Scotland).  

• Conducting interviews with Customers to offer Administrative Penalties, Formal 
Cautions (England & Wales) and Administrative Cautions (Scotland).  

• In respect of welfare benefit fraud, recording the progress of a case on IT/ Case 
management systems, taking into account the potential for referring appropriate cases 
to, and liaising with, other teams such as Customer Compliance / visiting officers, DWP 
Fraud Investigations and Financial Investigation Unit (FIU).  

• Maintaining relevant evidence files, annotating appropriate material as sensitive 
including maintaining an N1 notebook, in respect of fraud.   

• Information / Intelligence gathering to ensure suitability of case for fraud investigation 

• Information / Intelligence gathering to build case for investigation 

• Developing cases into prosecution cases and attending Court as a witness.  

• Liaising with other Departments/organisations on fraud matters. 

• Making requests for surveillance to the TFI in line with the Regulation of Investigatory 
Powers Act (RIPA) and the accompanying code of practice.  

• Conducting surveillance. 

• Making requests to Authorised Officers in line with the Social Security Fraud Act (SSFA) 
and FPI for information from information providers.  

• Requesting information such as employment details from an employer in line with 
current policy.    

• Managing welfare benefit fraud business on behalf of the LA within a specific team.  

• Recommending requests for surveillance to the appropriate LA Officer in line with the 
requirements of the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act (RIPA) and the 
accompanying code of practice. This requires the authority of a Magistrate.  

• Performing Financial Investigation Recovery activity on welfare benefit fraud cases on 
behalf of the LA, including conducting this work for other LAs.  

• Carrying out instructions set out by the Assets Recovery Agency (ARA) and other user 
manuals. 

• Requesting orders as prescribed within the Proceeds of Crime Act.  

• Preparing all submissions relating to Proceeds of Crime action in Court and to attend 
Court where necessary.  

 
 

Work NOT Transferring from LAs to DWP SFIS 
 
 

• Hotlines/ LA call centres that take reports of fraud/suspected fraud 

• LA compliance/ visiting staff 

• HB/CTB  decision makers, benefit processors, overpayment or debt staff 

• Solicitors employed / contracted by LAs for the purpose of Fraud Prosecution work  
 

Agenda Item 6

Page 221



 
 
 
 
 

Appendix B 
ANNEX 3 

SFIS Project - Questions and Answers 
 
Q: Why doesn’t TUPE apply to the transfer of staff into DWP when single 
investigations are introduced? 
 
A: The transfer of staff in to DWP is considered to be an administrative transfer and is 
therefore not covered by the Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment) 
Regulations 2006 (TUPE) (1).  However, DWP is committed to taking those employees 
currently assigned to benefit fraud investigation work. In order to effect the transfer of 
contracts of employment of employees, and provide them with similar employment rights 
protection to that which they would have under TUPE, the Secretary of State proposes to 
use powers under the Employment Relations Act 1999 to create a statutory staff transfer 
scheme (STS) which will be “TUPE-like”. 
 
Q: What protections are there for staff transferring to DWP under the Statutory 
Transfer Scheme? 
 
A: In order to ensure the fair and equitable treatment of employees we are seeking to 
ensure that the transfer scheme and consultation process mirrors TUPE, as far as 
practicable. This reflects the approach set out in the Cabinet Office Statement of Practice 
on Staff Transfers (COSOP).  
 
Q: Can DWP unilaterally change my terms and conditions of employment post 
transfer? 
 
A: Your terms and conditions of employment will transfer with you. There may be little 
difference between those on offer in DWP. They could also be more or less favourable. 
Terms and conditions can only be changed by negotiation and consent. 
 
Q: Will I become a Civil Servant on transfer to DWP? 
 
A: Yes, you will become a Civil Servant on transfer. 
 
Q: Can I object to the transfer? 
 
A: Yes you can.  But if you object to transfer you would not transfer over to DWP and your 
contract of employment will come to an end unless your current employer agrees 
otherwise. 
 
Q: What happens to my salary? 
 
A: Your salary will be protected. If it is more than the DWP pay scale you will retain your 
current (higher) salary. If your salary is below the minimum of the DWP pay scales, your 
salary will be automatically uplifted.   
 
Q: What happens to my pension on transfer? 
 

Agenda Item 6

Page 222



 
 
 
 
 

Appendix B 
A: Transferring staff will join the Principal Civil Service Pension Scheme (PCSPS) on their 
first day with DWP.  They will be given the option of transferring their previous pension 
service into the PCSPS, or leaving it with their current scheme until they are entitled to 
receive pension payments. 
 
 
Q: Am I guaranteed a job in SFIS? 
 
A: We expect the vast majority of staff to be allocated to a role in SFIS. Where we are 
unable to do this, other options will be considered in consultation with those affected. This 
could include posting you into another DWP role.  
 
Q: How far am I expected to travel to my new location when I move to DWP?  

A: All fraud investigations will be delivered from sites where FES employees currently are 
located but we may also base people in other DWP sites. If this means a longer commute 
to work, your daily commute will be in line with your employer’s current mobility policy. This 
will be a matter for individual discussion where necessary. There may be isolated cases 
where individuals will have mobility restrictions which mean they are unable to travel to any 
DWP site.  In these circumstances we will discuss this with your employer before the 
transfer to explore what options would be available based on individual circumstances.  

 
Q: When will I know which role I will be given and where I will be based?  
 
A: Prior to the transfer, we will look at the transfer propositions from each employer in the 
vicinity. We will then consider a number of factors which includes the total number of staff 
available, where they live, and then compare this against the delivery options in DW 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 6

Page 223



Page 224



                  
 

Finance Panel  

28 March 2014  

 
 

     

Funding of the Flooding Relief Effort 

Purpose of report 

 

For information and discussion. 

 

Summary 

 

December 2013 and January 2014 saw many parts of England and Wales affected by 
adverse weather, with areas such as Somerset suffering from extensive and prolonged 
flooding. 
 
In response, the government provided a series of different funding schemes and initiatives 
intended to assist communities, businesses and local authorities affected by flooding. This 
paper summarises the various funding streams and provides a commentary on some of the 
financial issues raised.   
 
A more detailed report on the response and recovery was considered by the Executive on 20 
March.  

  

 

Recommendation 

 

The Finance Panel is asked to note the report.  

 

Action 

 

LGA Officers to proceed as directed. 

 

 
Contact officer:   Alan Finch 

Position: Interim Head of Programmes – Local Government Finance 

Phone no: 020 7664 3085 

E-mail: alan.finch@local.gov.uk    

 

Agenda Item 7

Page 225



                  
 

Finance Panel  

28 March 2014  

 
 

     

Funding of the Flooding Relief Effort 

Background 
 
1. As a result of the wettest January since 1766 and prolonged storms, parts of England 

and Wales were submerged as a result of flooding.  The Environment Agency (EA) 
issued more than 500 flood warnings this year, many of them at severe level indicating a 
danger to life. 
 

2. The scale of the challenge presented by flooding was considerable: for example, 3 million 
tonnes of water being pumped away from Somerset Levels daily; 7,000 properties 
flooded; over 5000 engineers involved in restoring the rail network; and at any one time 
there were around 14,000 people without electricity.  All this caused real distress and 
disruption to communities. 

 
3. The eventual bill is difficult to evaluate at this stage. The repair bill from the summer 

floods of 2007 was estimated to be over £1 billion and it is altogether likely that this 
winter’s emergency will be of similar if not greater, scale.  Much of the cost will need to be 
met, one way or another, by local authorities. 

 
4. This report focuses on the financial issues. The Executive report goes into more detail on 

the flooding response and the central role that local authorities have played.  Cllr Mike 
Jones, Chair of the Environment and Housing Board, has represented the LGA on the 
Ministerial Recovery Group, chaired by the Secretary of State, Eric Pickles, since its 
inception. This group will continue to meet until mid-April and is now coordinating the 
recovery and considering the policy response.   

 
Flooding relief funding announcements 

 
5. The government responded with a number of different funding announcements and 

schemes aimed at assisting businesses, communities and local authorities affected by 
the flooding. 
 
5.1. On 17 January 2014 the Government announced the £7 million severe weather 

recovery scheme for the Councils most affected up to 7 February, with a closing 
date for grant applications of 19 February.  Half the money was for emergency 
response and half for transport infrastructure repairs. £30 million was added to this 
pot on 12 February.  
 

5.2. On 6 February it was announced that the Bellwin Scheme would be amended to 
allow authorities to claim for 100% of the costs above the 0.2% budget threshold.  
The basis for calculating the threshold was also changed.  
 

5.3. Also on 6 February £30 million was identified for emergency repairs and 
maintenance for 2013/14 and a further £100m in 2014/15.  
 

Agenda Item 7

Page 226



                  
 

Finance Panel  

28 March 2014  

 
 

     

5.4. On 11 February grant funding was provided to reduce the costs of flying to 
Cornwall for the following two weeks.  

 
5.5. On 12 February the Government made three separate announcements; 

 
5.5.1. £10 million for farmers whose land had been waterlogged;  

 
5.5.2. 100% business rate relief for three months for affected businesses; and  

 
5.5.3. grants of up to £5000 for enhancements to prevent future flood damage in 

domestic and business properties. 
 

5.6. On 17 February, a £10 million for a scheme to compensate small and medium 
sized businesses in protected areas was announced.  
 

5.7. On 19 February, £4 million was announced to fund Council Tax reliefs for people 
whose homes have been flooded.  

 
5.8. On 1 March, a £2 million fund was launched to assist tourism-oriented businesses 

affected by floods. This includes an information campaign and consulting. 

 
5.9. On 6 March, two separate announcements were made – an additional £0.5 million 

allocated to Somerset Levels from the severe weather recovery fund and a £0.65 
million funding package to support fishermen affected by flooding, including 
payment of lighthouse duties and fishing gear replacement. 

 
5.10. On 9 March, a £140 million funding package to support repairs of roads affected 

by flooding was announced. £103.5 million of this funding was earmarked directly 
to local authorities. 

 
6. Details are set out in the table in Appendix A. 

 
7. Although final allocations for these funding streams were not all available at the time of 

writing, it is evident that the Government has allocated well over £200 million pounds 
through these schemes, many of which are to be administered by local authorities.  We 
are advised that local authorities’ full costs will be reimbursed.   
 

8. The LGA has been part of continued discussions with the relevant departments on the 
detail of these funding initiatives to make sure that the interests of local communities and 
councils were appropriately addressed.  

 
Financial issues arising  
 
9. The financial response from government demonstrates the best and worst of the 

relationship between central and local government.  On the positive side, local 
government got on with dealing with the crisis and the availability of reserves and 
emergency funding made this possible. As set out above, the government has provided 
significant additional resources and in a number of instances is allowing local authorities 
to determine the details of local financial support schemes.   

Agenda Item 7

Page 227



                  
 

Finance Panel  

28 March 2014  

 
 

     

 
10. However the financial announcements were  incremental (and with several 

announcements sometimes within 24 hours not entirely attributable to a developing 
situation) and generally highly focused.  A lot of separate sums of money have been 
allocated to resolving specific issues and targeted separately at residents and businesses 
by different Government departments.   
 

11. This has initially caused confusion on the ground among Councils and residents.   It is 
also likely to mean that local authorities will be required to meet narrow government 
priorities in terms of allocating grants to specific groups of people/businesses rather than 
directly tackling the local situation and conditions on the ground in a holistic, more 
strategic way.  LGA officers and councils have been working with Government 
departments on the detail of schemes and more detail is becoming available. This 
includes advice on streamlined administrative arrangements and simple reporting 
requirements.  

 
Bellwin Scheme 
 

12. The LGA has argued for some time that the Bellwin scheme is inadequate in its current 
form. The Government has now also recognised this and has announced that it will be 
undertaking a full review.  One option is to set up a central budget with a single gateway, 
and that any Scheme should allow capital expenditure (as Pitt recommended) and tax 
reliefs to affected properties.  Although Ministers have been clear that a threshold will 
continue to apply before accessing funding, an option might be a fixed threshold, different 
for counties and districts which would give authorities more clarity. 
 
Funding Flood Defences 

 
13. Councils have welcomed the Partnership Funding model for funding of flood and coastal 

defences, using their own funds to leverage in Environment Agency funding (Flood 
Defence Grant in Aid) as well as other sources. The new model enables an important link 
to be made between local beneficiaries and flood risk investment.  Local authorities have 
committed the majority of external contributions for flood defences (approx. £110 million) 
since the new partnership funding model came in. However, going forward their ability to 
do so will be constrained by reductions in budgets. The EA capital budget for flood 
defences has been protected. Going forward there will be a need to identify other sources 
of match funding for flood defences.  
 

14. The LGA has previously said that the current funding model for flood defences should 
also support a more diverse range of priorities in order to reflect the needs of small and 
dispersed communities and release wider benefits beyond direct local beneficiaries and 
support growth. 
 

Agenda Item 7

Page 228



                  
 

Finance Panel  

28 March 2014  

 
 

     

Sustainable Drainage Systems 
 

15. Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) can play an important role in flood risk 
management by reducing surface water run-off from development. The LGA is concerned 
that this new burden would not be funded in the conventional way, but by councils 
imposing a new charge on residents of new development for the SuDS maintenance, 
which will place pressure on household finances and will be costly and impractical to 
collect.  
 

16. Our suggestions is for an alternative route for collection, which offers value for money 
and administrative efficiency, through existing water bills issued by water companies. 
This could be done either through commercial agreement with water companies or by 
introducing a legal power for councils to precept on water companies.  
 

17. On timing, we were encouraged that the Government has listened to our concerns and 
announced that implementation will now be October and not April. We have also stressed 
that implementation of the SuDS legislation cannot go ahead until a charging and 
collection regime has been resolved and agreed.  We are continuing to raise our 
concerns with the Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (Defra) civil 
servants and Ministers on these issues. 
 

Next steps  
 
18. At the Executive meeting on 20 March, the opportunities to take forward a number of 

funding issues were discussed. Particular areas of focus were around understanding 
costs; lobbying central government for additional capital funding to cover the costs of 
road and other infrastructure; ensuring reform of the Bellwin Scheme benefits local 
government; and funding of flood defences.  

 
19. The following actions will be taken forward;  

 
19.1. Officers will continue to work with DCLG, BIS and DEFRA as they finalise their 

funding schemes and aim to support Councils in their response.   
 

19.2. The costs of the crisis may be slow to emerge but we will continue to monitor the 
financial implications of the flooding crisis and seek to use the lessons learned for 
further lobbying.  
 

19.3. We will seek to influence the review of the Bellwin scheme and other areas 
outlined in the paper. 

 
 

Agenda Item 7

Page 229



Page 230



Appendix A: LGA summary of flooding relief funding announcements 

Initiative Date Funding, 

£m 

Comments Online 

link 

The government has announced a summary of recent flooding announcements. There is also separate detailed guidance for business rate relief, council tax discount, 

‘repair and renew’ grants and the business hardship fund. 

Severe weather recovery scheme for most affected councils, including DfT 

funding for fixing potholes arising from flooding (closing date – end of May 

for impact from 8 February onwards) 

17/01/2014 37 Apply here: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/severe-

weather-recovery-scheme 

Link 

Local authorities will be reimbursed for 100% of the costs above the 

threshold to claim for the emergency response and clean-up following 

recent storms, as opposed to the previous 85%. 

  

In addition, the threshold at which claims can be made – currently set at 

spending of more than 0.2% of their calculated annual revenue budget on 

exceptional costs – will be reduced for county councils and unitaries. 

Upper tier authorities with responsibility for fire will be able to claim on a 

comparable basis to standalone fire authorities. 

06/02/2014 N/A The period for eligible spending will be to late May. 

 

The government has committed to pay the majority of 

Bellwin compensation (up to 80 per cent) up front – 

councils can apply now. This includes the cost of 

sandbags. 

 

The application form can be found by following this link. 

Link 

Farming and forestry improvement scheme 04/02/2014 10 Not directly a flood relief initiative but flood affected 

applicants will receive priority. More information 

Link 

Emergency flood defence repairs and maintenance 2014/15 06/02/2014 130 £30m in 2013/14; £130m in 2014/15 Link 

100 per cent business rate relief the ability to defer tax payments to 

businesses hit by flooding – both for three months 

12/02/2014 9 Rate relief: Guidance available here 

Tax deferral: HMRC has set up a hotline 

Link 

 

Support to farmers whose land has been waterlogged 12/02/2014 10 Link to guidance  Link 

‘Repair and renew’ grants of £5,000 for affected homeowners and 

businesses to improve flood defences 

12/02/2014 10 Guidance available here Link 

Hardship funding for SME businesses in areas affected by the floods. Both 

businesses that have been flooded, and businesses that are in affected 

areas and have suffered significant loss of trade, will be able to apply for 

support. 

17/02/2014 10 Guidance and initial allocations available here Link 

Funding for councils that offer council tax rebates to affected households 19/02/2014 4 Guidance available here Link 

Support fund for tourism-oriented businesses affected by floods 01/03/2014 2  Link 

Extra funding from the Severe Weather Recovery Fund for Somerset levels 06/03/2014 0.5  Link 

Support for fishermen to replace fishing gear; payment of lighthouse dues 06/03/2014 0.6 £0.5m to replace fishing gear, £0.14m lighthouse dues Link 

£140m funding package to support repairs of roads affected by flooding 09/03/2014 140 £103.5m allocated to councils directly, to be used in 

2013/14 

Link 

 

A
genda Item

 7a

P
age 231



P
age 232



  
 

 

Finance Panel 

28 March 2014 

 

 

Business Rates Appeal Consultation 

 
Purpose of report  

 

For information. 

 

Summary 

 

This report outlines the LGA’s response to the current Department for Communities and 

Local Government (DCLG) consultation on Business Rates Appeals which closed on 3 

March 2014.  The response was cleared by the LGA Executive on 20 February.  

 

 

Recommendation 

 

That the Panel note the final response to the Department for Communities and Local 
Government’s (DCLG) consultation which was submitted to DCLG on 3 March 2014, 
following consideration by the Executive and Finance Panel Officer Holders. 

 

Action 

 

Officers to continue to discuss next steps with DCLG and the Valuation Office Agency. 

 

 

 

 

Contact officer:   Mike Heiser 

Position:              Senior Adviser (Finance) 

Phone no:            020 7664 3265 

E-mail:                 mike.heiser@local.gov.uk 

 

 

 
 

Agenda Item 8

Page 233



  
 

Finance Panel 
28 March 2014 

 

 

     

Business Rates Appeal Consultation 

 
Background   
 
1. It was announced in the Autumn Statement that the Government would bring forward 

proposals to streamline the business rates appeal system.  The consultation document 
“Checking and Challenging your rateable value” was issued in December 2013. It closed 
on 3 March 2014. 
 

Business Rates Appeals 
 
2. Business rates appeals have become a key issue for local authorities since the 

introduction of business rates retention in 2013.  Previously local authorities were simply 
the collection agency for government.  The risk to local authority budgets is greater 
because of the Government’s decision that the risk from all unresolved appeals before 
2013 should be shared 50 per cent by local government and 50 per cent by central 
government, as opposed to allowing appeals from before April 2013 to be set off against 
the old national business rates pool. 
 

 The size of the risk 
 
3. In total 1.4 million challenges to both the 2005 and 2010 lists have been made.  11.7 per 

cent (168,000) are still unresolved. The Government has committed to clearing 95 per 
cent of the appeals currently outstanding by July 2015. The Valuation Office Agency 
(VOA), which is responsible for rating valuation and appeals, does not currently provide 
statistics on the total amount of tax income that is covered by these ongoing appeals.  
Therefore local authorities have to estimate this for themselves.  
 

4. There is significant variation between authorities in the size of the backlog, with billing 
authorities facing backlogs of 4.5 to 24.6 per cent of total appeals raised in relation to 
2005 and 2010 rating lists.  The authorities with the greatest number of appeals tend also 
to be those collecting the highest levels of business rates income. Similar information 
about the total rateable value being challenged can be got from the chart below which 
shows the provision for appeals which councils made in their NNDR1 form for 2013-14. 
Councils have dealt with this in different ways.  It can be seen that it was most common 

Agenda Item 8

Page 234



  
 

Finance Panel 
28 March 2014 

 

 

     

for councils to make provision for appeals which represented 4-5 per cent of their total 
taxbase. However, almost 20 councils had appeals which represented over 10 per cent of 
their total taxbase by value. Worryingly, there are still almost 13,000 unresolved 
challenges in relation to the 2005 rating list.  

 
5. Overall, the scale of the appeals backlog means that councils operate in an environment 

of financial uncertainty. While historic data shows that about a quarter of appeals go in 
the favour of businesses, councils across England have to make less favourable 
assumptions in their budget planning process so as to avoid any unexpected impact on 
their ability to deliver services. 

 
6. This means that the size of the backlog affects the funding that councils can confidently 

allocate to the provision of public services and potentially exacerbates the impact of 
government grant reductions. 

 
7. Our research in November 2013 showed that some councils forecasted potential losses 

on challenges to be as high as 45 per cent of their total business rate income, although 
typically around 75 per cent of appeals go in favour of the authority and against the 
appellant. 

 
8. The VOA has been working to reduce the backlog but is hampered by a system which it 

is widely agreed is in need of reform.  
 
The Government proposals 
 
9. The aim of the proposals are, according to the Government: 

 
9.1. improve the transparency of the valuation process (including disclosure of more  

information on rental evidence). This will allow ratepayers to check their rateable 
value without having to make a formal challenge, improve confidence in rateable 
values and overall confidence in the rating system; 
  

9.2. bring business rates into line with the way official decisions are normally 
challenged by requiring ratepayers to provide with their challenge an explanation 
of why they think the rateable value is wrong; and 
  

9.3. enshrine in law a more formal separation in the challenge process between the   
Valuation Office Agency and the Valuation Tribunal for England by more clearly 
separating the administrative “proposal” stage in the Valuation Office Agency from 
the independent judicial “appeal” stage in the Valuation Tribunal for  
England.  
 

10. The document says that savings should arise to businesses as it would reduce the 
number of speculative challenges and it would provide greater financial certainty to local 
government.  

 
 
 

Agenda Item 8

Page 235



  
 

Finance Panel 
28 March 2014 

 

 

     

 
The LGA draft response 
 
11. The LGA response, which is attached at Appendix A, says the following: 

 
11.1. The measures proposed should, if accompanied by clear targets on clearing the 

backlog of appeals, enable the system of appeals to become more transparent 
and streamlined which is good for the public purse as a whole.  At the same time 
they do not appear to place a new burden on businesses. 
 

11.2. The best way of reducing the risk from appeals would be to allow appeals from 
before April 2013 to be set against the old national business rates pool.  This is a 
point we have made in our reply to the Local Government Finance Settlement. 

 
12. The report was considered by the LGA Executive on 20 February 2014. It was agreed, 

with the addition to a reference to the effect on decisions of whether or not to pool for 
business rates retention purposes.  This was incorporated into the final version of the 
response. 

 
Conclusion and next steps 
 
13. The consultation document says that, if the response to the consultation is positive, the 

Government intends to implement the new system from 1 October 2014.  Officers will 
continue to discuss implementation with officials from DCLG and the VOA. 
 

14. Business rates in general have received a considerable amount of attention in recent 
weeks from think tanks and bodies representing the business community. The general 
theme of this commentary is that business rates has become too expensive for the 
business community or for selected types of businesses. Among those commenting have 
been the Federation of Small Businesses, the CBI, the British Retail Consortium, the 
Institute for Fiscal Studies and, more recently, the BIS Select Committee.  There is no 
consensus among these commentators about the alternative that should be adopted.  
The next phase of work for the LGA will need to involve formulating our response to 
these comments.  

 
Financial Implications 
 
15. This is core work for the LGA and will be contained within existing budgets. 
 

Agenda Item 8

Page 236



 

S
u
b
m
is
s
io
n
 

L
o
c
a
l 
G
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t 
H
o
u
s
e
, 
S
m
it
h
 S
q
u
a
re
, 
L
o
n
d
o
n
 S
W
1
P
 3
H
Z
 

E
m
a
il 
in
fo
@
lo
c
a
l.
g
o
v
.u
k
 

T
e
l 
0
2
0
 7
6
6
4
 3
0
0
0
  
F
a
x
 0
2
0
 7
6
6
4
 3
0
3
0
 

In
fo

rm
a
ti

o
n

 c
e

n
tr

e
 0

2
0
 7

6
6
4

 3
1

3
1

 w
w

w
.l

o
c

a
l.

g
o

v
.u

k
 

Checking and Challenging your Rateable Value   

Consultation 

3rd March 2014 

 
 
1. The Local Government Association (LGA) is here to support, promote 

and improve local government. We will fight local government's corner 
and support councils through challenging times by making the case for 
greater devolution, helping councils tackle their challenges and 
assisting them to deliver better value for money services.  

2. This response has been agreed by lead members of the LGA’s Finance 
Panel.   

 

Key points 

3. This consultation addresses the fact that business rates appeals has 
become a key local authority risk issue.  This is due to the introduction 
of business rates retention in April 2013 and the Government’s decision 
that the risk from all unresolved appeals before that date should be 
shared 50% by local government and 50% by central government, as 
opposed to allowing appeals from before April 2013 to be set off against 
the old national business rates pool. 

4. The LGA has welcomed the introduction of business rates retention 
although we think that the local share should be greater than 50% but 
we have consistently said that risk issues such as appeals should be 
satisfactorily resolved. 
 

5. The measures proposed should, if accompanied by clear targets on 
clearing the backlog of appeals, enable the system of appeals to 
become more transparent and streamlined which is good for the public 
purse as a whole.  At the same time they do not appear to place a new 
burden on businesses. 

 
6. The best way of reducing the risk from appeals would be to allow 

appeals from before April 2013 to be set against the old national 
business rates pool.  This is a point we have made in our reply to the 
local government finance settlement. 

 
 

Background 

7. Business rates retention, which was introduced in April 2013, gives 
financial incentives to councils to grow their local economies. At the 
same time, it has resulted in more risk and uncertainty. By far and away 
the primary problem is the level of financial risk that councils face due 
to business rate challenges and appeals. 

8. Previously appeals were one element in the business rates pool 
calculation which was done centrally.  The calculation did not directly 
affect local government income.  However under business rates 

Agenda Item 8a

Page 237



 

retention local government has a direct exposure to 50% of the appeal 
risk. 

9. This risk has been exacerbated by the Government’s decision to close 
the old business rates pool on 31st March 2013, meaning that 50% of 
the risk of all unresolved appeals, some of which date back to the 2005 
list, now fall on local government. 

The size of the risk 

10. Currently, about 165,000 appeals are still pending decision. This is 11.7 
per cent of the total number of appeals that have been raised in relation 
to both 2005 and 2010 rating lists. 

11. However, there is significant variation in the size of the backlog, with 
billing authorities facing backlogs of 4.5 to 24.6 per cent of total appeals 
raised in relation to 2005 and 2010 rating lists.  

12. Similar information about the total rateable value being challenged is 
not available but some idea can be got from the chart below which 
shows the provision for appeals which councils made in their NNDR1 
form for 2013-14. Councils have dealt with this in different ways.  It can 
be seen that it was most common for councils to make provision for 
appeals which represented 4-5% of their total taxbase. However almost 
20 councils had appeals which represented over 10% of their total 
taxbase by value. 

13. Worryingly, there are still almost 13,000 unresolved challenges in 
relation to the 2005 rating list. Without any further information, they are 
at least almost four years old. 

14. Overall, the scale of the appeals backlog means that councils operate 
in an environment of financial uncertainty. While historic data shows 
that about a quarter of appeals go in the favour of businesses, councils 
across England have to make less favourable assumptions in their 
budget planning process so as to avoid any unexpected impact on their 
ability to deliver services.   

15. It also affects decisions on business rates pooling, which could share 
the risk.  However some councils have expressed concern about the 
uncertainty about the treatment of appeals, which means that a number 
of proposed pools in 2014-15 have not gone ahead. 

16. The size of the backlog affects the funding that councils can confidently 
allocate to areas such as social care.   

Agenda Item 8a

Page 238



 

17. Our research in November 2013 showed that some councils forecasted 
potential losses on challenges to be as high as 45 per cent of their total 
business rate income, although typically around 75% of appeals go in 
favour of the authority and against the appellant. 

Our opinion on the proposals 

18. The measures proposed should, if accompanied by clear targets on 
clearing the backlog of appeals, enable the system of appeals to 
become more transparent and streamlined which is good for the public 
purse as a whole.  At the same time they do not appear to place a new 
burden on businesses. 

 
19. The best way of reducing the risk from appeals would be to allow 

appeals from before April 2013 to be set against the old national 
business rates pool.  This is a point we have made in our reply to the 
local government finance settlement. 
 

20. The LGA believes that a set of principles needs to underpin 
implementation of the proposed changes: 

a. Clear targets on the backlog of appeals should be set for the 
performance of the Valuation Office Agency and the Valuation 
Tribunal for England.  The LGA supports the target of 5 per cent 
to which Government has committed itself and believes that this 
should not only be a one-off target but also a continuous 
benchmark, except in the first year after a revaluation. 

b. If it is clear that the target is being missed, the VOA and the VTE 
should devote administrative resources to resolving the backlog. 

c. Finally, these reforms should not result in significant additional 
costs to small and medium sized businesses which genuinely 
feel that their valuation is incorrect. It should be the aim of the 
policy to reduce speculative challenges without unnecessarily 
reducing genuine ones and businesses should be consulted 
extensively on the detail within the proposals. The proposals as 
set out would appear to strike this balance. 

Other points 

21. In addition, the LGA believes that the Valuation Office Agency should 
continue increasing the amount of public information provided. The 
experimental statistics are a very good step in the right direction; 
however, more authority-level data about the rateable values under 
challenge should be made available.  

22. Counts of challenges provide a very useful view of the scale of the 
problem, but knowing the values under challenge – and how they 
compare with other billing authorities nationally – would go a long way 
to help councils plan accordingly even while the level of outstanding 
appeals remains high. 

 
 
Local Government Association 
March 2014 
 
 
 
  

Agenda Item 8a

Page 239



 

Annex 1 
 
The detailed responses to the DCLG questions in the consultation are: 
 
Question 1: Do you agree that the Valuation Office Agency should 
provide rental information prior to the challenge process?  
 
We note the Government’s reasoning behind including additional 
information in valuation notices in order to reduce the number of 
speculative challenges. This would in turn remove some of the financial 
risk that council budgets have to take into account and make the process 
easier to understand for business rate payers 
 
Question 2: Do you agree that ratepayers, or their agents, should 
provide with their challenge sufficient detail of why they consider the 
rateable value to be incorrect such that the Valuation Office Agency 
may reasonably consider their challenge, plus any evidence they are 
relying on to support the challenge? How might this requirement be 
suitably framed? 
 
We agree with the proposal to require supporting information to underpin 
the valuation challenges.  This is likely to enhance the quality of the 
challenges and any eventual appeals and potentially reduce the amount of 
challenges that the Valuation Office Agency has to review.   
 
Any such moves that lead to a reduction in the backlog and volume of 
business rate appeals will be welcomed by local authorities which are 
dependent on stability of business rate income to provide services to local 
residents and should lead to a saving to the public purse.. 
 
Question 3: Do you agree with the Government’s revised approach to 
the proposal stage?  
 
We agree with the proposal for reasons mentioned above. 
 
Question 4: Do you agree that the Valuation Office Agency should 
have 3 months to consider if the proposal is invalid other than in 
exceptional cases? How might these exceptional cases be framed?  
 
Yes, this seems sensible.  We agree with the definition of exceptional 
cases proposed in the consultation document. 
 
 
Question 5: Do you agree that ratepayers should, if they wish, be able 
to progress to the appeal stage in the Valuation Tribunal for England 
if they have not received a decision notice after 12 months of making 
a proposal? 
 
We believe that the timescales of decisions on challenges and appeals 
need to be as short as possible to reduce the financial uncertainty that 
local authorities face due potential loss of business rate income. This also 
provides businesses with clarity over their situation and tax liabilities. 
 
We would support a continuous review of the level of the appeals backlog 
with potential reductions to this time limit if it is found ineffective. 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 8a

Page 240



 

Question 6: Do you agree with the Government’s revised approach to 
the appeal stage to the Valuation Tribunal for England?  
 
We support any reform to the Valuation Tribunal procedures which would 
add clarity and timeliness on appeal decisions to provide additional 
financial certainty to local authorities and communities they represent. 
 
Question 7: Do you agree that ratepayers should be allowed 2 months 
from receiving a decision notice to decide whether to lodge an appeal 
with the Valuation Tribunal for England?  
 
We believe that the timescales of decisions on challenges and appeals 
need to be as short as possible to reduce the financial uncertainty that 
local authorities face due potential loss of business rate income.  
We would support a continuous review of the level of the appeals backlog.   
 

Agenda Item 8a

Page 241



Page 242



Agenda Item 9

Page 243

Document is Restricted



L
G

A
 l
o

c
a
ti

o
n

 m
a
p

L
o

c
a
l 
G

o
v
e
rn

m
e
n

t 
A

s
s
o

c
ia

ti
o

n
 

L
o
c
a
l 
G

o
ve

rn
m

e
n
t 
H

o
u
s
e

S
m

it
h
 S

q
u
a
re

L
o
n
d

o
n
 S

W
1
P

 3
H

Z
 

Te
l:
 0

2
0
 7

6
6
4
 3

1
3
1
 

F
a
x
: 
0
2
0
 7

6
6
4
 3

0
3
0
 

E
m

a
il:

 i
n
fo

@
lo

c
a
l.
g

o
v.

u
k
  
 

W
e
b

s
it
e
: 
w

w
w

.l
o

c
a
l.
g

o
v
.u

k

P
u

b
lic

 t
ra

n
s
p

o
rt

 

L
o
c
a
l 
G

o
ve

rn
m

e
n
t 
H

o
u
s
e
 i
s
 w

e
ll 

s
e
rv

e
d

 b
y
 p

u
b

lic
 t
ra

n
s
p

o
rt

. 
T
h
e
 

n
e
a
re

s
t 
m

a
in

lin
e
 s

ta
ti
o
n
s
 a

re
: 

V
ic

to
ri
a
 a

n
d

 W
a
te

rl
o
o
: 
th

e
 l
o
c
a
l 

u
n
d

e
rg

ro
u
n
d

 s
ta

ti
o
n
s
 a

re
  

S
t 

J
a
m

e
s
’s

 P
a
rk

 (
C

ir
c
le

 a
n
d

 

D
is

tr
ic

t 
L
in

e
s
),

 W
e
s
tm

in
s
te

r 

(C
ir
c
le

, 
D

is
tr

ic
t 
a
n
d

 J
u
b

ile
e
 L

in
e
s
),

 

a
n
d

 P
im

li
c
o

 (
V

ic
to

ri
a
 L

in
e
) 

- 
a
ll 

a
b

o
u
t 
1
0
 m

in
u
te

s
 w

a
lk

 a
w

a
y.

  

B
u
s
e
s
 3

 a
n
d

 8
7
 t
ra

ve
l 
a
lo

n
g

 

M
ill

b
a
n
k
, 
a
n
d

 t
h
e
 5

0
7
 b

e
tw

e
e
n
 

V
ic

to
ri
a
 a

n
d

 W
a
te

rl
o
o
 s

to
p

s
 i
n
 

H
o
rs

e
fe

rr
y
 R

o
a
d

 c
lo

s
e
 t
o
 D

e
a
n
 

B
ra

d
le

y
 S

tr
e
e
t.
 

B
u

s
 r

o
u

te
s
 –

 H
o

rs
e
fe

rr
y
 R

o
a
d

 

5
0
7

  W
a
te

rl
o
o
 -

 V
ic

to
ri
a
 

C
1
0

 C
a
n
a
d

a
 W

a
te

r 
- 

P
im

lic
o
 -

 

V
ic

to
ri
a
 

8
8

  
C

a
m

d
e
n
 T

o
w

n
 -

 W
h
it
e
h
a
ll 

- 
W

e
s
tm

in
s
te

r 
- 

P
im

lic
o
 -

 

C
la

p
h
a
m

 C
o
m

m
o
n

B
u

s
 r

o
u

te
s
 –

 M
il
lb

a
n

k
 

8
7

  
W

a
n
d

s
w

o
rt

h
 -

 A
ld

w
y
c
h

3
  

C
ry

s
ta

l 
P

a
la

c
e
 -

 B
ri
x
to

n
 -

  

 O
x
fo

rd
 C

ir
c
u
s
 

F
o
r 

fu
rt

h
e
r 

in
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
, 
v
is

it
 t
h
e
 

Tr
a
n
s
p

o
rt

 f
o
r 

L
o
n
d

o
n
 w

e
b

s
it
e
  

a
t 
"

"
"

#$
%

#&
'

(
#)

*

C
y
c
lin

g
 f

a
c
ili

ti
e

s
 

T
h
e
 n

e
a
re

s
t 
B

a
rc

la
y
s
 c

y
c
le

 h
ir
e
 

ra
c
k
s
 a

re
 i
n
 S

m
it
h
 S

q
u
a
re

. 
C

y
c
le

 

ra
c
k
s
 a

re
 a

ls
o
 a

v
a
ila

b
le

 a
t 
 

L
o
c
a
l 
G

o
ve

rn
m

e
n
t 
H

o
u
s
e
. 
 

P
le

a
s
e
 t
e
le

p
h
o
n
e
 t
h
e
 L

G
A

  

o
n
 0

2
0
 7

6
6
4
 3

1
3
1
. 

C
e

n
tr

a
l 
L

o
n

d
o

n
 C

o
n

g
e

s
ti
o

n
 

C
h

a
rg

in
g

 Z
o

n
e

  

L
o
c
a
l 
G

o
ve

rn
m

e
n
t 
H

o
u
s
e
 i
s
 

lo
c
a
te

d
 w

it
h
in

 t
h
e
 c

o
n
g

e
s
ti
o
n
 

c
h
a
rg

in
g

 z
o
n
e
. 

F
o
r 

fu
rt

h
e
r 

d
e
ta

ils
, 
p

le
a
s
e
 c

a
ll 

0
8
4
5
 9

0
0
 1

2
3
4
 o

r 
v
is

it
 t
h
e
 w

e
b

s
it
e
 

a
t 
w

w
w

.c
c

lo
n

d
o

n
.c

o
m

 

C
a

r 
p

a
rk

s
 

A
b

in
g

d
o
n
 S

tr
e
e
t 
C

a
r 

P
a
rk

 (
o
ff

G
re

a
t 
C

o
lle

g
e
 S

tr
e
e
t)

H
o
rs

e
fe

rr
y
 R

o
a
d

 C
a
r 

P
a
rk

  

H
o
rs

e
fe

rr
y
 R

o
a
d

/A
rn

e
w

a
y
  

S
tr

e
e
t.
 V

is
it
 t
h
e
 w

e
b

s
it
e
 a

t 
 

"
"

"
#"

+
,
$-

/2
,
$+

4#
&

'
(
#)

*
69

:
4*

/2
&

Strutton Ground
Horseferry 

Road

G
re

a
t 

C
o

lle
g

e
 S

t

B
ro

ad
 S

an
ct

u
ar

y

B
ro

a
d

w
a

y

Bro
adway

Lo
ca

l 

G
o

ve
rn

m
e

n
t 

H
o

u
se

Millban
k

rutton Ground
Horseferry 

Road

B
ro

ad
 S

an
ct

u
ar

y
u

ar
y

tto

G
re

a
t 

C
o

lle
g

e
 S

t
e

a
t 

C
g

e
 S

1
0

 m
in

u
te

 

w
a

lk
in

g
  

d
is

ta
n

c
e

5
 m

in
u

te
 

w
a

lk
in

g
  

d
is

ta
n

c
e

Page 252


	Agenda
	1 2014 Budget
	1a Appendix A: LGA On the Day Budget Briefing
	2 LGA's Proposals on the Future of Devolved Funding - Confidential
	2a Appendix A: Devolved matters: the end of the Barnett formula
	3 LGA Review of Council Financial Strategies
	3a Appendix A: Under pressure: how councils are planning for future cuts
	4 Municipal Bonds Agency
	Item 4 - MBA Executive Report

	4a Appendix A: Summary of Business Case Review
	4b Appendix B: Business Case
	5 Welfare Reform Update
	5a Appendix A
	5b Appendix B
	Item 5 - App B(2)
	Item 5 - App B(3)

	5c Appendix C
	6 Single Fraud Investigation Service
	App A
	App B

	7 Funding of the Flooding Relief Effort
	7a Appendix A: Summary of Flooding Relief Funding Announcements
	8 Business Rates Appeal Consultation
	8a Appendix A: LGA Response: Checking and Challenging your Rateable Value Consultation
	9 Note of the last meeting - Confidential
	

